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EDNOVATE-LEGACY COLLEGE PREP

Multi-Year Budget Detail

Prepared by ExED.  For use by ExED and ExED clients only. © 2019 ExED

0 1

2019-20 Trend 2020-21

Enrollment                     420                     460 

ADA                394.80                432.40 

ADA % 94% 94%

UPP 77% 75%

Income

8011-8098 · Local Control Funding Formula Sources

8011 Local Control Funding Formula 3,815,883         4,288,954         

8012 Education Protection Account 78,960              86,480              

8019 Local Control Funding Formula - Prior Year -                         

8096 In Lieu of Property Taxes 871,000            953,952            

8098 In Lieu of Property Taxes, Prior Year

Total 8011-8098 · Local Control Funding Formula Sources 4,765,843        5,329,386        

8100-8299 · Federal Revenue

8181 Special Education - Federal (IDEA) 36,615              49,350              

8220 Child Nutrition - Federal 75,032              82,177              

8291 Title I 104,030            104,030            

8292 Title II 13,052              13,052              

8294 Title III -                         -                         

8295 Title IV, SSAE 10,000              10,000              

8296 Title IV, PCSGP -                         -                         

8297 Facilities Incentive Grant -                         -                         

8299 All Other Federal Revenue -                         -                         

Total 8100-8299 · Other Federal Income 238,728            258,609            

8300-8599 · Other State Revenue

8520 Child Nutrition - State 5,338                5,846                

8550 Mandate Block Grant 13,681              18,992              

8560 Lottery Revenue 80,539              88,210              

8587 State Grant Pass-Through -                         -                         

8591 SB740 467,708            512,252            

8592 State Mental Health -                         -                         

8593 After School Education & Safety -                         -                         

8594 Supplemental Categorical Block Grant -                         -                         

8599 State Revenue - Other -                         -                         

Total 8300-8599 · Other State Income 567,266            625,300            

8600-8799 · Other Local Revenue

8631 Sale of Equipment & Supplies -                         -                         

8634 Food Service Sales 13,643              15,092              

8650 Leases & Rentals -                         -                         
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0 1

2019-20 Trend 2020-21

8660 Interest & Dividend Income -                         -                         

8662 Net Increase (Decrease) in Fair Value of Investments -                         -                         

8682 Childcare & Enrichment Program Fees -                         -                         

8689 All Other Fees & Contracts -                         -                         

8692 Grants 230,790            31,714              

8694 In Kind Donations -                         -                         

8695 Contributions & Events 500,000            -                         

8696 Other Fundraising 30,000              30,000              

8697 E-Rate 1,134                1,168                

8698 SELPA Grants -                         -                         

8699 All Other Local Revenue -                         -                         

8792 Transfers of Apportionments - Special Education 214,376            234,793            

Total 8600-8799 · Other Income-Local 989,944            312,767            

Prior Year Adjustments

8999 Other Prior Year Adjustment -                         

Total Prior Year Adjustments -                         -                         

TOTAL INCOME 6,561,780        6,526,062        

Expense

1000 · Certificated Salaries

1110 Teachers' Salaries 1,506,895         1,593,033         

1120 Teachers' Hourly -                         -                         

1170 Teachers' Salaries - Substitute -                         -                         

1175 Teachers' Salaries - Stipend/Extra Duty 38,412              39,180              

1211 Certificated Pupil Support - Librarians -                         -                         

1213 Certificated Pupil Support - Guidance & Counseling 64,260              65,545              

1215 Certificated Pupil Support - Psychologist -                         -                         

1299 Certificated Pupil Support - Other -                         -                         

1300 Certificated Supervisors' & Administrators' Salaries 317,878            320,701            

1900 Other Certificated Salaries -                         -                         

Total 1000 · Certificated Salaries 1,927,445        2,018,459        

2000 · Classified Salaries

2111 Instructional Aide & Other Salaries 132,948            135,607            

2121 After School Staff Salaries -                         -                         

2131 Classified Teacher Salaries -                         -                         

2200 Classified Support Salaries 152,096            155,138            

2300 Classified Supervisors' & Administrators' Salaries 89,760              91,555              

2400 Classified Office Staff Salaries 153,778            159,974            

2900 Other Classified Salaries 55,000              56,100              
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Total 2000 · Classified Salaries 583,582            598,374            

3000 · Employee Benefits

3111 STRS - State Teachers Retirement System -                         -                         

3212 PERS - Public Employee Retirement System -                         -                         

3213 PARS - Public Agency Retirement System

3311 OASDI - Social Security 155,684            162,244            

3331 MED - Medicare 36,410              37,944              

3401 H&W - Health & Welfare 224,794            254,777            

3501 SUI - State Unemployment Insurance 1,256                1,308                

3601 Workers' Compensation Insurance 19,719              21,371              

3751 OPEB, Active Employees

3901 Other Retirement Benefits 75,331              78,505              

3902 Other Benefits

Total 3000 · Employee Benefits 513,192            556,150            

4000 · Supplies

4111 Core Curricula Materials 29,141              30,618              

4211 Books & Other Reference Materials 15,500              17,052              

4311 Student Materials 76,300              71,311              

4351 Office Supplies 25,000              28,202              

4371 Custodial Supplies 10,000              11,281              

4390 Other Supplies 51,875              58,262              

4411 Non Capitalized Equipment 75,046              87,984              

4711 Nutrition Program Food & Supplies 108,076            118,960            

Total 4000 · Supplies 390,938            423,671            

5000 · Operating Services

5211 Travel & Conferences 21,900              23,799              

5311 Dues & Memberships 8,500                9,147                

5451 General Insurance 30,000              33,843              

5511 Utilities 70,000              72,100              

5521 Security Services -                         -                         

5531 Housekeeping Services 123,600            127,308            

5599 Other Facility Operations & Utilities 30,000              -                         

5611 School Rent - Private Facility 974,554            857,656            

5613 School Rent - Prop 39 -                         -                         

5619 Other Facility Rentals 43,000              45,075              

5621 Equipment Lease 25,000              28,202              

5631 Vendor Repairs 80,000              50,000              

5812 Field Trips & Pupil Transportation 47,000              36,099              
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5821 Legal 5,000                5,640                

5823 Audit -                         -                         

5831 Advertisement & Recruitment 15,000              15,450              

5841 Contracted Substitute Teachers 20,000              21,812              

5842 Special Education Services 145,000            112,810            

5843 Non Public School -                         20,000              

5844 After School Services -                         -                         

5849 Other Student Instructional Services -                         -                         

5851 Professional Development 10,000              10,482              

5852 Nursing & Medical (Non-IEP) -                         -                         

5859 All Other Consultants & Services 35,600              35,148              

5861 Non Instructional Software 31,470              34,884              

5865 Fundraising Cost 1,500                1,692                

5871 District Oversight Fees 47,658              53,294              

5872 Special Education Fees (SELPA) 15,613              17,100              

5881 Intra-Agency Fees 595,980            657,705            

5895 Bad Debt Expense -                         -                         

5899 All Other Expenses 12,500              9,283                

5911 Office Phone 5,400                6,092                

5913 Mobile Phone -                         -                         

5921 Internet 12,600              12,978              

5923 Website Hosting -                         -                         

5931 Postage & Shipping 2,500                2,575                

5999 Other Communications 1,000                1,030                

Total 5000 · Operating Services 2,410,375        2,301,203        

6000 · Capital Outlay

6901 Depreciation Expense 53,990              57,124              

6903 Amortization Expense

6999 Capital Outlay

Total 6000 · Capital Outlay 53,990              57,124              

7000 · Other Outgo

7438 Interest Expense 1,776                490                    

Total 7000 · Other Outgo 1,776                490                    

TOTAL EXPENSE 5,881,298        5,955,471        

NET INCOME 680,482         570,591         

Beginning Cash Balance 525,039            692,738            

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

39



EDNOVATE-LEGACY COLLEGE PREP

Multi-Year Budget Detail

Prepared by ExED.  For use by ExED and ExED clients only. © 2019 ExED

0 1

2019-20 Trend 2020-21

Net Income 680,482            570,591            

Change in Accounts Receivable

      Prior Year Accounts Receivable 685,294            622,928            

      Current Year Accounts Receivable (622,928)           (674,823)           

Change in Due from -                         

Change in Accounts Payable (89,125)             (4,803)               

Change in Due to (262,930)           (228,853)           

Change in Accrued Vacation -                         -                         

Change in Payroll Liabilities -                         -                         

Change in Prepaid Expenditures -                         -                         

Change in Deposits -                         -                         

Change in Deferred Revenue -                         -                         

Depreciation Expense 53,990              57,124              

Cash Flow from Investing Activities

Capital Expenditures (227,085)           (13,000)             

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Source - Sale of Receivables -                         -                         

Use - Sale of Receivables -                         -                         

Source - Loans -                         -                         

Use - Loans (50,000)             (155,000)           

Ending Cash Balance 692,738            866,901            

Month with Lowest Ending Cash Balance Dec: ($ 220,939) Dec: $289,658

5% Reserve Goal 294,065            297,774            

Net Income as a Percent of Expenses 11.6% 9.6%

Ending Cash as a Percent of Expenses 11.8% 14.6%
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Legacy College Prep: Material Revision 
 
Data to support why this material revision is necessary 
 
In the 2018-2019 school year, Legacy College Prep operated at the Church of the Nazarene, 
directly across from our permanent facility that is currently under construction.  Our plan was to 
stay there until construction was completed.  However, there are several factors that changed 
our plans: 

● Delayed construction:  Due to some political pressures within the Santa Ana City 
Council, we were forced to forego a small zone change on our parcel of land which 
thereby caused us to redesign the building.  This delayed our construction start and 
overall timeline.  

● Sale of the Nazarene Property: The Nazarene Property was recently sold to a small 
private school.  We attempted to negotiate with the city and the new ownership to remain 
on the campus and co-locate with the new school, but that was not allowable.   

○ After concluding we would not be able to stay on the property, we conducted an 
exhaustive search of all educational and religious facilities in Santa Ana, 
including other charter schools, youth centers, and faith-based organizations.  
The two results of this search that met the necessary city and safety 
requirements were Our Lady of the PIllar located at 1622 W. 6th Street and the 
Salvation Army, located at 1710 W. Edinger, both in Santa Ana.  Because neither 
site is large enough to accommodate the whole school, two grade levels will be 
at each location.  

 
In order to maximize our use of the permanent site, we have worked with the city and 
construction team to phase construction.  Phase I includes occupancy of one grade level 
(seniors) and is projected to be complete by the end of September.  This will allow the seniors to 
move into the new building during fall break.  The entire building is projected to be complete by 
January 2020 and the remaining three grade levels will join the seniors in the new building at 
that time.  In the interim, the two identified temporary sites will safely accommodate our space 
needs for all students. 
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Student Performance Data 
 
Students have shown tremendous growth during their time at Legacy College Prep. Growth is 
measured through quarterly interim assessments modeled after actual ACT exams, which were 
designed in collaboration with the Noble Network of Charter Schools. Additionally, and to better 
prepare students for the official ACT exam, all students take a released version of the actual exam at 
the beginning of the school year, which we refer to as the Pre-ACT. Our freshmen and sophomores 
then took another released version of the exam at the end of the year, known as the Pos-ACT. In lieu, 
of the Post-ACT exam, our first junior class took the official ACT in spring and received an average 
composite score of 19.6 - demonstrating tremendous growth of 6.4 points from the time they were 
freshmen. This has been the largest growth we have seen in any of Ednovate’s inaugural classes. 
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Our freshmen students also demonstrated significant growth during their first year at Legacy College 
Prep. Based on historical data, we expect to see an average composite score of 14 by the end of the 
school year. Our freshmen exceeded these expectations with an average score of 15.3 - 
demonstrating almost 4 full points of growth from the beginning of the school year. 
 
Scores in the subject areas were also remarkably strong, particularly in Science. Students 
demonstrated the largest growth in English - which was very intentional as our network focused on 
increasing lexile levels of text provided to students to better prepare them for the level of rigor they 
will encounter in college and beyond. 
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Our sophomores also grew an incredible amount. We expect to see an average composite score of 
16 on the Post-ACT for sophomores, but they exceeded this benchmark by demonstrating an average 
score of 17.2. We are especially proud of this score, as it shows a 2.5 point growth from the start of 
the school year. Their performance in the subject areas was also exceptional, again particularly in 
science.  Based on these results, this class is showing they are on track to show similar results on the 
official ACT as our inaugural juniors. 
 

 
 

 
 
When looking across our subgroups, we generally see parity across demographics. While we still see 
some point growth for our SpEd and English Language Learners, it is not as substantive as the 
growth of our general population of students. To this end, we continue to work on and build out our 
support for these groups to continue to try to close these gaps.  
 
In particular, we have seen that gaps exist around strong writing and literacy skills. In response, we 
are implementing the following immediate strategies:  

● Our Director of Academics works with our teachers to identify power standards that students 
should focus on, as well as supports for the teachers to be able to personalize the learning 
experience for every student. 
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● Additionally, he has implemented a Professional Development series focused on addressing 
these gaps with a particular focus on how to scaffold lessons to serve all learners well and 
build the skills needed for consistent, high quality writing. 

● We are also working on identifying the level of rigor needed for students to excel in math in 
particular, and have developed a shared resource center for teachers across the network to 
share best practices, curriculum, and differentiated assignments. 
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LEASE AGREEMENT 

This Lease Agreement ("Lease") is entered into as of May __, 2019, by and between The Roman 
Catholic Bishop of Orange, a corporation sole ("Lessor"), and Ednovate, Inc., a California 
nonprofit public benefit corporation ("Lessee").  

It is agreed between the parties hereto as follows:  

1.  DESCRIPTION OF PREMISES: Lessor leases to Lessee and Lessee leases from Lessor, 
on the terms and conditions hereafter set forth, five (5) classrooms and one (1) administrative 
office within the school facility commonly known as Our Lady of Pillar School, 1621 W. 6th 
Street, Santa Ana, California, (the “Leased Premises”), together with use of the outdoor 
courtyard area for lunch and recess (the “Shared Premises”).  For leased premises please refer to 
Exhibit A. The Leased Premises and the Shared Premises shall be collectively referred to herein 
as the “Premises”, as context requires.  

2.  CONDITION OF PREMISES:  Landlord warrants, as of the Commencement Date, that 
the Premises comply with applicable law; the electrical, plumbing, fire alarm, fire sprinklers, 
lighting, hearing, ventilation and air conditioning systems are in good operating condition; the 
structural elements of the roof, bearing walls and foundation of the Premises are free of material 
defects; and the Premises do not contain levels of mold or fungi in excess of reportable levels 
under applicable state and federal law.   

3. TERM: The term of the lease (“Term”) shall be July 1, 2019 (the “Commencement 
Date”) to September 30, 2019 (the “Expiration Date”), unless this Lease is terminated sooner as 
provided herein. 

4.  RENT: Lessee shall pay to Lessor $10,550 per month in rent calculated at $2.40 per 
rentable square foot (rsf) per month at 3,250 rsf, which shall be due and payable in advance on 
the first day of each calendar month during the Term.  This amount includes lessee’s share of the 
utilities. For any rent not paid when due, a late fee of One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) per day 
shall accrue for every day rent is late. Lessee shall be in immediate breach of this Lease if rent is 
delinquent after the 5th day of the month, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 20.       

 5. OPTION: Upon notice to Lessor in writing prior to the Expiration Date, Lessee shall 
have the option to renew this lease for an additional two (2) month term on the same terms and 
conditions.   

6. USE: The Premises will be used weekdays from 7:00 am to 3:15 pm for a school serving 
students in grade twelve.  The recreation area will be used for outdoor lunch service and 
assembly activities only.  Lessor shall have the right to limit the activities allowed in this area in 
order to avoid potential damage to adjacent buildings. To provide for the maximum use of the 
Premises and to ensure Lessor and Lessee have fair access to the Shared Premises to serve the 
needs of Lessor and Lessee, respectively, a schedule will be arranged to provide for harmonious 
and cooperative shared use of the courtyard area, kitchen and covered eating area.  
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7.     UTILITIES AND JANITORIAL: Utilites are included in the overall rent payment, as 
stated above.  Lessee is responsible for hiring and managing regular janitorial service of the 
Leased Premises.  Lessse will pay 70% of the janitorial fees, Lessor shall be responsible for 30% 
of the janitorial fees. Lessor shall be responsible for the costs of utilities, cleaning, janitorial, and 
maintenance services for shared spaces and other areas outside of the Leased Premises.  
 
8.  INTERRUPTION OF UTILITY SERVICES: No failure on the part of Lessor, its agents 
or contractors to provide, or any stoppage of, the utility services referred to in Section 7 (a 
“Utility Outage”) resulting from any cause whatsoever shall make Lessor liable in any respect to 
any person, property or business, or be construed as an eviction of Lessee, or entitle Lessee to 
any reduction of rent or other relief (including Lease termination) from Lessee's obligations 
under this Lease, provided Lessor takes action within three (3) days to address such Utility 
Outage and Lessor shall make its best effort to restore any interruption of utility services it is 
required to provide.  Lessee shall not be responsible for the cost of any repair necessary for such 
restoration unless the interruption was clearly the result of Lessee's activities on the Premises. 
Lessor shall not be liable for any loss of data or damage resulting from a Utility Outage or other 
similar events beyond its control. 

9. CARE AND MAINTENANCE OF PREMISES: 

 (a)  Lessee shall keep and maintain the Leased Premises in good order and as safe and 
clean of condition as they were when received from Lessor, reasonable wear and tear and 
improvements approved by Lessor excepted. Lessee shall promptly replace any portion of the 
Leased Premises or system or equipment in the Leased Premises damaged by Lessee, which 
cannot be fully repaired, regardless of whether the benefit of such replacement extends beyond 
the term of this agreement. 

 (b)  Lessee shall be responsible for any and all necessary repairs and maintenance of 
the Premises arising from or caused by the negligence of its own students and staff.  Lessor shall 
be responsible for all other routine repairs and maintenance of Premises. Lessee shall have no 
obligation to make capital repairs or improvements to the Premises, except to the extent required 
to repair damage caused by Lessee.  

 (c)  Lessor shall not be liable for any damage or injury to the person, business (or any 
loss in income therefrom), goods, wares, merchandise, or other property of Lessee's employees, 
invitees, or any other person in or about the Premises, whether such damage or injuries was 
caused by or results from: (i) fire, steam, electricity, water, gas, or rain; (ii) the breakage, 
leakage, obstruction or other cause; (iii) conditions arising in or about the Premises or upon other 
portions of any building of which the Premises are a part, or from other sources or places; or (iv) 
any act or omission of any other Lessee of any building of which the Premises are a part.  

 (d)  Upon termination of the Lease, Lessee shall surrender the Leased Premises to 
Lessor in the same condition as received, except for ordinary wear and tear and improvements 
Lessee was not otherwise obligated to remedy under any provisions of this Agreement.  

 (e)  Lessee shall not make any alterations, additions, or improvements to the Premises 
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except as provided in Section 11 unless approved by Lessor, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld.  

 (f)  Lessee shall not place or permit to be placed in the Leased Premises any 
permanent signs, notice, drapes, shutters, blinds, or display of any kind, without the prior written 
consent of Lessor.  Lessee may place a sign or signs on the 6th Street frontage identifying the 
school, subject to design and location approval of Lessor, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld.  

 (g)  Lessee may install its own phone system and may use the phone lines currently 
installed in the Leased Premises at its own option.  

 (h) Lessee shall be permitted to cover or screen from view any religious symbols, art 
or iconography in leased premises which may be visible in areas where educational services will 
be provided.  Lessor reserves the right to remove any religious symbols, art or iconography prior 
to the commencement of Lessee’s use.   

10.  ORDINANCES AND STATUTES: Lessee shall comply with all statutes, codes and 
ordinances as well as all requirements of all municipal, state and federal authorities now in force, 
or which may hereafter be in force, pertaining to its operation and use of the Premises. It is 
understood by the Parties that any alterations or permits required to comply with the foregoing 
sentence, including but not limited to any applicable City Use Permit(s), Certificate of 
Occupancy Permit(s), and applicable Municipal Building Code Permit(s) are the responsibility of 
Lessee to obtain, subject to the approval of Lessor, which approval shall not be unreasonably 
withheld.  

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, Lessee shall have the 
right to terminate this Lease with ten days notification at any time without liability therefore if 
any of the following events occurs (a) the Lessee’s charter does not allow Lessee to use the 
Premises, (b) the charter is lost or terminated, (c) legislation is enacted which prevents or has a 
material adverse effect on the Lessee’s use hereunder, (d) Lessee is not permitted to use the 
Premises in accordance with state law or local ordinances related to use or occupancy of 
buildings for school purposes, or (e) the presence or discovery of a hazardous condition, lead, 
mold, fungi or asbestos renders the Premises unfit for use as a public school, and Lessor refuses 
to take appropriate measures to make the Premises fit for use as a public school.  In the event of 
a termination based upon the preceding sentence, Lessor shall return the security deposit to 
Lessee in accordance with Section 22. 

11. ALTERATIONS.  Lessee shall have no obligation to make any modifications, alterations 
or improvements to any building systems or portions of the Premises in the event the City of 
Santa Ana requires alterations to the Premises on account of Lessee’s proposed use, or in 
response to the discovery of any hazardous condition, lead, mold, fungi or asbestos.  Should 
Lessee elect to make alterations to the Premises to accommodate its use of the Premises as a 
public school, the Parties shall meet and confer concerning the timely completion of such 
alterations and equitable cost sharing.  If the Lessor and the Lessee agree to any such alterations, 
the contractor selected by Lessee to perform the work shall first be approved of, in writing, by 
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Lessor.  Any such alterations, including, but not limited to, wall covering, paneling and built-in 
cabinet work, but excepting movable furniture and trade fixtures, shall become a part of the 
Premises, shall belong to Lessor and shall be surrendered with the Premises at expiration or 
termination of the Lease. 

12. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING.  Lessee acknowledges and agrees it has entered 
into this Lease to acquire the Premises for its own personal use and has not entered into this 
Lease for the purpose of obtaining the right to assign or sublet the Premises to any third party.  
Other than as expressly permitted hereunder, Lessee shall not authorize, permit or suffer an 
assignment or sublease of the Premises or any interest therein, or any part thereof, or any right or 
privilege appurtenant thereto without the prior written consent of Lessor.  Any assignment or 
sublease of the Premises without such consent shall be void, and shall, at the option of Lessor, 
terminate this Lease, subject to compliance with Section 26 (Dispute Resolution).  The consent 
of Lessor to an assignment or sublease shall not be unreasonably withheld, provided should 
Lessor withhold its consent for any of the following reasons, which list is not exclusive, such 
withholding shall be deemed to be reasonable: (i) the financial adequacy of the proposed 
transferee to meet the obligations of Lessee under this Lease; (ii) a proposed use of transferee 
would cause a diminution in the reputation of the church; (iii) any portion of the Premises would 
likely become subject to additional or different laws or regulations as a consequence of the 
proposed assignment or sublease or (iv) the proposed transferee would materially increase the 
load on the common facilities or its use would materially interfere with the use of common 
facilities by other occupants of the Premises.  Lessee agrees that Lessor may impose reasonable 
conditions upon a proposed assignment or sublease.   

13.  ENTRY AND INSPECTION: Lessor shall retain, and Lessee shall provide Lessor with, 
duplicate keys and combination lock codes to all doors of the Leased Premises. Lessor and its 
members, directors, trustees, officers, agents, employees, contractors and successors and assigns 
shall have the right to enter the Leased Premises upon reasonable prior notice (of not less than 48 
hours) to inspect the Premises during the Term or any renewal period, to confirm Lessee is 
complying with all of its covenants and obligations under this Lease, to make repairs or carry out 
any and all maintenance in and about the Leased Premises, to make repairs or alterations to areas 
adjacent to the Leased Premises, and to repair and service utility lines. Except in the case of 
emergency, no persons shall be allowed to access the Leased Premises without being supervised 
by Lessee during such access.  

14. INDEMNIFICATION OF LESSOR: 

 (a)  To the fullest extent permitted by law, Lessee shall, and hereby agrees to, protect, 
defend, indemnify and hold harmless Lessor and its affiliated entities, including The Roman 
Catholic Bishop of Orange, a California corporation sole ("Corporation Sole"), and their 
respective, members, directors, trustees, officers, agents, employees, contractors and successors 
and assigns (individually, "Lessor’s Indemnitee") from and against all claim, loss, cost, liability, 
damage or expense (individually, a "Claim Against Lessor") of any kind and nature whatsoever 
(including any loss of or damage to any property and any injury to or death of any person) 
arising from: (i) any use of the Premises or activities in and about the Premises by Lessee, its 
agents, employees, representatives, contractors, guests, visitors or invitees; (ii) any default by 
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Lessee under this Lease; (iii) any failure on Lessee's part to timely execute and deliver any 
document or certificate required under this Lease; (iv) Lessee's failure to timely vacate the 
Leased Premises upon the Expiration Date or any earlier termination of this Lease; and/or (v) 
any environmental damages arising from hazardous materials in or about the Premises due to any 
act or omission of Lessee or its agents, employees, representatives, contractors, guests, visitors or 
invitees, or (vi) any violation of environmental regulations due to Lessee's use of the Premises.  
The foregoing indemnity shall exclude any Claim Against Lessor which is attributed to the 
negligence, willful act or negligent omission of any of Lessor’s Indemnitees. 

 (b)  If any action or proceeding is commenced against Lessor or Corporation Sole or 
their respective members, directors, trustees, officers, agents, employees, contractors or 
successors or assigns by reason of any Claim Against Lessor, Lessee, upon notice from Lessor, 
shall defend the same at Lessee's expense by counsel reasonably satisfactory to Lessor. Lessee's 
indemnity shall include reasonable attorneys' fees, investigation costs, and all other reasonable 
costs and expenses incurred by each Lessor’s Indemnitee in connection with the investigation or 
defense of any matter. If any action or proceeding is commenced by or against Lessee or relating 
to this Lease or to the Premises to which any Lessor’s Indemnitee is made a party, Lessee shall 
pay all costs and expenses, including attorneys' fees and court costs, incurred by or imposed 
upon each Indemnitee.  

 (c)  The provisions of this Section 14 shall survive the termination of this Lease with 
respect to any Claim Against Lessor based on circumstances occurring before such termination.  

15. INDEMNIFICATION OF LESSEE: 

 (a)  To the fullest extent permitted by law, Lessor shall, and hereby agrees to, protect, 
defend, indemnify and hold harmless Lessee and its directors, trustees, officers, shareholders, 
agents, employees, contractors and successors and assigns (individually, "Lessee’s Indemnitee") 
from and against all claim, loss, cost, liability, damage or expense (individually, a "Claim 
Against Lessee") of any kind and nature whatsoever (including any loss of or damage to any 
property and any injury to or death of any person) arising from: (i) any use or condition of the 
Premises or activities in and about the Premises by Lessor, its agents, employees, 
representatives, contractors, guests, visitors or invitees; (ii) any environmental damages arising 
from hazardous materials in or about the Premises due to any act or omission of Lessor or its 
agents, employees, representatives, contractors, guests, visitors or invitees, or (iii) any violation 
of environmental regulations due to Lessor's use of the Premises. The foregoing indemnity shall 
exclude any Claim Against Lessee which is attributed to the negligence, willful act or negligent 
omission of any of Lessee’s Indemnitees. 

 (b)  If any action or proceeding is commenced against Lessee or its directors, trustees, 
officers, shareholders, agents, employees, contractors or successors or assigns by reason of any 
Claim Against Lessee, Lessor, upon notice from Lessee, shall defend the same at Lessor’s 
expense by counsel reasonably satisfactory to Lessee. Lessor's indemnity shall include 
reasonable attorneys' fees, investigation costs, and all other reasonable costs and expenses 
incurred by each Lessee’s Indemnitee in connection with the investigation or defense of any 
matter. If any action or proceeding is commenced by or against Lessor or relating to this Lease or 
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to the Premises to which any Lessee’s Indemnitee is made a party, Lessor shall pay all costs and 
expenses, including attorneys' fees and court costs, incurred by or imposed upon each 
Indemnitee.  

 (c)  The provisions of this Section 15 shall survive the termination of this Lease with 
respect to any Claim Against Lessee based on circumstances occurring before such termination.  

16.  LESSEE ACKNOWLEDGMENT: Lessee hereby acknowledges it is on notice the 
Premises was not built to meet many current building standards, with particular reference to 
seismic resistance standards and Americans with Disabilities Access standards.  

17. INSURANCE: 

 (a)  Lessee shall maintain, at its own cost, the following insurance at all times during 
the Term of this Lease: (i) commercial general liability and automobile liability insurance 
covering bodily injury, death, property damage, sexual misconduct liability and contractual 
liability with a combined single limit of no less than Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) per 
occurrence, which shall be primary and non-contributing with any insurance in effect for Lessor 
or Corporation Sole; (ii) Worker's Compensation as required under the California Labor Code 
and Employer's Liability insurance in amounts not less than $1,000,000 each accident, 
$1,000,000 disease each employee and $1,000,000 disease policy limit; (iii) Builder's Risk 
insurance with a deductible of no greater than $10,000 on an "All Risk" basis (including 
collapse) on a completed value (non-reporting) form for full replacement value covering all 
work, materials and equipment in or about the Premises in the event Lessee performs any repairs 
or any alterations in or about the Premises; (iv) Lessee's "Special Form Coverage" Property 
Insurance for the full replacement cost value of the Premises buildings and equipment, including 
Code Upgrade coverage and Business Interruption coverage; (v) Property policies shall contain a 
waiver of Subrogation; and (vi) any other form or forms of insurance or any changes or 
endorsements to the insurance required herein as Lessor may reasonably require, from time to 
time.  

 (b)  Lessee shall have the right to include the insurance required under Section 17(a) 
under Lessee's policies of "blanket insurance", provided (i) no other loss which may also be 
insured by such blanket insurance shall affect the insurance coverage required under Section 
17(a) and (ii) Lessee delivers to Lessor a certificate specifically stating that Lessor and 
Corporation Sole are named as additional insureds on the General Liability and Automobile 
Liability insurance and as loss payees on the property insurance by endorsement.  

 (c)  All insurance required under Section 17(a) shall: (i) be issued by a responsible 
insurance company or companies authorized to do business in California with an AM Best rating 
A-VII or better (insurance issued by a Joint Powers Authority shall satisfy this requirement) 
subject to review and approval of Lessor; (ii) be in a form reasonably satisfactory to Lessor; (iii) 
designate Lessor and Corporation Sole as additional insureds by endorsement on the General 
Liability and Auto Liability policies and as loss payees on the property insurance policies by 
endorsement; and (iv) contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement on the Workers’ 
Compensation Policy in form and amount as required by the California Labor Code; and (v) 
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contain an agreement by the insurers the policies will not be invalidated as they affect the 
interests of Lessor and Corporation Sole by reason of any breach of such policies, and the 
insurers or Lessee shall notify Lessor and Corporation Sole in writing not less than thirty (30) 
days before any material change, reduction in coverage, cancellation, including cancellation for 
nonpayment of premium, or any other termination or change. Prior to the use of the Premises, 
Lessee shall deliver copies of the required policies, certificates of insurance and endorsements to 
Lessor.    

18.  TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS: The Parties agree that the property is exempt from the 
payment of real property taxes.  The Parties agree to cooperate and take any and all steps 
necessary to maintain and obtain for the Premises the welfare and public school exemptions 
provided in Sections 214 and 202 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code, respectively. In 
the event that such exempt status is lost, Lessee agrees to pay the amount of the tax proportional 
to its use of the Premises that is assessed Lessor as a result of the loss of property tax exemption 
due to this Lease.   

19.  DESTRUCTION OF PREMISES: In the event of a partial destruction of the Premises  
during the Term hereof, from any cause whatsoever, Lessor shall forthwith repair the same, 
provided such repairs can be made within sixty (60) days under existing governmental laws and 
regulations, but such partial destruction shall not terminate this Lease, except Lessee shall be 
entitled to a proportionate reduction of rent while such repairs are being made, based upon the 
extent to which the making of such repairs shall interfere with Lessee's use of the Premises as 
determined by Lessor. If such repairs cannot be made within said sixty (60) days, this Lease may 
be terminated at the option of either party. In the event the building in which the Premises may 
be situated is destroyed to an extent of not less than one-third (1/3) of the replacement costs 
thereof, Lessor may elect to terminate this Lease whether the Premises be injured or not. A total 
destruction of the building in which the Premises may be situated shall automatically terminate 
this Lease.  

20. LESSEE’S DEFAULT:  

 (a)  In addition to any events specified as a default elsewhere in this Lease, the 
following shall constitute a default under this Lease: (i) Lessee's failure to pay rent when due; (ii) 
Lessee's failure to perform any other covenants or conditions under this Lease, and (iii) Lessee's 
abandonment or vacation of the Leased Premises. However, Lessor shall not commence any 
action to terminate Lessee's right of possession as a consequence of a default until any period of 
grace with respect thereto has elapsed, as set forth in Section 20(b) below; provided, any such 
grace period shall be in lieu of and not in addition to the period during which Lessee may cure 
such default following the delivery of notice pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure 
Section 1161 (or any successor or similar statute).  

 (b)  Subject to the limitation expressed in Section 20(a), Lessee shall have a period of 
three (3) business days from the date of written notice from Lessor within which to cure any 
default in the payment of any monetary obligations of Lessee under this Lease. Lessee shall have 
a period of thirty (30) days from the date of written notice from Lessor within which to cure any 
other default under this Lease which is capable of being cured; provided, however, with respect 
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to any default which cannot reasonably be cured within thirty (30) days, Lessee shall not be in 
default if Lessee commences to cure within the five (5) days following Lessor's notice and 
thereafter diligently prosecutes the same to completion.  

 (c)  There shall be no period of grace with respect to any default by Lessee which is 
not capable of being cured. Lessor and Lessee stipulate the following defaults are not capable of 
being cured by Lessee: (i) any default which is specified in this Lease as being incurable; (ii) any 
unauthorized sale, assignment, mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, encumbrance without waiving 
Lessor's rights based upon such default by Lessee and without releasing Lessee from any of its 
obligations.  

 (d)  All sums so paid and all costs incurred by Lessor, together with the interest 
thereon from the date of such payment or the incurrence of such cost by Lessor, whichever 
occurs first, shall be paid to Lessor on demand as rent.  

 (e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Lease, Lessor shall comply with 
the Dispute Resolution procedure set forth in Section 26 prior to filing any action to evict Lessee. 

21. ATTORNEY'S FEES: Subject to Section 26, if any action is brought for recovery of the 
Leased Premises, or for any sum due hereunder, or because of any act which may arise out of the 
possession of the Premises, by either party, the prevailing party shall be entitled to all costs 
incurred in connection with such action, including attorney's fees and costs.  

22. SECURITY DEPOSIT: Lessee shall deposit with Lessor on the signing of this Lease the 
sum of Twenty-Thousand Dollars ($20,000.00) as security for the performance of Lessee's 
obligations under this Lease, including without limitation the surrender of possession of the 
Leased Premises to Lessor as provided under this Lease. If Lessor uses any part of the deposit to 
cure any default of Lessee, Lessee shall on demand deposit with Lessor the amount so applied so 
the Lessor shall have full deposit on hand at all times during the Term of this Lease. Lessor shall 
return the security deposit to Lessee no less than thirty (30) days following the termination of 
this Lease.  Any amounts withheld from the security deposit shall be specified in a written 
invoice setting forth the specific items for which deduction is made.    

23.  NOTICES: Any notice which either party may, or is required to give, shall be given by 
mailing the same, postage prepaid, to the address specified below.  

To Lessor:  Chief Financial Officer, Diocese of Orange 
13280 Chapman Ave., Garden Grove, CA 92840 

To Lessee:  Chief Operating Officer, Ednovate 
350 S. Figueroa St., Ste. 250, Los Angeles, CA 90071 

24.  GOVERNING LAW: This Lease shall be governed and construed under the laws of the 
State of California.  

25.  DUTY TO SURRENDER/HOLDOVER: Upon the termination of this Lease, Lessee, at 
its sole cost and expense, shall peacefully vacate and surrender the Leased Premises to Lessor in 
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good working order, condition and repair, broom clean and in the same condition as upon the 
Commencement Date, or as the Leased Premises may thereafter have been altered by Lessor or 
Lessee (with Lessor's consent), normal wear and tear excepted. If Lessee continues in possession 
of the Leased Premises after the termination of this Lease, such holding over, unless otherwise 
agreed to by Lessor in writing, shall constitute and be construed as a tenancy at sufferance. The 
rent for the period of holding over shall be 125% of the rent for the month immediately prior to 
the termination of this Lease.  

26. DISPUTE RESOLUTION: 

 (a)  Lessor and Lessee agree to first promptly negotiate in good faith to resolve any 
dispute or claim in equity or law arising out of the Lease or any option granted to Lessee herein 
or pursuant to any related documents or transactions (each, a "Dispute"). Any cause giving rise to 
an action to evict Lessee shall be deemed a Dispute for purposes of the preceding sentence. 

 (b)  Lessor and Lessee agree in the event any Dispute is not resolved within sixty (60) 
days after commencement of such good faith negotiation, Lessor and Lessee shall mediate such 
Dispute. Mediation fees, if any, shall be divided equally among the parties involved.  

(c)  For any Dispute to which this Article 26 applies, any Party who commences an 
action without first attempting to resolve the matter through mediation, or refuses to mediate 
after a request has been made, that party shall not be entitled to recover attorneys' fees, even if 
they would otherwise be available to that party in any such action. The provisions of this Article 
26 shall survive the termination of this Lease with respect to any Dispute based on circumstances 
occurring before such termination.  

27.  AUTHORITY: The individuals executing this Lease represent and warrant that each has 
the requisite authority to bind its respective party and no further corporate action is necessary to 
provide such authority, or if needed each Party represents and warrants that such action will be 
taken prior to the Commencement Date.  

28.  WAIVER: No fault of either Party to enforce any term of this Lease shall be deemed to 
be a waiver by such Party.  

Lessor:     
The Roman Catholic Bishop of Orange, a 
corporation sole     
 

APPROVED:  
 

 By ____________________________  
          Elizabeth Jensen  
          Chief Financial Officer 
Dated: __________________________ 

Lessee:  
Ednovate, Inc., a California non-profit public 
benefit corporation 
 

APPROVED:  
 

 By ____________________________  
          Katie Hart  
          Chief Operating Officer 
Dated: __________________________ 5/20/19
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APPROVED:  

 
 By _______________________________  

Deacon Michael Stock 
Episcopal Director of Operations &

 General Counsel 
 
Dated: __________________________ 
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EXHIBIT A 
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FACILITIES 
Ednovate’s goal is for each of its high schools to be in a permanent facility by the time the school is at full 
capacity. Legacy College Prep will occupy a temporary facility at Our Lady of Pilar at 1622 W. 6th St., 
Santa Ana CA 92705.  This will be for two grade levels. 
 
Although this is a temporary facility, it does provide ample space for Legacy’s instructional program, 
including classrooms, spaces for meetings and gatherings, and outdoor space.   
 

Non-District-Owned Facilities 

Facility Status: The charter petitioner must demonstrate control of a facility such as a commitment from 
the landlord, to ensure that the property is actually available to the charter developer, and that the facility is 
usable with or without conditions (such as a conditional code permit.) The charter school facility shall comply 
with all applicable building codes, standards and regulations adopted by the city and/or county agencies 
responsible for building and safety standards for the city in which the charter school is to be located, and 
the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).  Applicable codes and ADA requirements shall also apply to the 
construction, reconstruction, alteration of or addition to the proposed charter school facility.  Charter School 
shall implement any corrective actions, orders to comply, or notices issued by the authorized building and 
safety agency. Charter School cannot exempt itself from applicable building and zoning codes, ordinances, 
and ADA requirements.  Charter schools are required to adhere to the program accessibility requirements 
of Federal law (Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 504). 
 
Occupancy of the Site:  The charter petitioner or developer shall provide the County with a final Certificate 
of Occupancy issued by the applicable permitting agency, allowing the petitioner to use and occupy the 
site.  Charter School may not open without providing a copy of the Certificate of Occupancy for the 
designated use of the facility. If Charter School moves or expands to another facility during the term of this 
charter, Charter School shall provide a Certificate of Occupancy to the County for each facility before the 
school is scheduled to open or operate in the facility or facilities. Notwithstanding any language to the 
contrary in this charter, the interpretation, application, and enforcement of this provision are not subject to 
the Dispute Resolution Process outlined in Element 14. 
 
Pest Management: Charter School shall comply with the Healthy Schools Act, California Education Code 
Section 17608, which details pest management requirements for schools.   Developers may find additional 
information at: www.laschools.org/employee/mo/ipm. 
  
Asbestos Management: Charter School shall comply with the asbestos requirement as cited in the 
Asbestos Hazard Emergency Response Act (AHERA), 40CFR part 763.  AHERA requires that any building 
leased or acquired that is to be used as a school or administrative building shall maintain an asbestos 
management plan.  
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LEASE 

THIS LEASE (this “Lease”) is made as of  June 19  , 2019__, by and between  
    , a    [corporation, etc.] (“Landlord”), and  
 Legacy College Prep    , a  school   [corporation, etc.] 
(“Tenant”). 

SECTION 1: BASIC TERMS AND DEFINITIONS 

The following capitalized terms shall be defined as provided in this Section 1: 

Project: Legacy College Prep would like to rent the two story classroom building and/or 
be able to drop portables on the empty space at the site.     
           
        

Building: The building at 1710 W. Edinger Santa Ana CA 92705    
      [address], commonly known as   
      [name] and located on the real estate legally 
described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Land”). 

Premises:  The portion of the Building designated as Suite _____ as may be depicted on 
Exhibit B attached hereto, and any of Tenant’s rights in the Land. 

Rentable Area of Premises:   Approximately  10,000   rentable square feet. 

Rentable Area of Building:   Approximately     rentable square feet. 

Scheduled Commencement Date:     July 1  , 20_19__. 

Lease Term:  Commencing on the Commencement Date and ending on the last day of that 
calendar month which is ____seven________ (__7_) months after the 
Commencement Date. 

Base Rent:  The monthly amount of Base Rent and the portion of the Lease Term during 
which such monthly amount of Base Rent is payable shall be determined from 
the following table: 

Applicable Portion of Lease Term Rate 
Per/Rentable 

Sq. Ft./ 
Annum 

Annual Base 
Rent 

Monthly Base 
Rent 

Installment 
(Annual ÷12) 

Beginning first  
day of Ending last day of 

July 1, 2019 January 31, 2020 $2.40 $288,000 $24,000 
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Operating Costs Base Amount (allowance not chargeable to Tenant):      
   Dollars ($_______) per square foot or the actual Operating Costs for the calendar 
year 20___.  

Operating Costs Reimbursements Estimate:        Dollars 
($_______) per month. 

Prepaid Rent: $___________, to be applied toward Base Rent and the Operating Costs 
Reimbursements Estimate for the first full calendar month of the Lease Term or to the first month 
in which such amounts are due. 

Security Deposit:       Dollars ($__________)(Refer to Rider 2, if 
applicable.) 

Letter of Credit: Applicable:    Yes   No ______ (Refer to Rider 2, if applicable.) 

Guaranty: Applicable:   Yes   No ______ (Refer to Rider 2, if applicable.) 

Parking:  ______ non-reserved parking stalls per 1,000 rentable square feet of the Premises for a 
total of approximately _______ (_) parking stalls or as set forth in Rider 3. 

Manager:       , or its replacement as specified by written notice 
from Landlord to Tenant. 

Tenant Improvement Allowance:           up to 
________ ($___) per rentable square foot. 

SECTION 2: PREMISES AND TERM 

2.1. Lease of Premises.  Landlord leases the Premises to Tenant, and Tenant leases the 
Premises from Landlord, on the terms and conditions set forth in this Lease. 

2.2. Lease Term.  The Lease Term shall be for the period stated in the definition of that 
term, unless earlier terminated as provided in this Lease. 

2.3. Commencement Date.  The Commencement Date shall be the earlier to occur of 
(a) the Scheduled Commencement Date or (b) the date on which Tenant takes possession of all or 
part of the Premises.  The precise Commencement Date shall be confirmed by a Commencement 
Date Memorandum in the form of Exhibit E, which Tenant agrees to sign when prepared by 
Landlord in accordance with this paragraph. 

2.4. Rentable Areas.  The Rentable Areas of the Premises and the Building as specified 
in Section 1 are final, conclusive and controlling for all purposes.  A portion of the Building 
common areas is included in the Rentable Area of the Premises. 

2.5. Initial Physical Condition of Premises.  Unless paragraph 2.6 (“Tenant 
Improvements”) applies, the Tenant (a) accepts the Premises, the Building and the Project in its 

Commented [A1]: Not applicable 
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current AS IS condition, and (b) acknowledges that Tenant is not relying on any representations 
or warranties by any person regarding the Premises or the Building. 

2.6. Tenant Improvements.  [__] [CHECK IF APPLICABLE] 

2.6.1 If a work letter has been attached hereto as a Rider (“Work Letter”), 
Landlord shall perform the construction and make the installations in accordance with the Work 
Letter.  The improvements and installations specified in the Work Letter are the “Tenant 
Improvements”.  The maximum amount Landlord shall be obligated to pay for the Tenant 
Improvements (including architectural, engineering, permitting, space planning and other design 
fees and costs, and the construction management fee) is equal to the Tenant Improvement 
Allowance. 

2.6.2 If the cost of the Tenant Improvements exceeds the Tenant Improvement 
Allowance, Tenant shall pay to Landlord such excess within fifteen (15) days after demand or as 
set forth in the Work Letter. 

2.6.3 All Tenant Improvements, regardless of which party constructed or paid for 
them, shall become the property of Landlord and shall remain upon and be surrendered with the 
Premises on the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease; provided that, at Landlord’s election 
and upon notice to Tenant, Tenant shall be required to remove all or any portion of the Tenant 
Improvements as may be specified by Landlord (including Telecommunication Facilities defined 
in paragraph 4.1 (“Utilities and Services”)) on the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. 

2.7. Use and Conduct of Business. 

2.7.1 The Premises are to be used only for  general business office uses 
[SHOULD BE TAILORED FOR EACH LEASEschool use for a Charter High School with 200 
students. ] (the “Permitted Uses”).  Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense, obtain and maintain 
any and all licenses, permits, and approvals necessary or appropriate for its use, occupation and 
operation of the Premises for the Permitted Uses. 

2.7.2 No act shall be done in or about the Premises that is unlawful or that will 
increase the existing rate of insurance on the Land or Building.  Tenant shall not commit or allow 
to be committed or exist:  (a) any waste upon the Premises, (b) any public or private nuisance, or 
(C) any act or condition which disturbs the quiet enjoyment of any other tenant in the Building, 
violates any of Landlord’s contracts affecting any or all of the Land or Building, creates or 
contributes to any work stoppage, strike, picketing, labor disruption or dispute, or interferes in any 
way with the business of Landlord or any other tenant in the Building. 

2.7.3 If Tenant’s use of the Premises requires modifications in order to comply 
with Governmental Requirements as defined under this Lease, including without limitation 
disability-accessibility laws, Tenant may only effect such work through the procedures established 
under this Lease. Tenant shall bear all expenses related to such modifications to the Premises.  
Tenant represents and warrants that it has reviewed the applicable Government Requirements and 
has found that Tenant's intended use is permitted within the current configuration of the Premises, 
Common Areas, and Building, without alteration.  Tenant furthermore represents and warrants that 
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it is satisfied that the Premises, Common Areas, and Building are suitable for Tenant’s intended 
use. 

2.8. Compliance with Governmental Requirements and Rules and Regulations.  
Tenant shall comply with all Governmental Requirements relating to its use, occupancy and 
operation of the Premises and shall observe such reasonable rules and regulations as may be 
adopted and published by Landlord from time to time.  Current Rules and Regulations are attached 
to this Lease as Exhibit C.  The term “Governmental Requirements” means any and all statutes, 
ordinances, codes, laws, rules, regulations, orders and directives of any Governmental Agency 
(defined below) as now or later amended, promulgated or issued and all current or future final 
orders, judgments or decrees of any court with jurisdiction interpreting or enforcing any of the 
foregoing.  The term  “Governmental Agency” means the United States of America, the state in 
which the Land is located, any county, city, district, municipality or other governmental 
subdivision, court or agency or quasigovernmental agency with jurisdiction and any board, agency 
or authority associated with any such governmental entity. 

2.9. Holdover.  Tenant is not authorized to hold over beyond the expiration or earlier 
termination of the Lease Term.  If Landlord consents to a holdover and no other agreement is 
reached between Tenant and Landlord concerning the duration and terms thereof, Tenant’s 
holdover shall be a month-to-month tenancy during which Tenant shall pay to one hundred fifty 
percent (150%) of the Base Rent prevailing immediately prior to the expiration or termination of 
the Lease Term plus all Operating Costs Reimbursements and other sums payable under this Lease, 
and shall be bound by all of the other covenants and conditions set forth herein as are applicable.  
The increase in Base Rent under the preceding sentence is an agreed increase in Base Rent, is not 
liquidated damages and shall not limit the right of Landlord to recover direct and consequential 
damages for the Tenant’s breach hereunder or to exercise other rights and remedies provided under 
applicable law for Tenant’s wrongful refusal to surrender possession. 

SECTION 3: BASE RENT, OPERATING COSTS REIMBURSEMENTS  
AND OTHER SUMS PAYABLE UNDER LEASE 

3.1. Payment of Rental.  Tenant agrees to pay Base Rent, Operating Costs 
Reimbursements (defined in Rider 1) and any other sum payable under this Lease to Landlord 
when due without demand, deduction, credit, adjustment or offset, except as set forth herein.  All 
such payments shall be in lawful money of the United States and shall be paid to Landlord or to 
Manager or to such other place as Landlord may from time to time designate in writing. 

3.2. Base Rent.  On execution of this Lease, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the amount 
specified in the definition of Prepaid Rent for the month specified in the definition of that term.  
Monthly installments of Base Rent shall be paid, without demand and in advance, on or before the 
first day of each calendar month during the Lease Term.  The monthly Base Rent installment for 
any partial month at the beginning or end of the Lease Term shall be prorated based on the number 
of days of such month falling within the Lease Term.  Base Rent for any partial month at the 
beginning of the Lease Term shall be paid by Tenant on the Commencement Date. 

3.3. Credit Enhancement.  If a Security Deposit, Letter of Credit and/or Guaranty is 
specified in Section 1, the Lease provisions applicable thereto are set forth in Rider 2 to this Lease. 
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3.4. Operating Costs Reimbursements.  Tenant’s obligation to pay Operating Costs 
Reimbursements are set forth in Rider 1. 

3.5. Late Charge.  If Tenant fails to make any payment of Base Rent, or any other 
monetary amount when due under this Lease, a late charge is immediately due and payable by 
Tenant equal to five percent (5%) of the amount of any such payment.  Landlord and Tenant agree 
that this charge compensates Landlord for the administrative costs caused by the late payment. 

3.6. Default Rate.  Any Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements or other sum 
payable under this Lease that is not paid when due shall bear interest at a rate equal to the rate (the 
“Default Rate”) that is the lesser of:  (a) the published prime or reference rate then in effect at a 
national banking institution designated by Landlord (the “Prime Rate”) plus two (2) percentage 
points, or (b) the maximum rate of interest per annum permitted by applicable law. 

SECTION 4: SERVICES AND REPAIR 

4.1. Utilities and Services. 

4.1.1 Landlord shall furnish to Tenant, subject to Tenant’s Operating Costs 
Reimbursements obligations, the following utilities or services:  (a) electricity as specified in 
subparagraph 4.1.2; (b) heating, ventilation and air-conditioning services (“HVAC”) as specified 
in subparagraph 4.1.3; (c) hot and cold domestic water, wastewater and sewage service at the points 
now existing in the Premises or as specified for Tenant Improvements (where applicable); (d) 
Telecommunication services to the extent specified in subparagraph 4.1.4; (e) cleaning and 
janitorial service as specified on Exhibit D and (f) elevator service as specified in subparagraph 
4.1.5.  Landlord shall select the company or companies providing such utility and other services 
described in this subparagraph. 

4.1.2 Electrical services will be supplied to a panel box designated for each floor 
of the Building and will have the capacity to meet Tenant’s demand for the purposes specified in 
this Lease so long as such demand is usual and customary for such purposes.  Tenant shall pay for 
excess consumption. 

4.1.3 HVAC will be provided during building standard hours customary for the 
Building and which may be specified in Exhibit C.  If Tenant desires HVAC service other than 
during building standard hours, Tenant shall make advance arrangements with Landlord and shall 
pay Landlord’s usual and customary charge for such additional services. 

4.1.4 Landlord will provide only a suitable connection for usual and customary 
voice telephone  service at the designated locations in the Building.  All connection, installation, 
usage charges, maintenance and repair charges for such telephone service shall be Tenant’s 
responsibility.  Except as set forth in the preceding sentence or to the extent the Tenant 
Improvements include Telecommunication Facilities, the installation of Telecommunication 
Facilities shall be the responsibility of Tenant.  “Telecommunication Facilities” are defined as 
equipment, apparatus, installations, facilities and other materials utilized for the purposes of 
electronic communication, whether wireless or wired, including cable, switches, conduit, sleeves 
and wiring. 
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4.1.5 Elevator service will be provided during the time periods and with a 
frequency reasonably necessary to Tenant’s authorized purposes. 

4.1.6 Unless otherwise required by law, neither Tenant nor a provider of 
telecommunication services to Tenant shall be entitled to locate or install Telecommunication 
Facilities in, on or about the Building without (a) first obtaining Landlord’s advance, written 
consent (given in its reasonable discretion) and (b) the advance execution by Landlord and Tenant 
of an agreement satisfactory to Landlord granting a license to Tenant for such purposes. 

4.1.7 Landlord shall in no case be liable or in any way be responsible for damages 
(including consequential damages) or the loss to Tenant of utilities or other services arising from 
the failure of, diminution of or interruption of any kind to the Premises, unless (a) such interruption 
in, deprivation of or reduction of any such service was caused by the gross negligence or willful 
misconduct of Landlord, its agents or contractors, and (b) any such claims are not covered by the 
business interruption insurance required of Tenant by this Lease.  To the extent that Landlord bears 
any responsibility for the foregoing, Landlord’s responsibility and Tenant’s remedy shall be 
limited to an abatement in Base Rent for the period beginning with (a) the day which is three (3) 
consecutive days after the date on which Tenant delivers notice to Landlord of such interruption, 
deprivation or reduction and of the fact that Tenant is being deprived of all reasonable use of the 
Premises and ending on (b) the date such interruption, deprivation or reduction which is Landlord’s 
responsibility is no longer causing Tenant to be deprived of all reasonable use of the Premises. 

4.2. Maintenance and Repair by Landlord.  Subject to the paragraph 5.5 (“Damage 
or Destruction”) and paragraph 5.6 (“Condemnation”), Landlord shall maintain the public and 
common areas of the Building in good order and condition subject to reasonable use and wear.  In 
addition, within the Premises, Landlord shall replace light bulbs and ballasts in fixtures which are 
standard to the Building. 

4.3. Maintenance and Repair by Tenant.  Except as specified to be Landlord’s 
responsibility under paragraph 4.1 (“Utilities and Services”) and paragraph 4.2 (“Maintenance and 
Repair by Landlord”), and except for reasonable wear and tear, Tenant shall keep the Premises in 
good condition and repair.  Tenant agrees to notify Landlord immediately if water or moisture 
conditions from any source (including leaks) are discovered and to allow Landlord to evaluate and 
make recommendations and/or take appropriate corrective action. 

4.4. Common Areas/Security.  The common areas of the Building and the Project shall 
be under Landlord’s sole management and control.  Landlord has no duty or obligation to provide 
any security services in, on or around the Premises, Land, Building or Project, and Tenant 
recognizes that security services, if any, provided by Landlord will be for the sole benefit of 
Landlord and the protection of Landlord’s property. 

SECTION 5: OCCUPANCY PROVISIONS 

5.1. Tenant Alterations.  Tenant shall not make or permit to be made any alterations, 
additions, improvements or installations in or to the Premises (including Telecommunication 
Facilities), or place signs or other displays visible from outside the Premises (individually and 
collectively “Tenant Alterations”), without first obtaining the consent of Landlord, which may be 
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withheld in Landlord’s sole discretion.  Tenant shall deliver to Landlord complete plans and 
specifications for any proposed Tenant Alterations and, if consent by Landlord is given, all such 
work shall be performed at Tenant’s expense by Landlord or, with Landlord’s consent, by Tenant.  
Tenant shall be authorized to perform Tenant Alterations only to the extent and under such terms 
and conditions as Landlord, in its absolute discretion, shall specify.  All Tenant Alterations 
performed by Tenant shall be (1) completed in accordance with the plans and specifications 
approved by Landlord; (2) completed in accordance with all Governmental Requirements; (3) 
carried out promptly in a good and workmanlike manner; (4) of all new materials; and (5) free of 
defects in materials and workmanship. 

5.2. Surrender of Possession.  Tenant shall, at the expiration or earlier termination of 
this Lease, surrender and deliver the Premises to Landlord (a) in as good condition as when 
received by Tenant from Landlord or as later improved, reasonable use and wear, and damage 
from Casualty (defined in Section 5.5.1) excepted, and (b) free from any tenancy or occupancy by 
any person. 

5.3. Removal of Property.  Upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, 
Tenant may remove its personal property, office supplies and office furniture and equipment if 
(a) such items are readily moveable and are not attached to the Premises; (b) such removal is 
completed prior to the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease; and (c) Tenant immediately 
repairs all damage caused by or resulting from such removal.  All Tenant Alterations shall become 
the property of Landlord and shall remain upon and be surrendered with the Premises, unless 
Landlord requires their removal.  If removal is required, Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, 
remove all (or such portion as Landlord shall designate) of the Tenant Alterations, repair any 
damages resulting from such removal and return the Premises to the same condition as existed 
prior to such Tenant Alterations. 

5.4. Reasonable Access.  Tenant shall have access to the Building seven (7) days per 
week, twenty-four (24) hours per day, fifty-two (52) weeks a year.  Tenant shall permit Landlord 
and Landlord’s Affiliates (defined in paragraph 6.1) to enter into the Premises at any time on 
reasonable notice (except in case of emergency in which case no notice shall be required) for the 
purposes of inspection or for the purpose of repairing, altering or improving the Premises or the 
Building.  When reasonably necessary, Landlord may temporarily close Building or Land 
entrances, Building doors or other facilities, but Landlord shall use good faith efforts to minimize 
disruption to Tenant’s business and to provide continued access to the Premises.  Landlord shall 
have the right on reasonable notice to enter the Premises during the Lease Term for the purpose of 
showing the Premises to prospective tenants and to erect on the Premises a suitable sign indicating 
the Premises are available. 

5.5. Damage or Destruction. 

5.5.1 If the Premises are damaged by fire, earthquake or other casualty 
(“Casualty”), Tenant shall give immediate written notice to Landlord.  If Landlord estimates that 
the damage can be repaired to meet Tenant’s business needs within one hundred eighty (180) days 
after Landlord is notified by Tenant of such damage and if there are sufficient insurance proceeds 
available to repair such damage, then Landlord shall proceed with reasonable diligence to restore 
the Premises to substantially the condition which existed prior to the damage and this Lease shall 
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not terminate.  If neither circumstance described in the previous sentence exists, Landlord may 
elect, in its absolute discretion, to either:  (a) terminate this Lease or (b) restore the Premises to 
substantially the condition which existed prior to the damage and this Lease will continue.  Notice 
of Landlord’s election shall be delivered to Tenant within sixty (60) days after the date Landlord 
receives written notice of the damage.  Failure to deliver notice within the specified period shall 
be treated as election not to restore.  Tenant agrees to look to the provider of Tenant’s insurance 
for coverage for the loss of Tenant’s use of the Premises and any other related losses or damages 
incurred by Tenant during any reconstruction period following a Casualty. 

5.5.2 If the Building is damaged by Casualty and more than fifty percent (50%) 
of the Building is rendered untenantable, without regard to whether the Premises are affected by 
such damage, Landlord may, in its absolute discretion, elect to terminate this Lease by notice in 
writing to Tenant within thirty (30) days after the date Landlord receives written notice of the 
damage.  Such notice shall be effective twenty (20) days after delivery to Tenant unless a later date 
is set forth in Landlord’s notice. 

5.5.3 Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Premises or the Building are wholly 
or partially damaged or destroyed within the final six (6) months of the Lease Term, Tenant may 
elect to terminate this Lease upon written notice to Landlord within thirty (30) days following such 
damage or destruction. 

5.6. Condemnation.  If more than fifty percent (50%) of the Premises, or such portions 
of the Building as may be required for the Tenant’s reasonable use of the Premises, are taken by 
eminent domain or by conveyance in lieu thereof, this Lease shall automatically terminate as of 
the date the physical taking occurs, and all Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements and other 
sums payable under this Lease shall be paid to that date.  In the case of a taking of a part of the 
Premises or a portion of the Building not required for the Tenant’s reasonable use of the Premises, 
this Lease shall continue in full force and effect and the Base Rent shall be equitably reduced based 
on the proportion by which the floor area of the Premises is reduced, such reduction in Base Rent 
to be effective as of the date the physical taking occurs.  Operating Costs Reimbursements 
payments may be redetermined as equitable under the circumstances.  Landlord reserves all rights 
to damages or awards for any taking by eminent domain relating to the Premises, Building, Land 
and the unexpired term of this Lease.  Tenant assigns to Landlord any right Tenant may have to 
such damages or award and Tenant shall make no claim against Landlord for damages for 
termination of its leasehold interest or interference with Tenant’s business.  Tenant shall have the 
right, however, to claim and recover from the condemning authority compensation for any loss to 
which Tenant may be entitled for Tenant’s moving expenses or other relocation costs if they are 
awarded separately to Tenant in the eminent domain proceedings and are not claimed by Tenant 
to be a part of the damages recoverable by Landlord. 

5.7. Liens.  Tenant shall have no authority, express or implied, to create or place any 
lien or encumbrance of any kind or nature whatsoever upon the interest of Landlord or Tenant in 
the Premises or to charge the rentals payable under this Lease for any Claims (defined in Section 
6.1.1) in favor of any person dealing with Tenant, including those who may furnish materials or 
perform labor for any construction or repairs.  If any such lien or encumbrance is filed or recorded, 
Tenant shall cause it to be released or otherwise removed as of record within five (5) days by a 
means or method reasonably approved by Landlord. 
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5.8. Estoppel Certificate.  On Landlord’s request, Tenant shall timely complete, sign 
and deliver to an addressee designated by Landlord a certificate prepared by or on behalf of 
Landlord stating (a) the material terms of this Lease, (b) whether any default currently exists under 
the Lease, and (c) such other information as may reasonably be requested.  If Tenant fails to 
provide such certificate within ten (10) business days of its receipt, such shall be a default under 
this Lease and Tenant shall be deemed to have admitted the accuracy of any information supplied 
by Landlord to a prospective purchaser, mortgagee or assignee. 

5.9. Signage.  Subject to compliance with all Governmental Requirements, Tenant shall 
have the limited right to install signs on the Building exterior as described in Rider __ attached to 
this Lease, if any (“Signage Rider”).  The exact size, appearance and location of such signs shall 
be subject to Landlord’s prior written approval.  If not provided for in the Work Letter, any and all 
costs in connection with the permitting, fabrication, installation, maintenance and removal of 
Tenant’s signs (including the cost of removal of the signs and repair to the Building caused by 
such removal) shall be borne by Tenant.  Tenant shall maintain each such sign as may be approved, 
in good condition at all times.  Tenant shall not inscribe an inscription, or post, place, or in any 
manner display any sign, notice, picture, placard or poster, or any advertising matter whatsoever, 
anywhere in or about the Land or Building at places visible (either directly or indirectly as an 
outline or shadow on a glass pane) from anywhere outside the Premises without first obtaining 
Landlord’s consent, unless permitted pursuant to the Signage Rider.  Upon vacation of the 
Premises on the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall be responsible, at it 
sole cost, for the removal of such sign and the repair, painting and/or replacement of the structure 
to which the sign is attached including discoloration caused by such installation or removal.  If 
Tenant fails to perform such work, Landlord may cause the same to be performed, and the cost 
thereof shall be immediately due and payable upon rendition of a bill therefor. 

5.10. Hazardous Substances. 

5.10.1 Neither Tenant, any of Tenant’s agents nor any other person shall store, 
place, generate, manufacture, refine, handle, or locate on, in, under or around the Land or Building 
any Hazardous Substance (defined below), except for storage, handling and use of reasonable 
quantities and types reasonably necessary in the ordinary course and the prudent conduct of 
Tenant’s business in the Premises.  Tenant agrees that (a) the storage, handling and use of such 
permitted Hazardous Substances must at all times conform to all Governmental Requirements and 
to applicable fire, safety and insurance requirements; (b) the types and quantities of permitted 
Hazardous Substances which are stored in the Premises must be reasonable and appropriate to the 
nature and size of Tenant’s operation in the Premises and reasonable and appropriate for a first-
class building of the same or similar use and in the same market area as the Building; and (c) no 
Hazardous Substance shall be spilled or disposed of on, in, under or around the Land or Building 
or otherwise discharged from the Premises or any area adjacent to the Land or Building.  In no 
event will Tenant be permitted to store, handle or use on, in, under or around the Premises any 
Hazardous Substance which will increase the rate of fire or extended coverage insurance on the 
Land or Building, unless: (1) such Hazardous Substance and the expected rate increase have been 
specifically disclosed in writing to Landlord; (2) Tenant has agreed in writing to pay any rate 
increase related to each such Hazardous Substance; and (3) Landlord has approved in writing each 
such Hazardous Substance, which approval shall be subject to Landlord’s discretion. 
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5.10.2 Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Landlord and Landlord’s 
agents from and against any and all Claims arising out of any breach of any provision of this 
paragraph, which expenses shall also include laboratory testing fees, personal injury claims, clean-
up costs and environmental consultants’ fees.  Tenant agrees that Landlord may be irreparably 
harmed by Tenant’s breach of this paragraph and that a specific performance action may 
appropriately be brought by Landlord; provided that, Landlord’s election to bring or not bring any 
such specific performance action shall in no way limit, waive, impair or hinder Landlord’s other 
remedies against Tenant. 

5.10.3 The term “Hazardous Substance” means asbestos, PCBs, petroleum or 
petroleum-based chemicals or substances, urea formaldehyde or any chemical, material, element, 
compound, solution, mixture, sub-stance or other matter of any kind whatsoever which is now or 
later defined, classified, listed, designated or regulated as hazardous, toxic or radioactive by any 
Governmental Agency having jurisdiction over the Premises. 

SECTION 6: INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION 

6.1. Indemnification. 

6.1.1 Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Landlord, Landlord’s 
Affiliates and the Manager from and against any and all Claims made against such persons, arising 
solely out of (a) the possession, use or occupancy of the Premises or the business conducted in the 
Premises, (b) any act, omission or actionable neglect of Tenant or Tenant’s Affiliates, or (c) any 
breach or default under this Lease by Tenant.  Tenant’s obligations under the previous sentence 
shall not apply if the Claim arose solely from intentional misconduct by or actionable neglect of 
Landlord or Landlord’s Affiliates.  “Landlord’s Affiliates” are all officers, partners, contractors, 
employees and invitees of Landlord.  “Tenant’s Affiliates” are all officers, partners, contractors, 
employees and invitees of Tenant.  “Claims” is an individual and collective reference to any and 
all claims, demands, damages, injuries, losses, liens, liabilities, penalties, fines, lawsuits, actions, 
and other proceedings and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred in connection 
with the proceeding, whether at trial or on appeal). 

6.1.2 Landlord shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Tenant and Tenant’s 
Affiliates from and against any and all Claims made against such persons arising solely out of (a) 
any act, omission or actionable neglect of Landlord or Landlord’s Affiliates, or (b) any breach or 
default under this Lease by Landlord.  Landlord’s obligations under the previous sentence shall 
not apply if the Claim arose solely from intentional misconduct by or actionable neglect of Tenant 
or Tenant’s Affiliates. 

6.2. Tenant Insurance. 

6.2.1 Tenant shall, throughout the Lease Term, at its own expense, keep and 
maintain in full force and effect each and every one of the following policies, each of which shall 
be endorsed as needed to provide that the insurance afforded by these policies is primary and that 
all insurance carried by Landlord is strictly excess and secondary and shall not contribute with 
Tenant’s liability insurance: 
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(a) A policy of commercial general liability insurance, including a 
contractual liability endorsement covering Tenant’s obligations under the paragraph captioned 
“Indemnification”, insuring against claims of bodily injury and death or property damage or loss 
with a combined single limit at the Commencement Date of not less than Two Million Dollars 
($2,000,000.00) per occurrence and location.  Tenant shall include Landlord and, at Landlord’s 
request, Landlord’s mortgage lender(s) as additional insureds.. 

(b) “Special Form” property insurance (which is commonly called “all 
risk”) covering Tenant Improvements, Tenant Alterations, and any and all furniture, fixtures, 
equipment, inventory, improvements and other property in or about the Premises which is not 
owned by Landlord, for the then, entire current replacement cost of such property. 

(c) Business interruption insurance in an amount sufficient to cover 
costs, damages, lost income, expenses, Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements and all other 
sums payable under this Lease, should any or all of the Premises not be usable for a period of up 
to twelve (12) months. 

(d) A policy of worker’s compensation insurance if and as required by 
applicable law and employer’s liability insurance with limits of no less than One Million and 
No/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00). 

(e) A policy of comprehensive automobile liability insurance, including 
loading and unloading, and covering owned and hired vehicles with limits of no less than One 
Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per occurrence. 

6.2.2 All insurance policies required under this paragraph shall be with 
companies having a rating according to Best’s Insurance Key Rating Guide for Property — 
Casualties of no less than A- Class VIII.  Each policy shall provide that it is not subject to 
cancellation, lapse or reduction in coverage except after thirty (30) days’ written notice to 
Landlord.  Tenant shall deliver to Landlord, prior to the Commencement Date and, from time to 
time thereafter, certificates evidencing the existence and amounts of all such policies and, on 
Landlord’s request, copies of such insurance policies.  There shall be no deductible amount 
applicable with respect to the insurance policy requirements in part (a) of the previous 
subparagraph unless approved in advance by Landlord.  Deductibles under policies procured under 
the requirements of clause (b) of subparagraph 6.2.1 must be reasonable and customary.  There 
shall be no self-insured retention with respect to the requirements in either part (a) or (b) of the 
previous subparagraph unless approved in advance by Landlord. 

6.2.3 If Tenant fails to acquire or maintain any insurance or provide evidence of 
insurance required by this paragraph, Landlord may, but shall not be required to, obtain such 
insurance or evidence and the costs associated with obtaining such insurance or evidence shall be 
payable by Tenant to Landlord on demand. 

6.3. Landlord’s Insurance.  Landlord shall, throughout the Lease Term, keep and 
maintain in full force and effect: 
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(a) Commercial general liability insurance, insuring against claims of 
bodily injury and death or property damage or loss with a combined single limit at the 
Commencement Date of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per occurrence and 
Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) general aggregate, which policy shall be payable on an 
“occurrence” rather than a “claims made” basis. 

(b) “Special Form” property insurance (which is commonly called “all 
risk”) covering the Building and Landlord’s personal property, if any, located on the Land for the 
then, current replacement value of such property. 

(c) Landlord may, but shall not be required to, maintain other types of 
insurance as Landlord deems appropriate, including property insurance coverage for earthquakes 
and floods in such amounts as Landlord deems appropriate. 

6.4. Waiver of Subrogation.  Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, 
Landlord and Tenant each waive and release the other from any and all Claims or any loss or 
damage that may occur to the Land, Building, Premises, or personal property located on or in the 
described Premises, by reason of casualty, but only to the extent of deductibles specified in the 
insurance policies plus the insurance proceeds paid to such party under its policies of insurance or, 
if it fails to maintain the required policies, the insurance proceeds that would have been paid to 
such party if it had maintained such policies. 

SECTION 7: ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING 

7.1. Assignment and Subletting by Tenant.  Tenant shall not have the right, directly 
or indirectly (by change of control or otherwise) to assign, transfer, mortgage or encumber this 
Lease in whole or in part, nor sublet the whole or any part of the Premises, nor allow the occupancy 
of all or any part of the Premises by another, without first obtaining Landlord’s consent, which 
consent may not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.  Landlord’s conditioning of its consent 
under paragraph 7.2 (“Landlord Share of Revenue Surplus”) shall not be deemed unreasonable.  
No sublease or assignment, including one to which Landlord has consented, shall release Tenant 
from its obligations under this Lease. 

7.2. Landlord Share of Revenue Surplus.  Landlord may elect to condition its consent 
to an assignment or subletting on this paragraph.  If Landlord so gives conditional consent, Tenant 
shall pay to Landlord if, as and when received by Tenant, fifty percent (50%) of the consideration 
received by Tenant for the assignment or subletting to the extent that consideration exceeds both 
transaction costs of the sublease or assignment and Tenant’s obligations under this Lease for the 
same portion of the Lease Term.  If the sublet is for other than the entirety of the Premises, Tenant’s 
obligation under this Lease shall be prorated based on the area subleased as compared to the 
Rentable Area of the Premises. 

7.3. Assignment by Landlord.  Landlord shall have the right to transfer and assign, in 
whole or in part, its rights and obligations under this Lease and in any and all of the Land or 
Building.  If Landlord sells or transfers any or all of the Building, Landlord and Landlord’s 
Affiliates shall, upon consummation of such transfer be released automatically from any liability 
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under this Lease for obligations to be performed or observed after the date of the transfer.  After 
the effective date of the transfer, Tenant must look solely to Landlord’s successor-in-interest. 

SECTION 8: DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

8.1. Events of Default. 

8.1.1 The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute 
a material default and breach of this Lease by Tenant (“Event of Default”): 

(a) vacation or abandonment of all or any portion of the Premises 
without continued payment when due of Base Rent and Operating Costs Reimbursements and any 
other sums due under this Lease; 

(b) failure by Tenant to make any payment of Base Rent, Operating 
Costs Reimbursements or any other sum due by Tenant under this Lease within ten (10) days after 
notice to Tenant of such failure; 

(c) failure by Tenant to observe or perform any covenant or condition 
of this Lease, other than the making of Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements and other 
payments, where such failure continues for a period of twenty (20) days after written notice from 
Landlord; 

(d) the failure of Tenant to surrender possession of the Premises at the 
expiration or earlier termination of this Lease in the condition required by this Lease; 

(e) (1) the making by Tenant of any general assignment or general 
arrangement for the benefit of creditors; (2) the filing by or against Tenant of a petition in 
bankruptcy, including reorganization or arrangement, unless, in the case of a petition filed against 
Tenant, it is dismissed within twenty (20) days; (3) the appointment of a trustee or receiver to take 
possession of substantially all of Tenant’s assets located in the Premises or of Tenant’s interest in 
this Lease; (4) any execution, levy, attachment or other process of law against any property of 
Tenant or Tenant’s interest in this Lease, unless it is dismissed within twenty (20) days; (5) 
adjudication that Tenant is bankrupt; or (6) the making by Tenant of a transfer in fraud of creditors; 

(f) any information furnished by or on behalf of Tenant to Landlord in 
connection with this Lease is determined to have been materially false, misleading or incomplete 
when made; or 

(g) if a letter of credit is required under the Credit Enhancement Rider 
to this Lease, a failure of the Tenant to deliver that letter of credit within the time period specified. 

8.1.2 If a petition in bankruptcy is filed by or against Tenant, and if this Lease is 
treated as an “unexpired lease” under applicable bankruptcy law, then Tenant shall neither attempt 
nor cause any trustee to attempt to extend the time period specified by the Bankruptcy Act for the 
assumption or rejection of this Lease. 

8.2. Remedies. 
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8.2.1 If any Event of Default occurs, Landlord may at any time after such 
occurrence, with or without notice or demand except as stated in this paragraph, and without 
limiting Landlord in the exercise of any other right or remedy which Landlord may have by reason 
of such Event of Default, exercise the rights and remedies, either singularly or in combination, 
specified or described in the subparagraphs of this paragraph. 

8.2.2 Landlord may terminate this Lease and all rights of Tenant under this Lease, 
either immediately or at some later date, by giving Tenant written notice that this Lease is 
terminated.  If Landlord so terminates this Lease, then Landlord may recover from Tenant the sum 
of: 

(a) the unpaid Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements and all 
other sums payable under this Lease which have been earned up to and including the date of 
termination; plus 

(b) interest at the Default Rate on the sum stated in clause (a); plus 

(c) the amount by which (i) the unpaid Base Rent, Operating Costs 
Reimbursements and all other sums due by Tenant under this Lease which would have been earned 
after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such past rental loss, if any, as 
Tenant affirmatively proves could have been reasonably avoided during such time period, together 
with interest on such resulting difference at the Default Rate; plus 

(d) the amount by which (i) the aggregate of the unpaid Base Rent, 
Operating Costs Reimbursements and all other sums payable under this Lease for the balance of 
the Lease Term after the time of award exceeds the amount of such future rental loss, if any, as 
Tenant affirmatively proves could be reasonably avoided, with such resulting difference being 
discounted to present value at the time of the award at the Prime Rate in existence at such time; 
plus 

(e) any other amount necessary to compensate Landlord for the 
detriment proximately caused by Tenant’s failure to perform Tenant’s obligations under this Lease 
or which, in the ordinary course of things, will result from such failure, including, leasing 
commissions, tenant improvement costs, renovation costs and advertising costs. 

8.2.3 Landlord shall also have the right, with or without terminating this Lease, 
to re-enter the Premises by any lawful means or process and remove all persons and property from 
the Premises.  Landlord may cause property so removed from the Premises to be stored in a public 
warehouse or elsewhere at the expense, for the account of, and at the risk of Tenant. 

8.2.4 If Tenant vacates, abandons or surrenders the Premises without Landlord’s 
consent, or if Landlord re-enters the Premises as provided in subparagraph 8.2.3 or takes 
possession of the Premises pursuant to legal or notice proceedings, then, if Landlord does not elect 
to terminate this Lease, Landlord may, from time to time, without terminating this Lease, either 
(a) recover all Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements and all other sums payable under this 
Lease as they become due or (b) relet the Premises or any part of the Premises on behalf of Tenant 
for such term or terms, at such rent or rents and pursuant to such other provisions as Landlord, in 
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its sole discretion, may deem advisable, all with the right, at Tenant’s cost, to make alterations and 
repairs to the Premises and recover any deficiency from Tenant as set forth in subparagraph 8.2.5.  
Termination of Tenant’s right of possession shall not terminate Tenant’s obligations, nor shall any 
re-entry or reletting constitute Landlord’s acceptance of a surrender, terminating the leasehold, 
absent affirmative written acknowledgement of Landlord. 

8.2.5 If Landlord relets the Premises without terminating this Lease, Landlord 
shall apply the revenue from such reletting to Landlord’s costs and Tenant’s obligations in such 
order as Landlord deems appropriate.  Should revenue from letting during any month be less than 
the sum of the Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements and other sums payable under this 
Lease and Landlord’s expenditures for the Premises during such month, Tenant shall be obligated 
to pay such deficiency to Landlord as and when such deficiency arises. 

8.2.6 If Landlord retakes possession under any circumstances that constitute, or 
are interpreted by an adjudication to be for the benefit of Tenant, such reletting is in mitigation of 
Landlord’s damages, and Tenant shall have no right to redeem the Premises absent consent of the 
new tenant, nor shall Tenant have any right to the surplus, if any, between rent paid under the new 
tenant’s lease and Tenant’s obligations hereunder. 

8.2.7 All sums payable under this Lease (including Base Rent and Operating 
Costs Reimbursements) shall be considered rent and all rights and remedies available pursuant to 
law for nonpayment of rent shall apply. 

8.3. Right to Perform.  If Tenant shall fail to pay any sum of money, other than Base 
Rent or Operating Costs Reimbursements, required to be paid by it under this Lease or shall fail 
to perform any other act on its part to be performed under this Lease, and such failure shall continue 
for ten (10) days after notice of such failure by Landlord, Landlord may, but shall not be obligated 
to, and without waiving or releasing Tenant from any obligations, make such payment or perform 
such other act on Tenant’s part to be made or performed as provided in this Lease.  Landlord shall 
have all rights and remedies for recovery of any sum or for the cost of such performance as 
specified in this Lease. 

8.4. Landlord’s Default.  Landlord shall not be in default under this Lease unless 
Landlord fails to perform obligations required of Landlord within a reasonable time after written 
notice is delivered by Tenant to Landlord specifying the obligation which Landlord has failed to 
perform; provided, however, that if the nature of Landlord’s obligation is such that more than the 
specified period required for performance, then Landlord shall not be in default if Landlord 
commences performance within such period and thereafter diligently prosecutes it to completion.  
Tenant waives the benefit of any laws granting it the right to perform Landlord’s obligation, a lien 
upon the property of Landlord or upon rent due Landlord, or the right to terminate this Lease or 
withhold rent. 

[NOTE:  The following provisions are in vogue for Landlords, but I recommend against allowing 
such clauses to be inserted in leases when you are the tenant, unless, perhaps, the Landlord 
confirms substantial value in the premises as proven by an appraisal and warrants against 
allowing any encumbrances whatsoever which can deplete the equity.] 
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8.5. Limitation on Recourse.  Liability with respect to the entry and performance of 
this Lease by or on behalf of Landlord or any other obligation of Landlord, however it may arise, 
shall be asserted and enforced only against Landlord’s estate and equity interest in the Building.  
Neither Landlord nor any of Landlord’s Affiliates shall have any personal liability in the event of 
any Claim against any of them arising out of or in connection with this Lease, the relationship of 
Landlord and Tenant or Tenant’s use of the Premises.  Any and all personal liability, if any, beyond 
that which may be asserted under this paragraph, is expressly waived and released by Tenant and 
by all persons claiming by, through or under Tenant. 

SECTION 9: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

9.1. Notices.  All notices, demands, consents, approvals, statements and 
communications required or permitted under this Lease shall be in writing and shall be addressed 
to a party at the addresses set forth opposite that party’s signature, or to such other address as either 
party may specify by written notice, given in accordance with this paragraph.  Tenant’s notice 
address shall be the address of the Premises after the Commencement Date.  All such 
communications shall be transmitted by personal delivery, reputable express or courier service, or 
United States Postal Service, postage prepaid.  All such communications shall be deemed delivered 
and effective on the earlier of (a) the date received or refused for delivery, or (b) five (5) calendar 
days after having been deposited in the United States Postal Service, postage prepaid. 

9.2. Attorney’s Fees and Expenses.  In the event that (a) either party requires the 
services of an attorney in connection with enforcing the terms of this Lease, (b) suit is brought for 
the enforcement of this Lease or the exercise of rights and remedies afforded by this Lease or under 
law, or (c) proceedings are held in bankruptcy, then the substantially prevailing party shall be 
entitled to a reasonable sum for attorney’s and paralegal’s fees, expenses and court costs, including 
those relating to any appeal, arbitration, or pre-litigation demands and negotiation. 

9.3. Successors; Joint and Several Liability.  All of the covenants and conditions 
contained in this Lease shall apply to and be binding upon Landlord and Tenant and their respective 
heirs, executors, administrators, permitted successors and permitted assigns.  In the event that more 
than one person or organization is included in the term “Tenant”, then each such person or 
organization shall be jointly and severally liable for all obligations of Tenant under this Lease. 

9.4. Choice of Law.  This Lease shall be construed and governed by the laws of the 
state in which the Land is located. 

9.5. Offer to Lease.  The submission of this Lease in a draft form to Tenant or its broker 
or other agent does not constitute an offer to Tenant to lease the Premises.  This Lease shall have 
no force or effect until it is executed and delivered by both Tenant and Landlord to the other. 

9.6. Interpretation.  Headings or captions shall in no way define, limit or otherwise 
affect the construction or interpretation of this Lease.  Whenever a provision of this Lease uses the 
terms “include” or “including”, that term shall not be limiting but shall be construed as illustrative.  
This Lease shall be given a fair and reasonable interpretation of the words contained in it without 
any weight being given to whether a provision was drafted by one party or its counsel.  Unless 
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otherwise specified, whenever this Lease requires a consent or approval, the decision shall be 
reached in good faith discretion of the party entitled to give such consent or approval. 

9.7. Prior Agreement and Amendments.  This Lease contains all of the agreements 
of the parties to this Lease with respect to any matter covered or mentioned in this Lease.  No prior 
agreement, understanding or statement pertaining to any such matter shall be effective for any 
purpose.  No provision of this Lease may be amended except by an agreement in writing signed 
by the parties to this Lease. 

9.8. Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of this 
Lease. 

9.9. Survival of Obligations.  Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the 
contrary or the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, any and all obligations of either party 
accruing prior to the expiration or termination of this Lease shall survive the expiration or earlier 
termination of this Lease, and either party shall promptly perform all such obligations whether or 
not this Lease has expired or terminated. 

9.10. California Civil Code § 1938 CASp-Inspection Disclosure. To Landlord’s 
knowledge, the Premises has not been inspected by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp) as 
defined under California Civil Code Section 55.51 et seq. Accordingly, it has not been determined 
whether the Premises meets all applicable construction-related accessibility standards pursuant to 
Section 55.53 of the California Civil Code. This affirmation is included solely to comply with 
California Civil Code § 1938 and shall not affect Landlord’s or Tenant’s respective responsibilities 
with respect to construction-related accessibility standards under this Lease. 

9.11. California Civil Code § 25402.10 Energy-Use Disclosure.  Tenant shall 
cooperate with Landlord in providing all information reasonably requested by Landlord in 
fulfillment of Landlord’s obligations to make disclosures to prospective lessees and purchasers 
under California Civil Code § 25402.10 and any related or similar Governmental Requirements 
pertaining to energy use or environmental sustainability.  Within five days of receipt of a written 
request for information by Landlord under this paragraph, Tenant shall provide any such 
information as is reasonably ascertainable by Tenant, and Tenant shall execute any written 
consents necessary for utility companies servicing tenant to release information necessary for 
Landlord’s compliance with California Civil Code § 25402.10.    

 9.11.1. California Civil Code § 25402.10 Energy-Use Disclosure.  In the event that this 
is a whole-building lease, Tenant acknowledges that Lessor has complied with California Civil 
Code § 25402.10 by providing the information required under that statute at least twenty-four 
hours prior to mutual execution of this Agreement, regardless of whether such information is 
appended to or part of this Agreement.   
 

LISTING OF EXHIBITS 

Exhibit A Legal Description of the Land 
Exhibit B Drawing Showing Location and Configuration of the Premises 
Exhibit C Rules and Regulations 
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Exhibit D Schedule of Cleaning Services 
Exhibit E Commencement Date Memorandum Form 

LISTING OF RIDERS 

Rider 1: Operating Costs Reimbursements 
Rider 2: Credit Enhancement Provisions 
Rider 3: Parking Provisions 
Rider 4: Other Leasing Provisions (if applicable) 
Rider 5: Work Letter (if applicable) 

 

This Lease has been executed the day and year set forth on the first page of this Lease. 

Designated Address for Landlord: 
 
  
  
  
Facsimile:  

LANDLORD: 
 
 , a 
  
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Its:  
 

  
Designated Address for Tenant: 
 
  
  
  
Facsimile:  

TENANT: 
 
 , a 
  
 
By:  
Name:  
Its:  
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LANDLORD ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

STATE OF    ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF    ) 

On this _____ day of     , 20__, before me personally appeared  
    , to me known to be the        
of       the       that executed the 
within and foregoing instrument, and acknowledged said instrument to be the free and voluntary 
act and deed of said      , for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, 
and on oath stated that _he was authorized to execute said instrument. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the 
day and year first above written. 

 
Name:  
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the State of   
My appointment expires:  

[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

TENANT ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

STATE OF    ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF    ) 

On this _____ day of     , 20__, before me, a Notary Public in and for 
the      of     , personally appeared    
  , the      of      , a   
   , that executed the within and foregoing instrument, and acknowledged said 
instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of said partnership for the uses and purposes 
therein mentioned, and on oath stated that __he was authorized to execute said instrument. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and year first as above written. 
 

Name:  
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the State of   
My appointment expires:  

[NOTARIAL SEAL] 
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EXHIBIT A to Lease 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF LAND 
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EXHIBIT B to Lease 

DRAWING SHOWING LOCATION AND CONFIGURATION OF THE PREMISES 
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EXHIBIT C to Lease 

RULES AND REGULATIONS 

81



 
 

Ex. D 

j:\`tgg\Lease - from Scan.doc 
1 

EXHIBIT D to Lease 

SCHEDULE OF CLEANING SERVICES 
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EXHIBIT E to Lease 

COMMENCEMENT DATE MEMORANDUM FORM 

          , as Landlord,  
           and as Tenant, 
executed that Lease dated as of    , 20__ (the “Lease”). 

The Lease contemplates that this document shall be delivered and executed as set forth in 
the paragraph entitled “Lease Memorandum”.  This Lease Memorandum shall become part of the 
Lease. 

Landlord and Tenant agree as follows: 

1. The Commencement Date of the Lease is       . 

2. The end of the Lease Term and the date on which this Lease will expire is    
    . 

3. The Lease is in full force and effect as of the date of this Lease Memorandum.  By execution 
of this Lease Memorandum, Tenant confirms that as of the date of the Lease Memorandum (a) 
Tenant has no claims against Landlord and (b) Landlord has fulfilled all of its obligations under 
the Lease required to be fulfilled by Landlord. 

4. Tenant’s Pro Rata Share is _________________ percent (__________%). 

Dated:    
 
LANDLORD: 
 
 , a 
  
 

By:  
Name:  
Its:  

Dated:  
 
TENANT: 

 , a 
  
 

By:  
Name:  
Its:  
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LANDLORD ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

STATE OF    ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF    ) 

On this _____ day of      , 20__, before me personally appeared 
    , to me known to be the       of  
    , the      that executed the within and 
foregoing instrument, and acknowledged said instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed 
of said     , for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and on oath stated that 
_he was authorized to execute said instrument. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and year first as above written. 
 

Name:  
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the State of   
My appointment expires:  

[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

TENANT ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

STATE OF    ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF    ) 

On this ____ day of      , 20__, before me, a Notary Public in 
and for the      of    , personally appeared    
  , the      of      , the   
   that executed the within and foregoing instrument, and acknowledged said 
instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of said     for the uses 
and purposes therein mentioned, and on oath stated that __he was authorized to execute said 
instrument. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and year first as above written. 
 

Name:  
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the State of   
My appointment expires:  

[NOTARIAL SEAL] 
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Rider 1 

Operating Costs Reimbursements 

R1.1 Operating Costs Reimbursements Payments.  Tenant agrees to pay, in addition to Base 
Rent, sums computed and payable in accordance with this Rider (“Operating Costs 
Reimbursements”). 

R1.2 Operating Costs Reimbursements Estimate Payments.  Landlord shall prepare and 
furnish to Tenant an estimate of the Operating Costs Reimbursements computed in accordance 
with paragraphs R1.3 through R1.6 (“Operating Costs Reimbursements Estimate”) (a) on about 
the Commencement Date, (b) in advance of the beginning of each calendar year during the Lease 
Term, and (c) from time to time during the Lease Term.  Tenant shall pay one-twelfth of the current 
Operating Costs Reimbursements Estimate in advance on or before the first day of each calendar 
month of the Lease Term.  If the applicable blank on the first page of this Lease is filled in, the 
amount in it shall be the Operating Cost Reimbursement Estimate as of the Commencement Date. 

R1.3 Computation of Operating Costs Reimbursements.  The Operating Costs 
Reimbursements shall equal the product of (a) Tenant’s Pro Rata Share multiplied by (b) the 
difference between Operating Costs minus the Operating Cost Base Amount.  These capitalized 
terms are defined later in paragraph R1.4 of this Rider.  The determination and computation of the 
Operating Costs Reimbursements shall be made by Landlord.  After the close of each calendar 
year, Landlord shall deliver to Tenant a written statement setting forth the Operating Costs 
Reimbursements payable for the preceding calendar year.  If the Operating Costs Reimbursements 
exceed the Operating Costs Reimbursements Estimate paid by Tenant, Tenant shall pay the amount 
of such excess to Landlord with twenty (20) days after delivery of such statement to Tenant.  If 
such statement shows the Operating Costs Reimbursements to be less than the Operating Costs 
Reimbursements Estimate paid by Tenant, then the amount of such overpayment shall be paid by 
Landlord to Tenant within twenty (20) days following the date of such statement or, at Landlord’s 
option, shall be credited toward future installment(s) of Base Rent and Operating Costs 
Reimbursements Estimate. 

R1.4 Definitions. 

R1.4.1 Tenant’s Pro Rata Share.  A fraction, the numerator of which is the Rentable 
Area of Premises and the denominator of which is the Rentable Area of the Building. 

R1.4.2 Operating Costs.  All costs and expenses paid or incurred by Landlord for 
maintaining, operating, owning and repairing any or all of the Land, Building, Premises, related 
improvements and the personal property used in conjunction with such Land, Building, Premises 
and related improvements.  Without limiting the generality of the previous sentence, Operating 
Costs include (a) Taxes (defined below); (b) premiums and other obligations associated with 
Landlord’s insurance program; (c) property management fees; (d) amortization of capital 
improvements installed or constructed other than in connection with the original construction of 
the Building, and (e) other costs or expense which are customarily accounted for as an expense of 
ownership or operation, including without limitation costs of compliance with energy-use 
disclosure requirements (e.g., installation of meters, retaining of consultants, and filling of 
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necessary documents).  The costs referenced in clause (d) above shall be amortized with interest 
return at the Prime Rate plus two (2) percentage points over the estimated useful life of the capital 
improvement as determined by Landlord and the annual amortization of principal and interest 
attributable to the Lease Term shall be an Operating Cost. If less than ninety-five percent (95%) 
of the Building is occupied by tenants during the calendar year, then Operating Costs that vary 
based on occupancy shall include all additional costs and expenses that Landlord reasonably 
determines would have been incurred had ninety-five percent (95%) occupancy prevailed during 
the calendar year.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the term “Operating Costs” shall not 
include any of the following:  ground rent; interest and amortization of funds borrowed by 
Landlord for items other than capital improvements; leasing commissions and advertising and 
space planning expenses incurred in procuring tenants; and salaries, wages, or other compensation 
paid to officers or executives of Landlord in their capacities as officers and executives. 

R1.4.2 Taxes.  “Taxes” means all ad valorem taxes and governmental and private 
assessments which are levied, assessed, imposed or become due and payable with respect to the 
Land and the Building and associated improvements. 

R1.5 End of Term.  If this Lease shall terminate on a day other than the last day of a calendar 
year, (a) Landlord shall estimate the Operating Costs Reimbursements for such partial year 
predicated on the most recent reliable information available to Landlord; (b) the amount 
determined under clause (a) of this sentence shall be prorated by multiplying such amount by a 
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days within the Lease Term in such year and the 
denominator of which is 365; (c) if the clause (b) amount exceeds the Operating Costs 
Reimbursements Estimate paid by Tenant for the last year in the Lease Term, then Tenant shall 
pay the excess to Landlord within ten (10) days after Landlord’s delivery to Tenant of a statement 
for such excess; and (d) if the Operating Costs Reimbursements Estimate paid by Tenant for the 
last year in the Lease Term exceeds the clause (b) amount, then Landlord shall refund to Tenant 
the excess within such ten (10) day period if Tenant is not then in default of any of its obligations 
under this Lease. 

R1.6 Taxes Based on Rent.  If a rental tax, gross receipts tax or sales tax on rent is imposed 
on Landlord, Tenant shall, as Operating Costs Reimbursements, pay or reimburse Landlord an 
amount equal to all such taxes computed on the Base Rent and Operating Costs Reimbursements 
payable under this Lease.  If such taxes are payable other than at monthly intervals, Tenant shall 
pay one-twelfth of the annual tax amount with each installment of Base Rent. 
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Rider 2 

Credit Enhancement Provisions 

[ALTERNATE PARAGRAPH] 
R2.1 Security Deposit. 

R2.1.1 Tenant has deposited with Landlord or Manager the sum set forth in the blank 
opposite the words “Security Deposit” in Section 1 of this Lease (“Security Deposit”) to secure 
Tenant’s performance of its obligations under this Lease.  If Tenant defaults in any payment or 
performance due under this Lease (beyond any applicable cure period), Landlord, in its absolute 
discretion and without prejudice in its other rights or remedies, may apply the Security Deposit, in 
whole or in part, to the payment of sums due from Tenant as a result of such default.  Tenant shall 
within ten (10) days from demand, deposit with Landlord the sum necessary to restore the Security 
Deposit to the specified amount.  If Tenant has fully performed under this Lease, the remainder of 
the Security Deposit shall be repaid to Tenant, without interest, within thirty (30) days after the 
expiration of this Lease. 

R2.1.2 In the event of a sale or transfer of Landlord’s estate or interest in the Land 
and Building, Landlord shall have the right to transfer the Lease Security Deposit to the vendee or 
the transferee, and Landlord shall be considered released by Tenant from all liability for the return 
of the Lease Security Deposit.  Tenant shall look solely to the transferee for the return of the Lease 
Security Deposit, and it is agreed that all of the foregoing shall apply to every transfer or 
assignment made of the Lease Security Deposit to a new transferee. 

[ALTERNATE PARAGRAPH] 
R2.1 Letter of Credit. 

R2.1.1 As a condition to this Lease, Landlord requires that Tenant deliver in favor of 
Landlord a letter of credit in the amount of ____________________ Dollars ($__________).  If a 
letter of credit in that amount has not been delivered and accepted by Landlord on the execution 
of this Lease, a letter of credit in such amount must be delivered to and found acceptable by 
Landlord within five (5) days after the execution of this Lease.  The term “Letter of Credit” shall 
mean and refer to a letter of credit conforming to this Section. 

R2.1.2 If the letter of credit is not delivered to and accepted by Landlord within five 
(5) days after the execution of this Lease, Landlord may, at its election, exercised in its absolute 
discretion, (a) void the Lease for failure of a condition subsequent or (b) proceed with its rights 
and remedies for an Event of Default. 

R2.1.3 Landlord may draw on the Letter of Credit, in whole or in part at Landlord’s 
election, without advance notice to Tenant, at any time or from time to time (a) on or after the 
occurrence of any Event of Default, (b) if Tenant, or anyone in possession of the Leased Premises 
through Tenant, holds over after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, (c) if Landlord 
is given notice by the issuer of the Letter of Credit that it is terminating the Letter of Credit, (d) if 
a confirming bank gives notice to Landlord that it will cease to act in that capacity, (e) if the Letter 
of Credit expires on a specified date by its terms and is not renewed or replaced at least sixty (60) 
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days in advance of its expiration date, (f) to the extent permitted by law, in the event any 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or any other debtor creditor proceeding is instituted by or 
against Tenant or (g) as otherwise specified in or in connections with the letter of credit. 

R2.1.4 If any of the proceeds drawn on the Letter of Credit are not applied 
immediately to sums owing to Landlord under this Lease, Landlord may retain any such excess 
proceeds as a cash Security Deposit for application to future sums owing to Landlord under this 
Lease, in such order and priority as Landlord elects in its absolute discretion.  Tenant shall, within 
fifteen (15) days after Landlord’s demand, restore the amount of the Letter of Credit drawn so that 
the Letter of Credit is restored to the original amount of the Letter of Credit.  If Tenant does not 
restore the Letter of Credit to its original amount within the required time period, such non-
restoration shall be considered an Event of Default. 

[ADDITIONAL OR ALTERNATE PARAGRAPH] 
R2.2 Guaranty.  The undersigned persons or parties (collectively, “Guarantor”), jointly and 
severally, absolutely and unconditionally guarantee full, complete and timely payment and 
performance by Tenant of all of its duties and obligations under this Lease, including the payment 
of Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements and all other amounts which Tenant is obligated 
to pay under the Lease.  This guaranty is a guaranty of payment and not of collection. 

Guarantor authorizes Landlord, without notice or demand and without affecting Guarantor’s 
liability hereunder, from time to time, to: (a) amend or change the provisions of the Lease by 
agreement between Landlord and Tenant at any time, or by course of conduct, or by operation of 
law, or otherwise, without the consent or knowledge of, and without notice to, Guarantor; (b) 
permit or suffer an assignment of the Lease or any subletting under the Lease, whether or not 
consented to by Landlord; or (c) take and hold security for the performance and payment of the 
Obligations and apply, enforce, exchange, waive, and release any such security. 

Guarantor waives any defenses arising by reason of any disability of Tenant, or by reason of the 
cessation from any cause whatsoever of the liability of Tenant.  GUARANTOR WAIVES ALL 
SURETYSHIP DEFENSES.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing sentence, 
Guarantor shall be liable and remain liable for the payment of the Obligations to the extent 
provided herein notwithstanding: (a) any previous discharge (partial or total) of Tenant from any 
further liability; (b) any bar (temporary, partial or total) to the pursuit by Guarantor of any right or 
claim for indemnification from Tenant; (c)any right or claim by Guarantor to be subrogated to the 
rights or claims of Landlord against Tenant or in and to the Premises; (d) any action or inaction or 
delay in acting by Landlord; or (e) Landlord’s failure to enforce, or delay in enforcing, any of its 
rights under the Lease, or otherwise. 

In the event that (a) Landlord requires the services of an attorney in connection with enforcing this 
Guaranty (whether or not suit is brought), (b) suit is brought for the enforcement of this Guaranty 
or the exercise of rights and remedies afforded by this Guaranty, or (c) proceedings are held in 
bankruptcy, then the substantially prevailing party shall be entitled to a reasonable sum for 
attorney’s and paralegal’s fees, expenses and court costs, including those relating to any appeal. 
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GUARANTOR NO. 1: 
 , a 
  

By:   
Name:  
Its:   

GUARANTOR NO. 2: 
 , a 
  

By:   
Name:  
Its:   
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Rider 3 

Parking Provisions 

Tenant shall have the nonexclusive privilege during the Lease Term to use parking spaces on the 
Land in common with other tenants of Landlord, but only in areas reasonably designated by 
Landlord.  Tenant’s parking privileges shall be subject to the rules and regulations relating to 
parking adopted by Landlord from time to time.  Landlord shall have the right to grant designated, 
reserved parking stalls to other tenants in the Building.  In no event shall the number of parking 
stalls used by Tenant and Tenant’s agents exceed _____ spaces.  Landlord shall have no obligation 
whatsoever to monitor, secure or police the use of the parking or other common areas. 
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Rider 4 

Other Leasing Provisions (if applicable) 

R4. Base Rent shall increase on the expiration or termination of this Lease to an amount equal 
to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the Base Rent prevailing immediately prior to the expiration 
or termination (a) if and for so long as Landlord has authorized Tenant to holdover or (b) if Tenant, 
notwithstanding paragraph 2.9 (“Holdover”) wrongfully refuses to relinquish possession of the 
Premises upon such expiration or termination.  The increase in Base Rent under clause (b) of the 
preceding sentence is an agreed increase in Base Rent, is not liquidated damages and shall not limit 
the right of Landlord to recover direct and consequential damages for the Tenant’s violation of 
paragraph 2.9 or to exercise other rights and remedies provided under applicable law for Tenant’s 
wrongful refusal to surrender possession. 
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Rider 5 

Work Letter (if applicable) 
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FACILITIES 
Ednovate’s goal is for each of its high schools to be in a permanent facility by the time the school is at full 
capacity. Legacy College Prep will occupy a temporary facility at The Salvation Army at 1710 W. Edinger 
St., Santa Ana CA 92703.  This will be for two grade levels. 
 
Although this is a temporary facility, it does provide ample space for Legacy’s instructional program, 
including classrooms, spaces for meetings and gatherings, and large athletic field for physical education 
activities..   
 

Non-District-Owned Facilities 

Facility Status: The charter petitioner must demonstrate control of a facility such as a commitment from 
the landlord, to ensure that the property is actually available to the charter developer, and that the facility is 
usable with or without conditions (such as a conditional code permit.) The charter school facility shall comply 
with all applicable building codes, standards and regulations adopted by the city and/or county agencies 
responsible for building and safety standards for the city in which the charter school is to be located, and 
the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).  Applicable codes and ADA requirements shall also apply to the 
construction, reconstruction, alteration of or addition to the proposed charter school facility.  Charter School 
shall implement any corrective actions, orders to comply, or notices issued by the authorized building and 
safety agency. Charter School cannot exempt itself from applicable building and zoning codes, ordinances, 
and ADA requirements.  Charter schools are required to adhere to the program accessibility requirements 
of Federal law (Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 504). 
 
Occupancy of the Site:  The charter petitioner or developer shall provide the County with a final Certificate 
of Occupancy issued by the applicable permitting agency, allowing the petitioner to use and occupy the 
site.  Charter School may not open without providing a copy of the Certificate of Occupancy for the 
designated use of the facility. If Charter School moves or expands to another facility during the term of this 
charter, Charter School shall provide a Certificate of Occupancy to the County for each facility before the 
school is scheduled to open or operate in the facility or facilities. Notwithstanding any language to the 
contrary in this charter, the interpretation, application, and enforcement of this provision are not subject to 
the Dispute Resolution Process outlined in Element 14. 
 
Pest Management: Charter School shall comply with the Healthy Schools Act, California Education Code 
Section 17608, which details pest management requirements for schools.   Developers may find additional 
information at: www.laschools.org/employee/mo/ipm. 
  
Asbestos Management: Charter School shall comply with the asbestos requirement as cited in the 
Asbestos Hazard Emergency Response Act (AHERA), 40CFR part 763.  AHERA requires that any building 
leased or acquired that is to be used as a school or administrative building shall maintain an asbestos 
management plan.  
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THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED 
 

BYLAWS 

Of 
 

EDNOVATE, INC. 
 

a California nonprofit public benefit corporation 
 
 
1. NAME AND OFFICES OF THE CORPORATION 

1.1 Name.  The name of this corporation is EDNOVATE, INC. (“Corporation”). 

1.2 Location of Principal Office.  The principal office for the transaction of the 
activities and affairs of the Corporation is located at 350 S. Figueroa St. Suite 250, Los Angeles, 
CA 90071.  The Board of Directors (“Board”) may change the principal office from time to time, 
provided that it shall be located in Los Angeles, County.  Any such change shall be noted on these 
Bylaws opposite this Section, or this Section may be amended to state the new location. 

1.3 Location of Other Offices.  The Board may at any time establish branch or 
subordinate offices at any place or places where the Corporation is qualified to conduct its 
activities. 

2. PURPOSES, LIMITATIONS AND DEDICATION OF ASSETS 

2.1 Purposes.  This Corporation is a nonprofit public benefit corporation and is not 
organized for the private gain of any person.  It is organized under the California Nonprofit Public 
Benefit Corporation Law for public and charitable purposes. 

The public and charitable purposes for which this Corporation is organized are: 

 (a) The Corporation is organized exclusively for charitable and educational 
purposes within the meaning of §501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as now in effect 
or as may hereafter be amended (the “Code”)(or the corresponding provision of any future United 
States Internal Revenue Law). 

 (b) Without limiting the generality of the purposes set forth in subparagraph (a) 
above, the public and charitable purposes for which this Corporation is organized shall include: 

  (i) to oversee, administer, implement and/or operate one or more public 
schools, including without limitation charter schools; 

  (ii) to advise, manage, support and otherwise assist public schools, other 
nonprofit primary and secondary educational institutions and related community and governmental 
organizations; and 
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  (iii) to improve the overall effectiveness of public schools. 

2.2 Limitations.  Notwithstanding any other provisions of these Articles, the 
Corporation shall not carry on any activities not permitted to be carried on (a) by a corporation 
exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (or the corresponding provisions of any future United States Internal Revenue Law), or 
(b) by a corporation contributions to which are deductible under Section 170(c)(2) of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (or the corresponding provisions of any future United States 
Internal Revenue Law).  No substantial part of the activities of the Corporation shall be the carrying 
on of propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation (except as otherwise permitted 
by § 501(h) of the Code and in any corresponding laws of the State of California), and the 
Corporation shall not participate in or intervene in (including the publishing or distribution of 
statements concerning) any political campaign on behalf of (or in opposition to) any candidate for 
public office. No substantial part of the activities of the Corporation shall be the carrying on of 
propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation (except as otherwise permitted by § 
501(h) of the Code and in any corresponding laws of the State of California), and the Corporation 
shall not participate in or intervene in (including the publishing or distribution of statements 
concerning) any political campaign on behalf of (or in opposition to) any candidate for public 
office.  

 2.3 Dedication of Assets.  The property of the Corporation is irrevocably dedicated 
to charitable and educational purposes meeting the requirements for exemption under § 214 of 
the California Revenue and Taxation Code.  No part of the net earnings of the Corporation shall 
inure to the benefit of, or be distributable to any director or officer of the corporation, or any 
other private person, except that the Corporation shall be authorized and empowered to pay 
reasonable compensation to any person other than a director for services rendered to or for the 
Corporation and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set forth in 
Section 2.1 hereof.  In the event of dissolution or final liquidation of the Corporation, all of the 
remaining assets and property of the Corporation shall, after paying or making provision for the 
payment of all of the liabilities and obligations of the Corporation and for necessary expenses 
thereof, be distributed to such organization or organizations organized and operated exclusively 
for charitable or educational purposes meeting the requirements for exemption under § 214 of the 
California Revenue and Taxation Code and shall at the time qualify as an exempt organization or 
organizations under § 501(c)(3) of the Code and § 23701d of the California Revenue and 
Taxation Code as the Board of Directors shall determine.  In no event shall any of such assets or 
property be distributed to any director or officer, or any private individual.   
 
3. MEMBERSHIP  

3.1 Members.  The Corporation shall have no members.  Any action which would 
otherwise require approval by a majority of all members or approval by the members shall require 
only approval of the Board.  All rights which would otherwise vest in the members shall vest in 
the directors. 

3.2 Associates.  Nothing in this Section 3 shall be construed as limiting the right of the 
Corporation to refer to persons associated with it as “members” even though such persons are not 
members, and no such reference shall constitute anyone a member, within the meaning of Section 
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5056 of the California Nonprofit Corporation Law.   Subject to the requirements of any charter for 
any school operated by the Corporation (each a “Charter”) and the California Charter Schools Act 
of 1992, as amended, the Corporation may confer by amendment of its Articles or of these Bylaws 
some or all of the rights of a member, as set forth in the California Nonprofit Corporation law, 
upon any person or persons who do not have the right to vote for election of directors or on a 
disposition of substantially all of the assets of the Corporation or on a merger or on a dissolution 
or on changes to the Corporation’s Articles or Bylaws, but no such person shall be a member 
within the meaning of said Section 5056. 

4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

4.1 Powers of Directors. 

(a) General Corporate Powers.  Subject to the provisions and limitations of 
the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law and any other applicable laws, the 
activities, business, and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed, and all corporate powers shall 
be exercised, by or under the direction of the Board. 

(b) Specific Powers.  Without prejudice to the general powers set forth in 
Section 4.1(a) of these Bylaws, but subject to the same limitations, the Board shall have the 
following powers in addition to other powers enumerated in these Bylaws: 

(i) to select and remove at the pleasure of the Board, all officers, agents, 
and employees; to prescribe powers and duties for them as may be 
consistent with law, the Articles of Incorporation, and these Bylaws; 
to fix the compensation of officers, agents and employees; and to 
require from them security for faithful service. 

(ii) to conduct, manage, and control the affairs and activities of the 
Corporation and make such rules and regulations for this purpose, 
consistent with law, applicable Charters, the Articles of 
Incorporation, and these Bylaws, as they may deem best. 

(iii) to adopt and use a corporate seal, and alter the form of seal. 

(iv) to borrow money and incur indebtedness on behalf of the 
Corporation, and cause to be executed and delivered for the 
Corporation’s purposes, in the corporate name, promissory notes, 
bonds, debentures, deeds of trust, mortgages, pledges, 
hypothecations, and other evidences of debt and securities. 

(c) Delegation of Management.  The Board may delegate the management of 
the activities of the Corporation to any person or persons, a management company, or committees 
however composed, provided that the activities and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed 
and all corporate power shall be exercised under the ultimate direction of the Board. Any 
delegation must comply with the applicable Charter and the Charter Schools Act. 
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4.2 Number and Qualification of Directors. 

(a) Authorized Number.  The authorized number of directors shall be not less 
than three (3) nor more than fifteen (15), with the exact number of directors to be fixed, within the 
limits heretofore specified, by the Board from time to time.  The initial number of directors shall 
be five (5), all of whom shall be voting directors, until such time as the Board may change the 
number of directors pursuant to this Section 4.2(a). 

(b) Restriction on Interested Persons as Directors.  None of the persons 
serving on the Board may be interested persons.  An interested person is (i) any person 
compensated by the Corporation for services rendered to it within the previous 12 months, whether 
as a full-time or part-time employee, independent contractor, or otherwise, excluding any 
reasonable compensation paid to a director as director; and (ii) any brother, sister, ancestor, 
descendent, spouse, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, mother-in-law or 
father-in-law of such person.   
 

4.3 Initial Directors.  The Initial Directors shall be Karen Symms Gallagher, Thomas 
Sayles, Elliot Sainer, David Rattray and Gisselle Acevedo.  Karen Symms Gallagher and Thomas 
Sayles shall be designated as the initial “USC Directors.”  The initial terms of the Initial Directors 
shall be as follows: Karen Symms Gallagher and Elliot Sainer shall serve as directors until the 
annual meeting of the Board held in 2013; Thomas Sayles, David Rattray and Gisselle Acevedo 
shall serve as directors until the annual meeting of the Board held in 2012.   

4.4 Authorizer-Appointed Director.  Authorizer-Appointed Director.4.3
 Authorizer-Appointed Director.  In addition to the number of directors authorized 
pursuant to Section 4.2(a), at all times that the Corporation has a charter to operate a school granted 
by a board of education (the “Authorizer”) in accordance with the Charter Schools Act, the 
governing board of the Authorizerthe governing board of the charter authorizer shall have the right, 
at any time and from time to time, to appoint one director (the “Authorizer Director”) pursuant to 
California Education Code Section 47604(b). 

4.54 Election, Designation, and Term of Office.  The directors (other than the Initial 
Directors set forth in Section 4.3 and the Authorizer Director) shall be elected at each annual 
meeting of the Board, or, if such directors are not elected at the annual meeting, they may be 
elected at any special meeting of the Board.  Except for the Initial Directors, whose terms are set 
forth in Section 4.3, each director shall be elected for a term of two (2) years.  Each director shall 
hold office until expiration of the term and until a successor has been elected.  Each director may 
be reelected to serve one or more additional terms, subject to the terms of these Bylaws.  A director 
shall be elected at each annual meeting of the Board each time that the term of a director expires. 
   

    

    

Commented [KB1]: Eliminating “or similar governing 
body” is helpful, but under the Charter Schools Act, only a 
board of education can authorize a charter.  Maybe delete 
“school district,” and add after “board of education” “, in 
accordance with the Charter Schools Act”? 
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4.65 Vacancies on Board. 

(a) Events Causing Vacancy.  A vacancy or vacancies on the Board shall exist 
on the occurrence of the following:  (i) the death, resignation or removal of any director; (ii) the 
declaration by Board resolution of a vacancy of the office of a director who has been declared of 
unsound mind by an order of court or convicted of a felony or found by final order or judgement 
of any court to have breached a duty under Article 3 of Chapter 2 of the California Nonprofit 
Public Benefit Corporation Law; or (iii) the increase of the authorized number of directors. 

(b) Resignation and Removal of Directors.  Except as provided below, any 
director may resign by giving written notice to the chairman of the Board, if any, or to the president 
or the secretary.  The resignation shall be effective when the notice is given unless it specifies a 
later time for the resignation to become effective.  Except on notice to the California Attorney 
General, no director may resign if the Corporation would then be left without a duly elected 
director or directors. The Board may remove any director at any time, with or without cause.  The 
Authorizer may remove an Authorizer Director at any time, with or without cause. 

(c) Filling Vacancies.  Vacancies on the Board shall be filled as follows: If the 
director whose office is vacant was an Authorizer Director, then the Authorizer may appoint an 
Authorizer Director to fill the vacancy. All other vacancies shall be filled by a majority of the 
directors then in office, whether or not less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director. 

(d) No Vacancy on Reduction of Number of Directors.  No reduction of the 
authorized number of directors shall have the effect of removing any director before that director’s 
term of office expires. 

4.76 Directors’ Meetings.   

 (a) Place of Meetings.  Regular or special meetings of the Board may be held 
at any place within California that the Board may designate such that it is in compliance with the 
Ralph M. Brown Act (the “Brown Act”), California Government Code Sections 54950 through 
54963, or, if not so designated, meetings shall be held at the Corporation’s principal office, 
currently 350 S. Figueroa St., Suite 250, Los Angeles, CA 90071,..  A regular or special meeting 
of the Board may be held at any place within the boundaries of the authorizer’sAuthorizer’s 
jurisdiction consented to in writing by all Board members, either before or after the meeting.  If 
such consents are given, they shall be filed with the minutes of the meeting.  To ensure parent and 
community access and participation, videoconferencing shall be provided at the authorized charter 
school locations where the meeting is not held, whether the meeting is a regular or special meeting 
of the Board.  Such videoconferencing will enable participation in the Board meeting by attendees 
at the authorized charter school locations where the meeting is not held 

 (b) Brown Act.  Notwithstanding anything in these Bylaws to the contrary, all 
meetings of the Board shall be called, noticed and held in accordance with the Brown Act. 

(c) Annual Meeting.  The Board shall hold an annual meeting for the purpose 
of organization, selection of directors and officers, and the transaction of other business.  Except 
as otherwise set by the Board, annual meetings of the Board shall be held on the first Friday of 
June at 8:00 AM local time; provided, however, should said day fall on a holiday observed by the 
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Corporation at its principal office, then the meeting shall be held at the same time on the next day 
thereafter ensuing which is a full business day. 

(d) Other Regular Meetings.  Other regular meetings of the Board may be 
held at such time and place as the Board shall fix from time to time.  The Board shall hold regular 
meetings no less than four (4) times a year; notwithstanding the foregoing, during the 
Corporation’s first year of operation the Board may elect to meet more frequently. 

(e) Notice of Annual and Regular Meetings.  Notwithstanding anything 
herein to the contrary, all meetings of the Board and its standing committees shall be called, noticed 
and held in compliance with the Brown Act.  At least seventy-two (72) hours before an annual 
meeting or a regular meeting, the Board, or its designee, shall post an agenda containing a brief 
general description of each item of business to be transacted or discussed at the meeting, including 
items to be discussed in closed session.  A brief general description of an item generally need not 
exceed twenty (20) words.  The agenda shall specify the time and location of the meeting and shall 
be posted in a location that is freely accessible to members of the public.  The posting of the agenda 
and the contents of the agenda shall be in accordance with Section 54954.2 of the Brown Act.  In 
addition, the agenda shall be posted to either the Corporation’s website or the charter school’s 
website, if any.  No action or discussion shall be undertaken at any annual or regular meeting on 
any item not appearing on the posted agenda, except as set forth in Section 54954.2 of the Brown 
Act. 

(f) Special Meetings. 

(i)  Authority To Call.  Special meetings of the Board for any purpose may 
be called at any time by the chairman of the Board, if any, or a majority of the voting directors of 
the Board. 

(ii)  Notice. 

a. Manner of Giving Notice.  NoticeIn accordance 
with the Brown Act, notice of the time and place of a special meetingsmeeting shall be given to 
each directorthe public through the posting of an agenda.  Directors shall also receive notice of the 
special meeting  by one of the following methods:  (1) by personal delivery of written notice; 
(2) by first-class mail, postage prepaid; (3) by telephone, either directly to the director or to a 
person at the director’s office who would reasonably be expected to communicate that notice 
promptly to the director; or (4) by electronic transmission.  All such notices shall be given or sent 
to the director’s address, telephone number, facsimile number or e-mail address as shown on the 
records of the Corporation. special meetings of the Board of Directors may be held only after 
twenty-four (24) hours notice is given to the public through the posting of an agenda. 

b. Time Requirements.  Notices of specialSpecial 
meetings of the Board of Directors sent by first-class mail shallmay be deposited in the United 
States mail at least three (3) days before the time set for the meeting.  Notices given by personal 
delivery, telephone, or electronic transmission shall be delivered, telephoned, or transmitted at 
leastheld only after twenty -four (24) hours before the time set for the meeting. notice is given to 
the public through the posting of an agenda and to the directors as provided in paragraph a. In 
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addition to the foregoing, notice of the meeting shall comply with Section 54956 of the Brown 
Act, and the call of the meeting and notice shall also be posted at least twenty four (24) hours prior 
to the special meeting in a location that is freely accessible to members of the public. 

c. Notice Contents.  The call and notice of a special 
meeting of the Board shall state the time and place of the special meeting and the business to be 
transacted or discussed.  No other business shall be considered at the special meeting.  The notice 
of a special meeting shall comply with the requirements for special meetings set forth in the Brown 
Act. 

(g) Emergency Meetings.  If there is an “emergency situation,” as defined in 
Section 54956.5 of the Brown Act, involving matters upon which prompt action is necessary due 
to the disruption or threatened disruption of public facilities, the Board may hold an emergency 
meeting without complying with either the 24-hour posting requirement of Section 54956 of the 
Brown Act or both of the notice and posting requirements, provided that the emergency meeting 
is noticed and held in compliance with Section 54956.5 of the Brown Act. 

(h) Quorum.  A majority of the authorized number of voting directors than in 
office shall constitute a quorum, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, except 
to adjourn.  Every action taken or decision made by a majority of the voting directors present at a 
duly held meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board, subject to the more 
stringent provisions of the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law, including, 
without limitation, those provisions relating to (i) approval of contracts or transactions in which a 
director has a direct or indirect material financial interest; (ii) approval of certain transactions 
between Corporations having common directorships, (iii) creation of and appointments to 
committees of the Board, and (iv) indemnification of directors.  A meeting at which a quorum is 
initially present but due to the withdrawal of directors, a quorum is no longer present, may not 
transact business but those directors present may either (1) elect to continue as a committee or (2) 
adjourn to a future date. 

(g) Waiver of Notice.  Notice of a meeting need not be given to any director 
who, either before or after the meeting, signs a waiver of notice, a written consent to the holding 
of the meeting, or an approval of the minutes of the meeting.  All such waivers, consents, and 
approvals shall be filed with the corporate records or made a part of the minutes of the meetings.  
Notice of a meeting need not be given to any director who attends the meeting and does not protest, 
before or at the commencement of the meeting, the lack of notice to him or her. 

(h) Adjournment.  A majority of the voting directors present, whether or not a 
quorum is present, may adjourn any meeting to another time and place. 

(i) Notice of Adjourned Meeting.  Notice of the time and place of holding an 
adjourned meeting need not be given unless the original meeting is adjourned for more than 24 
hours, in which case notice of any adjournment to another time and place shall be given, before 
the time of the adjourned meeting, to the directors who were not present at the time of the 
adjournment.  Notice of any adjournment shall be given in accordance with Section 54955 of the 
Brown Act. 
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(j) Meetings by Teleconference.  A teleconference meeting is a meeting in 
which one or more directors attend the meeting from a remote location via telephone or other 
electronic means, transmitting audio or audio/video.  Any meeting may be held by teleconference 
as long as all directors participating in the meeting can hear one another.  All such directors shall 
be deemed to be present in person at such a meeting.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, members of 
the Board may participate in teleconference meetings so long as said meeting is noticed and 
conducted in compliance with Section 54953(b) of the Brown Act, including without limitation 
the following: 

  (i) At a minimum, a quorum of the Board shall participate in the 
teleconference meeting from locations within the boundaries of the school districtauthorizers in 
which the Corporation’s charter school operates. 

  (ii) All votes taken during a teleconference meeting shall be by roll call. 

  (iii) The Board shall post agendas at all teleconference locations with 
each such location being identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting. 

  (iv) All locations where a director participates in a teleconference 
meeting must be fully accessible to members of the public and shall be listed on the agenda. 

  (v) Members of the public must be able to hear what is said during the 
meeting and shall be provided with an opportunity to address the Board directly at each 
teleconference location. 

  (vi) The agenda shall indicate that membersMembers of the public 
attending a meeting conducted via teleconference need not give their name when entering the 
conference call. 

4.8 Compensation and Reimbursement.  Directors and members of committees shall 
receive no compensation for their services as directors, but may receive just and reasonable 
reimbursement for expenses in attending meetings. 

4.9 Committees. 

(a) Committees of the Board.  The Board, by resolution adopted by a majority 
of the voting directors then in office, provided a quorum is present, may create one or more 
committees, each consisting of two or more directors and no persons who are not directors, to 
serve at the pleasure of the Board.  Appointments to committees of the Board shall be by majority 
vote of the voting directors then in office.  The Board may appoint one or more directors as 
alternate members of any such committee, who may replace any absent member at any meeting.  
Any such committee, to the extent provided in the Board resolution, shall have all authority of the 
Board, except that no committee, regardless of Board resolution, may: 

(1) take any final action on matters that, under the California Nonprofit 
Public Benefit Corporation Law, requires the approval of the Board 
of Directors; 
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(2) fill vacancies on any committee that has the authority of the Board; 

 (3) amend or repeal Bylaws or adopt new Bylaws; 

(4) amend or repeal any Board resolution that by its express terms is not 
so amendable or repealable; 

(5) create any other committees of the Board or appoint members of 
committees of the Board; 

(6) expend corporate funds to support a nominee for director after more 
people have been nominated for director than can be elected; or 

(7) approve any contract or transaction to which the Corporation is a 
party and in which one or more of its directors has a material 
financial interest, except as special approval is provided for in 
Section 5233(d)(3) of the California Corporations Code. 

(b) Audit Committee.  Each year that the Board anticipates that the 
Corporation will have gross revenue of at least $2,000,000, theThe Corporation shall have an audit 
committee consisting of at least two (2) directors, and may include nonvoting advisors.  Directors 
who are or have been in the previous twelve months employees or officers of the Corporation or 
who receive, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fees from the 
Corporation may not serve on the audit committee.  The audit committee shall perform the duties 
and adhere to the guidelines set forth in the Corporation’s audit committee charter as amended 
from time to time by the Board.  Such duties include, but are not limited to: 

(1) assisting the Board in choosing an independent auditor and 
recommending termination of the auditor, if necessary; 

(2) negotiating the auditor’s compensation; 

(3) conferring with the auditor regarding the Corporation’s financial 
affairs; and 

(4) reviewing and accepting or rejecting the audit. 

Members of the audit committee shall not receive compensation for their service 
on the audit committee.  If the Corporation has a finance committee, a majority of the members of 
the audit committee may not concurrently serve as members of the finance committee, and the 
chair of the audit committee may not serve on the finance committee. 

(c) 4.9 Committees. 

(c) Compensation Committee.  The Corporation shall have a compensation 
committee of at least two directors and no one who is not a director.  Directors who are or have 
been in the previous twelve months employees or officers of the Corporation or who receive, 
directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fees from the Corporation 
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may not serve on the compensation committee.  Pursuant to Government Code section 12586(g) 
and the applicable provisions of federal law, the compensation committee shall review the 
compensation of the president, chief executive officer, treasurer, and such other officers of the 
Corporation the compensation committee determines appropriate annually and whenever a 
modification in compensation is proposed.  The review shall include an evaluation of the 
performance of the officers and an analysis of appropriate comparability data.  Based on its review, 
the compensation committee shall recommend just and reasonable compensation amounts for the 
officers to the Board.  At the request of the president or the Board, the compensation committee 
shall review any issue involving staff compensation and benefits, including but not limited to 
health and retirement plans. 

(d) Executive Committee.  Pursuant to Section 4.7(a) of these Bylaws, the 
Board may appoint two or more directors of the Corporation to serve as the executive committee 
of the Board, subject to the Political Reform Act and other applicable conflict of interest laws.  The 
executive committee, unless limited by resolution of the Board, shall have and may exercise all 
the authority of the Board in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation 
between meetings of the Board; provided, however, that the executive committee shall not have 
the authority of the Board in reference to those matters enumerated in Section 4.7(a).  All actions 
of the executive committee shall be reported to and ratified by the full Board at the next duly 
scheduled Board meeting. 

(e) Ad Hoc Committees.  In addition to the standing committees of the Board, 
the Board also may from time to time appoint one or more ad hoc committees, each consisting of 
two or more directors and may include nonvoting advisors, to serve at the pleasure of the Board, 
subject to the Political Reform Act and other applicable conflict of interest laws.  Unlike a standing 
committee, an ad hoc committee shall have a specific task to accomplish and shall be disbanded 
upon the accomplishment of such task.  .   

(f) Meetings and Action of Committees.  Meetings and actions of committees 
of the Board shall be governed by, held, and taken in accordance with the provisions of 
these Bylaws concerning meetings and other Board actions, except that the time for regular 
meetings of such committees and the calling of special meetings of such committees may 
be determined either by Board resolution or, if there is none, by resolution of the committee 
of the Board.  Provided that less than a quorum of the Board is in attendance at a meeting 
of an ad hoc committee, meetings of an ad hoc committee shall not be subject to the rules 
set forth in these Bylaws for notice and posting of the agenda in compliance with the Brown 
Act.  Minutes of each meeting of any committee of the Board shall be kept and shall be 
filed with the corporate records.  The Board may adopt rules for the governance of any 
committee that are consistent with these Bylaws or, in the absence of rules adopted by the 
Board, the committee may adopt such rules. 

(gd) Advisory Committees.  In addition to those committees appointed by the 
Board pursuant to Section 4.7(a) above, the Board may create, by resolution adopted by a majority 
of the voting directors then in office, provided that a quorum is present, one or more advisory 
committees to the Board to serve at the pleasure of the Board.  The members of an advisory 
committee shall consult with and make recommendations to the Board as requested from time to 
time.  Members of an advisory committee need not be directors of the Corporation.  No member 
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of an advisory committee shall have the right to vote as a director of the Corporation solely by 
virtue of his or her status as a member of an advisory committee.  Appointments to such 
committees shall be by a majority vote of the voting directors then in office, provided that a quorum 
is present.  The authority of any advisory committee shall be subject to the same limitations 
imposed on a committee of the Board set forth in Section 4.9(a) above. 

4.10 Roberts Rules of Order.  Meetings shall be governed by Robert’s Rules of Order, 
as such rules may be revised from time to time, insofar as such rules are not inconsistent with or 
in conflict with these Bylaws or with any applicable provision of law, including the Brown Act.  
The Board may choose to suspend Robert’s Rules of Order to allow a greater range of discussion 
among those present at a meeting; provided, however, that such suspension shall not apply to 
motions or other actions necessary to conduct the business of the Board. 

5. OFFICERS 

5.1 Officers Of the Corporation.  The officers of the Corporation shall be a president, 
a secretary, and a treasurer.  The Corporation may also have, at the Board’s discretion, a chair of 
the Board, a vice chair of the Board, one or more vice presidents, one or more assistant secretaries, 
one or more assistant treasurers, and such other officers as may be appointed in accordance with 
Section 5.3 of these Bylaws.  Any number of offices may be held by the same person, except that 
neither the secretary nor the treasurer may serve concurrently as either the president or the chair 
of the Board. 

5.2 Election of Officers.  The officers of the Corporation, except those appointed under 
Section 5.3 of these Bylaws shall be chosen annually by the Board and each shall serve at the 
pleasure of the Board, subject to the rights, if any, of any officer under any contract of employment. 

5.3 Other Officers.  The Board may appoint and may authorize the chairman of the 
Board, the president, or other officer to appoint any other officers that the business of the 
Corporation may require, each of whom shall have the title, hold office for the period, have the 
authority, and perform the duties determined by the Board. 

5.4 Removal of Officers.  Without prejudice to any rights of an officer under any 
contract of employment, any officer may be removed, with or without cause, by the Board or by 
an officer on whom the Board may confer that power of removal. 

5.5 Resignation of Officers.  Any officer may resign at any time by giving written 
notice to the Corporation.  The resignation shall take effect as of the date the notice is received or 
at any later time specified in the notice and, unless otherwise specified in the notice, the resignation 
need not be accepted to be effective.  Any resignation shall be without prejudice to the rights, if 
any, of the Corporation under any contract to which the officer is a party. 

5.6 Vacancies in Offices.   A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, 
removal, disqualification, or any other cause shall be filled in the manner prescribed in these 
Bylaws for regular appointments to that office, provided that such vacancies shall be filled as they 
occur and not on an annual basis. 

5.7 Responsibilities of Officers. 
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(a) Chair of the Board.  If a chair of the Board is elected, he or she shall 
preside at Board meetings and shall exercise and perform such other powers and duties as may be 
assigned by the Board or prescribed by the Bylaws.   

(b) Vice Chair of the Board.  The vice chair of the Board shall preside, in the 
absence of the chair of the Board, at Board meetings and shall exercise and perform such other 
powers and duties as may be assigned by the Board or prescribed in the Bylaws. 

(b) President and Chief Executive Officer.  Subject to such supervisory 
powers as the Board may give to the chair of the Board, if any, the president and chief executive 
officer shall, subject to the control of the Board, be the general manager of the Corporation and 
shall supervise, direct, and control the business, activities, affairs and the officers of the 
Corporation.  The president and chief executive officer shall have such other powers and duties as 
the Board or the Bylaws may prescribe. 

(c) Vice Presidents.  In the absence or disability of the president, the vice 
presidents, if any, in order of their rank as fixed by the Board or, if not ranked, a vice president 
designated by the Board, shall perform all duties of the president and chief executive officer.  When 
so acting, a vice president shall have all powers of and be subject to all restrictions on the president 
and chief executive officer.  The vice presidents shall have such other powers and perform such 
other duties as the Board or the Bylaws may prescribe. 

(d) Secretary. 

(i) Book of Minutes.  The secretary shall keep or cause to be kept, at 
the Corporation’s principal office or such other place as the Board may direct, a book of minutes 
of all meetings, proceedings, and actions of the Board, or committees of the Board.  The minutes 
of meetings shall include the time and place of holding, whether the meeting was general or special 
and, if special, how authorized, the notice given, the names of those present at Board and 
committee meetings.  The secretary shall keep or have kept at the principal office in California, a 
copy of the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, as amended to date. 

(ii) Notices, Seal, and Other Duties.  The secretary shall give, or cause 
to be given, notice of all meetings of  the Board, and of committees of the Board required by the 
Bylaws to be given.  The secretary shall keep the corporate seal in safe custody, and shall have 
such other powers and perform such other duties as the Board or the Bylaws may prescribe. 

(e) Treasurer. 

(i) Books of Account.  The treasurer shall keep and maintain, or cause 
to be kept and maintained, adequate and correct books and records of accounts of the Corporation’s 
properties and business transactions, including accounts of its assets, liabilities, receipts, 
disbursements, gains, losses, capital, retained earnings, and other matters customarily included in 
financial statements.  The books of account shall be open to inspection by any director at all 
reasonable times. 

(ii) Deposit and Disbursement of Money and Valuables.  The 
treasurer shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, all money and other valuables in the name and to 
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the credit of the Corporation with such depositories as the Board may designate, shall disburse the 
Corporation’s funds as the Board may order, shall render to the president and directors, when 
requested, an account of all transactions as treasurer and of the financial condition of the 
Corporation, and shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as the Board or the 
Bylaws may prescribe. 

(iii) Bond.  If required by the Board, the treasurer shall give the 
Corporation a bond in the amount and with the surety or sureties specified by the Board for faithful 
performance of the duties of his or her office and for restoration to the Corporation of all its books, 
papers, vouchers, money, and other property of every kind in his or her possession or under his or 
her control on his or her death, resignation, retirement, or removal from the office. 

6. INDEMNIFICATION 

6.1 Definitions.  For the purpose of this Section 6, “agent” means any person who is 
or was a director, officer, employee, or other agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the 
request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another foreign or domestic 
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, or was a director, officer, 
employee, or agent of a foreign or domestic corporation which was a predecessor corporation of 
the Corporation or of another enterprise at the request of such predecessor corporation; 
“proceeding” means any threatened, pending or completed action or proceeding, whether civil, 
criminal, administrative, or investigative; and “expense” includes, without limitation, attorneys’ 
fees and any expenses of establishing a right to indemnification under Sections 6.5 or 6.5(b) of 
these Bylaws. 

6.2 Indemnification in Actions by Third Parties.  The Corporation shall have power 
to indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any proceeding 
(other than an action by or in the right of the Corporation to procure a judgment in its favor, an 
action brought under Section 5233 of the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation law, or 
an action brought by the Attorney General or a person granted relator status by the Attorney 
General for any breach of duty relating to assets held in charitable trust), by reason of the fact that 
such person is or was an agent of the Corporation, against expenses, judgments, fines, settlements, 
and other amounts actually and reasonably incurred in connection with such proceeding if such 
person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in the best 
interests of the Corporation and, in the case of a criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to 
believe the conduct of such person was unlawful.  The termination of any proceeding by judgment, 
order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent shall not, of itself, 
create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which the person 
reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the Corporation or that the person had reasonable 
cause to believe that person’s conduct was unlawful. 

6.3 Indemnification in Actions by or in the Right of the Corporation.  The 
Corporation shall have the power to indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened 
to be made a party to any threatened, pending, or completed action by or in the right of the 
Corporation, or brought under Section 5233 of the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation 
Law, or brought by the Attorney General or a person granted relator status by the Attorney General 
for breach of duty relating to assets held in charitable trust, to procure a judgment in its favor by 
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reason of the fact that such person is or was an agent of the Corporation, against expenses actually 
and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action 
if such person acted in good faith, in a manner such person believed to be in the best interests of 
the Corporation, and with such care, including reasonably inquiry, as an ordinarily prudent person 
in a like position would use under similar circumstances.  No indemnification shall be made under 
this Section 6.3: 

(a) in respect of any claim, issue, or matter as to which such person shall have 
been adjudged to be liable to the Corporation in the performance of such person’s duty to the 
Corporation, unless and only to the extent that the court in which such proceeding is or was pending 
shall determine upon application that, in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is 
fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for the expenses which such court shall determine; 

(b) of amounts paid in settling or otherwise disposing of a threatened or pending 
action, with or without court approval; or 

(c) of expense incurred in defending a threatened or pending action which is 
settled or otherwise disposed of without court approval, unless it is settled with the approval of the 
Attorney General. 

6.4 Indemnification Against Expenses.  To the extent that an agent of the Corporation 
has been successful on the merits in defense of any proceeding referred to in Sections 6.2 or 6.3 
of these Bylaws or in defense of any claim, issue, or matter therein, the agent shall be indemnified 
against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by the agent in connection therewith. 

6.5 Required Determinations.  Except as provided in Section 6.4 of these Bylaws any 
indemnification under this Section 6 shall be made by the Corporation only if authorized in the 
specific case, upon a determination that indemnification of the agent is proper in the circumstances 
because the agent has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Sections 6.2 or 6.3 of 
these Bylaws, by: 

(a) a majority vote of a quorum consisting of voting directors who are not 
parties to such proceeding; 

(b) the court in which such proceeding is or was pending upon application made 
by the Corporation or the agent or the attorney or other person rendering services in connection 
with the defense, whether or not such application by the agent, attorney, or other person is opposed 
by the Corporation. 

6.6 Advance of Expenses. Expenses incurred in defending any proceeding may 
be advanced by the Corporation prior to the final disposition of such proceeding upon receipt of 
an undertaking by or on behalf of the agent to repay such amount unless it shall be determined 
ultimately that the agent is entitled to be indemnified as authorized in this Section 6. 

6.7 Other Indemnification.  No provision made by the Corporation to indemnify its 
directors or officers for the defense of any proceeding, whether contained in the Articles, Bylaws, 
a resolution of members or directors, an agreement, or otherwise, shall be valid unless consistent 
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with this Section 6.  Nothing contained in this Section 6 shall affect any right to indemnification 
to which persons other than such directors and officers may be entitled by contract or otherwise. 

6.8 Forms of Indemnification Not Permitted.  No indemnification or advance shall 
be made under this Section 6, except as provided in Sections 6.4 or 6.5(b), in any circumstances 
where it appears: 

(a) that it would be inconsistent with a provision of the Articles, these Bylaws, 
or an agreement in effect at the time of the accrual of the alleged cause of action asserted in the 
proceeding in which the expenses were incurred or other amounts were paid, which prohibits or 
otherwise limits indemnification; or 

(b) that it would be inconsistent with any condition expressly imposed by a 
court in approving a settlement. 

6.9 Insurance. The Corporation shall have power to purchase and maintain 
insurance on behalf of any agent of the Corporation against any liability asserted against or 
incurred by the agent in such capacity or arising out of the agent’s status as such whether or not 
the Corporation would have the power to indemnify the agent against such liability under the 
provisions of this Section 6, provided, however, that a Corporation shall have no power to purchase 
and maintain such insurance to indemnify any agent of the Corporation for a violation of Section 
5233 of the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law. 

6.10 Nonapplicability to Fiduciaries of Employee Benefit Plans.  This Section 6 does 
not apply to any proceeding against any trustee, investment manager, or other fiduciary of an 
employee benefit plan in such person’s capacity as such, even though such person may also be an 
agent of the Corporation as defined in Section 6.1 of these Bylaws.  The Corporation shall have 
power to indemnify such trustee, investment manager, or other fiduciary to the extent permitted 
by Section 2075140(f) of the California General Corporation Law. 

7. RECORDS AND REPORTS 

7.1 Maintenance of Corporate Records.  The Corporation shall keep: 

1. Adequate and correct books and records of account; and 

2. Written minutes of the proceedings of its Board, and committees of the 
Board; and 

7.2 Inspection by Directors.  Every director shall have the absolute right at any 
reasonable time to inspect and copy all books, records, and documents of every kind and to inspect 
the physical properties of the Corporation for a purpose reasonably related to the director’s 
interests as a director. 

7.5 Annual Report.  The Board shall cause an annual report to be sent to the directors 
within 120 days after the end of the Corporation’s fiscal year.  That report shall contain the 
following information, in appropriate detail, for the fiscal year: 
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1.  the assets and liabilities, including the trust funds, of the Corporation as of the 
end of the fiscal year; 

2.  the principal changes in assets and liabilities, including trust funds; 

3.  the revenue or receipts of the Corporation, both unrestricted and restricted to 
particular purposes; and 

4.  the expenses or disbursements of the Corporation for both general and restricted 
purposes. 

The annual report shall be accompanied by any report on it of independent accountants or, 
if there is no such report, by the certificate of an authorized officer of the Corporation that such 
statements were prepared without audit from the Corporation’s books and records. 

This requirement of an annual report shall not apply if the Corporation receives less than 
$25,000 in gross receipts during the fiscal year, provided, however, that the information specified 
above for inclusion in the annual report must be furnished annually to all directors. 

7.6 Annual Statements of Certain Transactions and Indemnifications.  As part of 
the annual report, or as a separate document if no annual report is issued, the Corporation shall 
annually prepare and furnish to each director a statement of any transaction or indemnification of 
the following kind within 120 days after the end of the Corporation’s fiscal year:The Corporation 
will comply with Corporations Code Section 6322 

(a) Any transaction (i) in which the Corporation, its parent, or its subsidiary 
was a party, (ii) in which an “interested person” had a direct or indirect material financial interest, 
and (iii) which involved more than $500, or was one of a number of transactions with the same 
interested person invoking, in the aggregate, more than $500.  For this purpose, an “interested 
person” is either of the following: 

1.  any director or officer of the Corporation, its parent, or subsidiary (but 
mere common directorship shall not be considered such an interest); 

2.  any holder of more than 10 percent of the voting power of the 
Corporation, its parent, or its subsidiary.   

The statement shall include a brief description of the transaction, the names of interested persons 
involved, their relationship to the Corporation, the nature of their interest in the transaction and, if 
practicable, the amount of that interest, provided that if the transaction was with a partnership in 
which the interested person is a partner, only the interest of the partnership need be stated. 

 (b) Any indemnifications or advances of expenses aggregating more than 
$10,000 paid during the fiscal year to any officer or director of the Corporation pursuant to Article 
6 of these Bylaws. 

98. ENDORSEMENT OF DOCUMENTS; CONTRACTS 
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Subject to the provisions of applicable law, any note, mortgage, evidence of indebtedness, 
contract, conveyance, or other instrument in writing and any assignment or endorsement thereof 
executed or entered into between the Corporation and any other person, when signed by the 
chairman of the Board, the president, or any vice president and the secretary, any assistant 
secretary, the treasurer, or any assistant treasurer of the Corporation shall be valid and binding on 
the Corporation in the absence of actual knowledge on the part of the other person that the signing 
officers had no authority to execute the same.  Any such instruments may be signed by any other 
person or persons and in such manner as from time to time shall be determined by the Board, and, 
unless so authorized by the Board, no officer, agent, or employee shall have any power or authority 
to bind the Corporation by any contract or engagement or to pledge its credit or to render it liable 
for any purpose. 

9. CONSTRUCTION AND DEFINITIONS 

Unless the context requires otherwise, the general provisions, rules of construction, and 
definitions in the California Nonprofit Corporation Law and in the California Nonprofit Public 
Benefit Law shall govern the construction of these Bylaws.  Without limiting the generality of the 
preceding sentence, the masculine gender includes the feminine and neuter, the singular number 
includes the plural, the plural number includes the singular and the term “person” includes both a 
legal entity and a natural person. 

10. CALIFORNIA “OPEN MEETING” LAWS 

 At any time or times that the Corporation is required to comply with California’s “open 
meeting” laws including, without limitation, the Brown Act, the provisions of these Bylaws shall 
be deemed amended to the extent necessary to comply with such laws.  

11. AMENDMENTS 

New Bylaws may be adopted, or these Bylaws may be amended or repealed, by approval 
of a majority of the voting directors of the Board. 
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The Board of Directors may adopt, amend or repeal any of these bylaws by a majority vote 
of the directors present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum is present, except that no 
amendment shall change any provisions of any charter governing any charter school operated as 
or by the Corporation or make any provisions of these bylaws inconsistent with such charter, the 
Corporation’s articles of incorporation, or any laws.  
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CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 
 
 I certify that I am the duly elected and acting Secretary of Ednovate, Inc., a California 
nonprofit public benefit corporation; that these bylaws, consisting of 17 pages, are the bylaws of 
the Corporation as adopted by the Board of Directors on _______________; and that these bylaws 
have not been amended or modified since that date. 
 
 Executed on __________________ at ________________, California. 
 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 
              
              
        Elliot Sainer,   Secretary 
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Legacy College Prep: Material Revision 
 
Data to support why this material revision is necessary 
 
There are a number of compelling factors for this material revision: 

● Strategy:  Part of our strategic growth plan is to ensure that our schools are operating in 
permanent facilities.  We feel strongly that our instructional model can be fully realized 
when in a permanent facility wherein the design fulfills our instructional vision.  
Therefore, it has always been a goal for Legacy to move to its own permanent facility, 
which is the reason for the this material revision.   

● Enrollment:  As a network, we have a proven track record of increasing enrollment once 
schools are in permanent facilities.  Our other two schools that moved to permanent 
facilities, USC Hybrid High and East College Prep, saw an increase in enrollment.   

○ Currently, Legacy College Prep has 100 completed applications for the upcoming 
school year, with only 20 spots left. This represents an uptick in enrollment from 
previous years.   

 
 

117



UP

UP

UP

570 SF

Classroom 12th

104

510 SF

Classroom 12th

108

510 SF

Classroom 12th

106

600 SF

Admin

101

628 SF

Classroom 9th

103A

632 SF

Classroom 9th

103B

637 SF

Classroom 9th

103C

645 SF

Classroom 9th

103D

1029 SF

Study Hall 9th

103

(E) Elevator

115A

(E) Stair/Vestibule

115

Study Hall 12th

100

152 SF

Rec Rm

Storage(Exterior)

Ex-02

239 SF

Servery

118

Toilet - F

116

Toilet - M

112

558 SF

Classroom 12th

102

61 SF

Unisex WC

100D

1504 SF

Breezeway

Ex-01

Storage

100A

Exit Stair

120

144 SF

Trash

Enclosure(Exterior)

Ex-03

Janitor

114

475 SF

College Center

110

122 SF

Huddle Rm/Office

101A

107 SF

Telephone Rm

107

106 SF

Elec. Rm

109

85 SF

Huddle

100B

102 SF

Storage

100C

455 SF

Rec Rm

Storage(Exterior)

Ex-04

22 SF

Storage

100F

EDNOVATE

LEGACY COLLEGE PREP 1ST FLOOR PLAN

SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"

PLOT DATE: 3/10/2019 5:18:16 PM

118



DN

DN

DN

623 SF

Classroom 11th

210D

81 SF

Huddle

212

622 SF

Co-Curricular 1

214

449 SF

Teacher Lounge

202

581 SF

Co-Curricular 2

203

190 SF

Toilet - F

204

190 SF

Toilet - M

206

57 SF

(E) Elevator

115A

282 SF

(E) Stair

115

61 SF

Unisex WC

200A

194 SF

Sped

201

1198 SF

Study Hall 10th

205

581 SF

Classroom 10th

205A

632 SF

Classroom 10th

205B

635 SF

Classroom 10th

205C

635 SF

Classroom 10th

205D

628 SF

Classroom 11th

210B

1289 SF

Study Hall 11th

210

636 SF

Classroom 11th

210A

623 SF

Classroom 11th

210C

155 SF

Exit Stair

120

6
0
"
x
5
9
"
 
C

L
R

.

S
P

A
C

E

30"x48"

CLR.

SPACE

30"x48"

CLR.

SPACE

60"x59" CLR.

SPACE

60"x59" CLR.

SPACE

30"x48"

CLR.

SPACE

(E) Elevator

Mech.Rm

115B

3
0
"
x
4
8
"

C
L
R

.

S
P

A
C

E

EDNOVATE

LEGACY COLLEGE PREP 2ND FLOOR PLAN

SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"

PLOT DATE: 3/10/2019 5:23:09 PM

119



 
 

209670724 V3 

 
 
 
 
 

EDNOVATE – LEGACY COLLEGE PREP 

 
LEASE AGREEMENT 

by and between 

PMC 17TH STREET LLC, 
a California limited liability company, 

as Lessor 
 
 
 

and 

EDNOVATE, INC., 
a California nonprofit public benefit corporation  

(in its capacity as operator of and holder of the charter for  
Ednovate – Legacy College Prep), 

as Lessee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Dated as of July 1, 2018 

120



 

i 
209670724 V3 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

ARTICLE I 
 

BASIC PROVISIONS 

Section 1.01  Capitalized Terms ............................................................................................ 1 
Section 1.02  Premises ........................................................................................................... 1 
Section 1.03  Term ................................................................................................................. 1 
Section 1.04  Extension Option ............................................................................................. 1 
Section 1.05  Base Rent ......................................................................................................... 1 
Section 1.06  Option to Terminate ......................................................................................... 1 
Section 1.07  The Bonds ........................................................................................................ 2 

ARTICLE II 
 

PREMISES 

Section 2.01  Letting .............................................................................................................. 2 
Section 2.02  Compliance ...................................................................................................... 2 
Section 2.03  Acknowledgements .......................................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE III 
 

RENT AND EXPENSES 

Section 3.01  Rent Defined .................................................................................................... 3 
Section 3.02  Expenses .......................................................................................................... 3 
Section 3.03  Additional Rent ................................................................................................ 4 
Section 3.04  Extraordinary Monthly Rent ............................................................................ 5 
Section 3.05  Payment............................................................................................................ 5 
Section 3.06  Budgeting Rent ................................................................................................ 5 
Section 3.07  Accounting ....................................................................................................... 5 
Section 3.08  Source of Rent Payments ................................................................................. 5 

ARTICLE IV 
 

USE 

Section 4.01  Use ................................................................................................................... 6 
Section 4.02  Hazardous Substances ...................................................................................... 6 
Section 4.03  Lessee’s Compliance With Applicable Requirements ..................................... 8 

ARTICLE V 
 

MAINTENANCE; REPAIRS 

121



 

ii 
209670724 V3 

Section 5.01  Lessee’s Obligations ........................................................................................ 9 
Section 5.02  Utility Installations; Trade Fixtures; Alterations ............................................. 9 
Section 5.03  Ownership; Surrender; and Restoration ......................................................... 10 

ARTICLE VI 
 

INSURANCE; INDEMNITY 

Section 6.01  Liability .......................................................................................................... 10 
Section 6.02  Property .......................................................................................................... 11 
Section 6.03  Business Interruption ..................................................................................... 11 
Section 6.04  Waiver of Subrogation ................................................................................... 11 
Section 6.05  Indemnity ....................................................................................................... 11 
Section 6.06  Exemption of Lessor from Liability .............................................................. 11 
Section 6.07  Loan Agreement ............................................................................................. 11 

ARTICLE VII 
 

DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION 

Section 7.01  Definitions...................................................................................................... 12 
Section 7.02  Damage—Insured Loss .................................................................................. 12 
Section 7.03  Damage—Uninsured Loss ............................................................................. 12 
Section 7.04  Waiver of Statutes .......................................................................................... 12 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

REAL PROPERTY TAXES 

Section 8.01  Definition ....................................................................................................... 12 
Section 8.02  Payment of Taxes ........................................................................................... 13 
Section 8.03  Personal Property Taxes ................................................................................ 13 

ARTICLE IX 
 

ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING 

Section 9.01  By Lessee ....................................................................................................... 13 
Section 9.02  By Lessor ....................................................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE X 
 

DEFAULT; BREACH; REMEDIES 

Section 10.01  Default; Breach .............................................................................................. 14 
Section 10.02  Remedies ........................................................................................................ 15 
Section 10.03  Interest............................................................................................................ 16 

122



 

iii 
209670724 V3 

ARTICLE XI 
 

SUBORDINATION; ATTORNMENT; NON-DISTURBANCE 

Section 11.01  Subordination ................................................................................................. 16 
Section 11.02  Attornment ..................................................................................................... 16 
Section 11.03  Non-Disturbance ............................................................................................ 17 
Section 11.04  Self-Executing................................................................................................ 17 

ARTICLE XII 
 

COVENANTS AND REPRESENTATIONS 

Section 12.01  Mandatory Covenants .................................................................................... 17 
Section 12.02  Lessee Representations and Warranties ......................................................... 17 
Section 12.03  Intercept Notice .............................................................................................. 18 
Section 12.04  Lessor’s Access; Showing Premises; Repairs. ............................................... 19 
Section 12.05  Waiver of Sections 1932(2) and 1933(4) of the California Civil Code ......... 19 
Section 12.06  Rating Maintenance ....................................................................................... 19 
Section 12.07  Transfers to Excluded Schools ....................................................................... 19 
Section 12.08  Use of the Project ........................................................................................... 19 
Section 12.09  Annual Investor Calls .................................................................................... 20 

ARTICLE XIII MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 13.01  Indemnification Covenants ............................................................................ 20 
Section 13.02  Condemnation ................................................................................................ 21 
Section 13.03  Estoppel Certificates ...................................................................................... 21 
Section 13.04  Severability .................................................................................................... 21 
Section 13.05  Days ............................................................................................................... 21 
Section 13.06  Limitation on Liability ................................................................................... 21 
Section 13.07  Time of Essence ............................................................................................. 22 
Section 13.08  No Prior or Other Agreements ....................................................................... 22 
Section 13.09  Notices Requirements .................................................................................... 22 
Section 13.10  Addresses ....................................................................................................... 22 
Section 13.11  Date of Notice ................................................................................................ 23 
Section 13.12  Waivers .......................................................................................................... 23 
Section 13.13  No Right to Holdover ..................................................................................... 23 
Section 13.14  Cumulative Remedies .................................................................................... 24 
Section 13.15  Covenants and Conditions; Construction of Agreement ............................... 24 
Section 13.16  Binding Effect; Choice of Law ...................................................................... 24 
Section 13.17  Quiet Possession ............................................................................................ 24 
Section 13.18  Counterparts ................................................................................................... 24 
Section 13.19  Amendments .................................................................................................. 24 
Section 13.20  CASp Disclosure ............................................................................................ 24 
 
 

123



 

iv 
209670724 V3 

EXHIBIT A CAPITALIZED TERMS 
EXHIBIT B DESCRIPTION OF PREMISES 
EXHIBIT C LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
EXHIBIT D SCHEDULE OF BASE RENT PAYMENTS 
EXHIBIT E FORM OF INTERCEPT NOTICE 
EXHIBIT F MANDATORY COVENANTS 
 

124



 

209670724 V3 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

This LEASE AGREEMENT (“Lease”), dated as of July 1, 2018, is made by and 
between PMC 17TH STREET LLC, a California limited liability company (the “Owner”), 
whose sole member is PMC SUPPORT CORPORATION, a California nonprofit public 
benefit corporation (“PMC” and collectively with the Owner, the “Lessor”), and EDNOVATE, 
INC., a California nonprofit public benefit corporation (in its capacity as operator of and holder 
of the charter for the charter school known as “Ednovate – Legacy College Prep”) (the “Lessee,” 
and together with Lessor, collectively the “Parties,” or individually a “Party”). 

ARTICLE I 
 

Basic Provisions 

Section 1.01 Capitalized Terms.  Unless otherwise set forth in Exhibit A or otherwise 
defined herein, all terms used herein shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in Section 
1.01 of the Master Indenture of Trust, dated as of July 1, 2018 (the “Master Indenture of Trust”), 
among, PMC, in its capacity as Obligated Group Representative, initial members listed therein, 
including Lessor, and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee (in such capacity, the 
“Master Trustee”), as originally executed and as amended or supplemented from time to time. 

Section 1.02 Premises.  The premises are real property described in Exhibit B attached 
hereto (the “Premises”) located at 1440 and 1450 East 17th Street, Santa Ana, California 92705, 
and all of the current and future buildings and improvements (collectively, the “Improvements”), 
which is in the County of Orange in the State of California, as more particularly described in 
Exhibit C attached hereto (the “Property”). 

Section 1.03 Term.  The term of this Lease shall commence upon the Closing Date (the 
“Commencement Date”) and end on June 30, 2048 (the “Initial Term”) (or such other later date 
if Lessee exercises its extension option) (such date, as it may be extended, “Expiration Date”).   

Section 1.04 Extension Option.  Lessor grants to Lessee three (3) options (each, an 
“Extension Option”) to extend the term of this Lease for a period of six (6) years per option.  An 
Extension Option must be exercised if at all by written notice (the “Option Notice”) delivered by 
Lessee to Lessor not less than four (4) months prior to the then-scheduled Expiration Date, 
provided however, that Lessee shall not be permitted to exercise any Extension Option while 
Lessee is in Breach under the Lease.  In the event the Term of this Lease shall be extended under 
this Section, then all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease shall remain unmodified 
and in full force and effect. 

Section 1.05 Base Rent.  Lessee shall pay when due the base rent in accordance with 
the schedule set forth in Exhibit D (the “Base Rent”).   

Section 1.06 Option to Terminate  Lessee shall have the right to terminate this Lease 
in whole or in part without penalty in the event Lessee’s application for renewal of any of the 
Schools occupying the Premises respective charter is denied by the Chartering Authority or if the 
any of such charters otherwise terminates (the “Termination Option”). Lessee may exercise the 
Termination Option by providing Lessor and Bond Trustee with written notice of Lessee’s intent 
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to exercise the Termination Option no later than 90 days prior to the expiration or termination of 
Lessee’s current charter for any of the Schools occupying the Premises, or within 10 days 
following actual notification of the denial or other termination, whichever is later.  Such written 
notice shall also include sufficient evidence of Lessee’s denial of charter status by the Chartering 
Authority.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event Lessee exercises its Termination Option 
in accordance with this Section 1.06, Lessee shall continue to pay Base Rent and all other 
amounts due hereunder to Lessor as provided in this Lease until such time that Lessor or Lessee 
secures a tenant reasonably acceptable to the Lessor (not to be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed), to lease the Premises, and such tenant enters into a lease with Lessor and commences 
the payment of Base Rent, Additional Rent (as defined below), Extraordinary Monthly Rent (as 
defined below) and Expenses (as defined below) and all other amounts due hereunder. 

Section 1.07 The Bonds.  The Authority is concurrently herewith making the Loan to 
Borrower, as evidenced by the Loan Agreement.  The Loan will be funded by the proceeds of the 
Authority’s California School Finance Authority Charter School Revenue Bonds (Ednovate – 
Obligated Group), Series 2018 (the “Bonds”) pursuant to (i) the Master Indenture of Trust, (ii) 
the Indenture and (iii) the Supplemental Master Indenture.  The Loan Agreement, the Master 
Indenture of Trust, the Indenture, the Supplemental Master Indenture, Obligation No. 1 and any 
related documents and instruments are collectively referred to herein as the “Bond Documents.”  
The Bond Trustee will make a portion of the proceeds of the Loan available to Lessor for the 
purposes of, among other things, the construction described in Section 2.02 below. 

ARTICLE II 
 

Premises 

Section 2.01 Letting.  Lessor hereby leases to Lessee, and Lessee hereby leases from 
Lessor, the Premises, for the Term, at the Rent (as defined below) and upon and subject to all of 
the terms, covenants and conditions set forth in this Lease. 

Section 2.02 Compliance.  If the applicable building codes, applicable laws, covenants 
or restrictions of record, regulations, and ordinances (“Applicable Requirements”) require, 
during the Term, the construction of an addition to or an alteration of the Premises or any portion 
of the Improvements, the remediation of any Hazardous Substance, or the reinforcement or other 
physical modification of the Premises and/or the Improvements, the Lessee hereby agrees to 
undertake and complete such construction, alteration, remediation, reinforcement or other 
modification (each, a “Capital Expenditure”), and the costs therefor shall be incurred solely by 
Lessee. 

Section 2.03 Acknowledgements.  Lessee acknowledges that its acceptance of the 
Premises on the Commencement Date shall be conclusive evidence that it has made all 
investigations and inspections as it deems necessary with respect to the suitability of the 
Premises as it relates to Lessee’s occupancy thereof and the Premises’ compliance with 
Applicable Requirements, and Lessee has satisfied itself as to such matters on the 
Commencement Date. 
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ARTICLE III 
 

Rent and Expenses 

Section 3.01 Rent Defined.  Subject to the terms of Section 3.08 hereof, “Rent” is 
defined as and shall consist of the sum of (i) Base Rent, (ii) Additional Rent, (iii) Extraordinary 
Monthly Rent, and (iv) Expenses, together with all other monetary obligations of Lessee to 
Lessor or to third parties arising under the terms of this Lease. 

Section 3.02 Expenses.  Lessee shall be responsible for all Expenses, which Lessee 
shall pay directly, but if Lessee fails to pay such Expenses, Lessor may, but shall not be 
obligated to, pay such Expenses and Lessee shall, within 30 days after receiving a statement 
from Lessor itemizing (with reasonable description) all charges included thereon, reimburse 
Lessor therefor. 

“Expenses” shall mean all costs and expenses of the ownership, operation, maintenance, 
repair or replacement, and insurance of the Facility, as determined by standard accounting 
practices, including, by way of illustration only, and not by way of limitation, to the extent they 
apply to the Facility, the aggregate of the “Maintenance Expenses” and the “General Expenses” 
set forth below:  

(a) “Maintenance Expenses” means all costs of maintaining and repairing the 
Facility, the parking area, athletic fields and other portions of the Facility, deferred 
maintenance, installing or extending service systems and other built-in equipment, and 
improving the Facility, including without limitation all of the following: 

(i) All maintenance, replacement and repair costs of air conditioning, 
heating and ventilation equipment and systems, elevators (if any), landscaping, 
service areas, parking lots, athletic fields, building exteriors (including painting), 
signs and directories, repairing and replacing roofs, walls, structural compliments 
of the Facility, and cost of compliance with applicable laws(including any 
required upgrades or retrofitting). 

(ii) Supplies, materials, labor, equipment, and utilities used in or 
related to the repair and maintenance of the Facility and such common areas. 

(iii) Capital improvements made to the Facility (whether funded in full 
or amortized with reasonable financing charges) which may be required by any 
government authority or which will improve the operating efficiency of the 
Facility. 

(iv) If applicable, amounts payable under a Ground Lease that are 
similar in nature to the foregoing. 

(b) “General Expenses” means all of the following, to the extent not included 
in Maintenance Expenses: 
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(i) Gross receipts taxes, whether assessed against Lessor or assessed 
against Lessee and collected by Lessor. 

(ii) Water, sewage, and waste or refuse removal charges. 

(iii) Gas, electricity, telephone and other utilities. 

(iv) The cost of monthly or annual contracts for systems or services 
such as alarm systems, security systems, internet services, janitorial services or 
landscaping services. 

(v) All janitorial, cleaning, landscaping, sweeping and repair services 
relating to the Facility. 

(vi) The costs of signs and directories. 

(vii) The cost of compliance with applicable laws. 

(viii) Reasonable costs incurred by Lessor for operating expenses, 
including the day-to-day management (if any), the cost of management personnel 
(if any), together with any of Lessor’s administrative expenses such as state 
filings, preparation of tax returns or notices, and all taxes, charges, or fees in 
connection therewith to the extent related to the Facility. 

(ix) Real Property Taxes (as defined in Section 8.01 hereof) and 
personal property taxes (as described in Section 8.03 hereof), if any. 

(x) Amounts required to be paid as deductibles in connection with any 
insurance required under the Bond Documents. 

(xi) Any other costs or expenses incurred by Lessor under this Lease. 

(xii) If applicable, amounts payable under a Ground Lease that are the 
responsibility of the Lessor and not otherwise paid pursuant to any other 
provisions of this subsection. 

Section 3.03 Additional Rent.  In addition to Base Rent and Expenses, Lessee shall be 
responsible for the payment of Additional Rent.  Additional Rent shall be paid to Lessor on 
demand or, if such Additional Rent is ongoing and can be calculated on a periodic basis, on a 
monthly basis pursuant to a written schedule from time to time delivered by Lessor. 

“Additional Rent” shall consist of the following: 

(a) All amounts required to reimburse Lessor, or satisfy Lessor’s obligations, 
for any fees, expenses, taxes, indemnities, assessments or other payments that the 
Borrower is obligated to pay under the terms of the Loan Agreement, including, but not 
limited to, such amounts as described in the Loan Agreement; and 
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(b) Any other amounts required to be paid by the Lessor in order for the 
Lessor to meet its obligations under the Bond Documents on a full and timely basis. 

Section 3.04 Extraordinary Monthly Rent.  In the event that the Lessee receives a 
notice (an “Extraordinary Monthly Rent Notice”) from either the Lessor or the Bond Trustee 
stating the Bond Trustee has not received the payment of Rent with respect to a Related Project 
on or before that date that such required payment is due, then Lessee shall pay the Extraordinary 
Monthly Rent to the Bond Trustee within three (3) business days after Lessee’s receipt of the 
Extraordinary Monthly Rent Notice.  The Lessor hereby covenants to immediately provide the 
Lessee with a copy of any Extraordinary Monthly Rent Notice received by Lessor pursuant to the 
terms of the Master Indenture of Trust.  The “Extraordinary Monthly Rent” shall mean the 
amount set forth in such Extraordinary Monthly Rent Notice, which shall be the Lessee’s 
Proportionate Share of the Extraordinary Monthly Rent.  “Proportionate Share” shall mean the 
amount required to be paid by Lessee to ensure that all of the required Rent and School Loan 
Repayments with respect to all of the Related Projects have been timely made.   

Section 3.05 Payment.  Lessee shall cause all Rent payable to Lessor under this Lease 
to be paid in lawful money of the United States on or before the day on which it is due, without 
offset or deduction.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Lessee shall receive a credit for Rent 
owed to Lessor to the extent the Bond Trustee receives monies on behalf of the Lessee under the 
Intercept.  Rent for any period during the Term hereof which is for less than one full calendar 
month shall be prorated based upon the actual number of days of said month.  Payment of Rent 
due to Lessor shall be made to Lessor at its address stated herein or to such other persons or 
place as Lessor may from time to time designate in writing.  

Section 3.06 Budgeting Rent.  The Lessee covenants to take such action as may be 
necessary to include all such payments of Rent due hereunder in its annual budgets, to make, as 
necessary, annual appropriations for all such payments and to take such action annually as shall 
be required to provide funds in such year for such payments of Rent. 

Section 3.07 Accounting.  If the Lessor so requests in writing, Lessee agrees to provide 
Lessor with an annual, or more frequent, accounting of the Expenses paid for the current 
calendar year. 

Section 3.08 Source of Rent Payments; Non-Recourse Obligations.   

(a) Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, Lessee’s 
obligation to pay the Rent and the other monetary payments provided for in this Lease to 
any person or entity, including the Lessor, the Lender or the Bond Trustee, and their 
respective successors and assigns, is limited to, and shall not exceed, Gross School 
Revenues (as defined in Exhibit F), and under no circumstances shall Lessee be required 
to advance any moneys derived from any source of income other than, or pay Rent or any 
other monetary obligation under the Lease which is in excess of, the Gross School 
Revenues, nor shall any other funds or property of Lessee be liable for the payment of 
Rent or any other monetary obligation under the Lease, and such persons and entities 
shall look exclusively thereto. 
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(b) The Lessor covenants that it shall not take recourse against the Lessee or 
any of the other lessees under the Leases with respect to the failure by Lessee or any of 
such persons to make any payment under this Lease except recourse to the Gross School 
Revenues.       

(c) Nothing contained in this Section 3.08 shall be construed to release Lessor 
from the performance of any of the agreements on its part herein contained, and in the 
event Lessor shall fail to perform any such agreements on its part, Lessee may institute 
such action against Lessor as Lessee may deem necessary to compel performance so long 
as such action does not abrogate the obligations of Lessee contained in the first sentence 
of this Section.  The Lessee may, however, at Lessee’s own cost and expense and in 
Lessee’s own name or in the name of Lessor prosecute or defend any action or 
proceeding or take any other action involving third persons which Lessee deems 
reasonably necessary in order to secure or protect Lessee’s right of possession, 
occupancy and use hereunder, and in such event Lessor hereby agrees to cooperate fully 
with Lessee and to take such action necessary to effect the substitution of Lessee for 
Lessor in such action or proceeding if Lessee shall so request.   

ARTICLE IV 
 

Use 

Section 4.01 Use.  Lessee shall use and occupy the Premises only for office and 
classroom space and for other uses necessary to operate California public charter schools by a 
corporation that is a 501(c)(3) Organization and that qualifies as an “educational organization” as 
described under Code Section 170(b)(1)(A)(ii) (the “Agreed Use”), and for no other purpose. 
Lessee shall not permit the Premises to be used (a) primarily for sectarian instruction or study or 
as a place for devotional activities or religious worship; or (b) by a Person that is not a 501(c)(3) 
Organization or a Governmental Unit or by a 501(c)(3) Organization (including the Lessor) in an 
Unrelated Trade or Business, in such manner or to such extent as would result in any of the 
Bonds being treated as an obligation not described in Section 103(a) of the Code.  Lessee shall 
not use or permit the use of the Premises in a manner that is unlawful, creates damage, waste or a 
nuisance, or that disturbs other tenants on the property of or causes damage to neighboring 
premises or properties.  Without limiting the foregoing, the Lessee shall use and operate the 
Premises only as “educational facilities” (as defined in the Act) and only in conjunction with the 
Schools and other schools operated by Lessee.  

Section 4.02 Hazardous Substances. 

(a) Reportable Uses Require Consent.  Lessee shall not engage in any 
activity in or on the Property that constitutes a Reportable Use of Hazardous Substances 
without the express prior written consent of Lessor and timely compliance (at Lessee’s 
expense) with all Applicable Requirements (as defined in Section 2.03 herein).  
“Reportable Use” shall mean (A) the installation or use of any above or below ground 
storage tank; (B) the generation, possession, storage, use, transportation, or disposal of a 
Hazardous Substance that requires a permit from, or with respect to which a report, 
notice, registration or business plan is required to be filed with, any governmental 
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authority; and/or (C) the presence at the Property of a Hazardous Substance with respect 
to which any Applicable Requirements requires that a notice be given to persons entering 
or occupying the Property or neighboring properties.  Notwithstanding the foregoing or 
anything herein to the contrary, Lessee may use any ordinary and customary materials 
reasonably required to be used in the normal course of the Agreed Use, ordinary office 
supplies (copier toner, liquid paper, glue, etc.) and common household cleaning materials 
and materials necessary for educational use in in science classes offered by the Schools, 
so long as such use is in compliance with all Applicable Requirements, is not a 
Reportable Use, and does not expose the Property or neighboring property to any 
meaningful risk of contamination or damage or expose Lessor, Lender or Lessee to any 
liability therefor.  In addition, Lessor may condition its consent to any Reportable Use 
upon receiving such additional assurances as Lessor reasonably deems necessary to 
protect itself, the public, the Property and/or the environment against damage, 
contamination, injury and/or liability, including, but not limited to, the installation (and 
removal on or before Lease expiration or termination) of protective modifications (such 
as concrete encasements). 

(b) Duty to Inform Lessor.  If Lessee knows, or has reasonable cause to 
believe, that a Hazardous Substance has come to be located in, on, under or about the 
Premises, other than as previously consented to by Lessor, Lessee shall immediately give 
written notice of such fact to Lessor, and provide Lessor with a copy of any report, 
notice, claim or other documentation which it has concerning the presence of such 
Hazardous Substance. 

(c) Lessee Remediation.  Lessee shall not cause or permit any Hazardous 
Substance to be spilled or released in, on, under, or about the Property (including through 
the plumbing or sanitary sewer system) and shall promptly, at Lessee’s expense, comply 
with all Applicable Requirements and take all investigatory and/or remedial action 
reasonably recommended, whether or not formally ordered or required, for the cleanup of 
any contamination of, and for the maintenance, security and/or monitoring of the 
Property or neighboring properties, that was caused or materially contributed to by 
Lessee, or pertaining to or involving any Hazardous Substance brought onto the Property 
during the Term of this Lease, by or for Lessee, or any third party. 

(d) Lessee Indemnification.  Lessee shall indemnify, defend and hold Master 
Trustee, Bond Trustee and Lessor, its managing member, and the agents, employees, 
officers, directors of either of them harmless from and against any and all loss of rents 
and/or damages, liabilities, judgments, claims, expenses, penalties, and attorneys’ and 
consultants’ fees arising out of or involving any Hazardous Substance brought onto the 
Property by or for Lessee; provided, however, that Lessee shall have no liability under 
this Lease with respect to underground migration of any Hazardous Substance under the 
Property from adjacent properties not caused or contributed to by Lessee.  No 
termination, cancellation or release agreement entered into by Lessor and Lessee shall 
release Lessee from its obligations under this Lease with respect to Hazardous 
Substances, unless specifically so agreed by Lessor in writing at the time of such 
agreement.  The provisions of this subsection shall survive the termination of this Lease. 
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(e) Lessor Indemnification.  Lessor shall indemnify, defend and hold Master 
Trustee, Bond Trustee and Lessee, and the agents, employees, officers, directors of either 
of them harmless from and against any and all loss of rents and/or damages, liabilities, 
judgments, claims, expenses, penalties, and attorneys’ and consultants’ fees arising out of 
or involving any Hazardous Substance brought onto the Property (by a party other than 
Lessee) prior to the Commencement Date; provided, however, that Lessor shall have no 
liability under this Lease with respect to underground migration of any Hazardous 
Substance under the Property from adjacent properties not caused or contributed to by 
Lessor.  No termination, cancellation or release agreement entered into by Lessor and 
Lessee shall release Lessor from its obligations under this Lease with respect to 
Hazardous Substances, unless specifically so agreed by Lessee in writing at the time of 
such agreement.   

(f) Hazardous Substance Condition Remediation.  If Lessee becomes 
aware of a Hazardous Substance Condition occurring during the Term of this Lease, then 
Lessee shall notify Lessor and Lessor shall make the investigation and remediation 
thereof required by the Applicable Requirements, the costs relating thereto constituting 
an Expense for which Lessee is responsible and this Lease shall continue in full force and 
effect, but subject to Lessor’s rights under Section 4.02(d) hereof; provided, however, 
that if a Hazardous Substance Condition occurs as a result of Hazardous Materials that 
are brought on the Property (by a party other than Lessee) prior to the Commencement 
Date, then Lessor shall be solely responsible for making the investigation and 
remediation thereof at its sole cost and expense, and this Lease shall continue in full force 
and effect.  “Hazardous Substance Condition” shall mean the occurrence or discovery of 
a condition involving the presence of, or a contamination by, a Hazardous Substance as 
defined in Section 4.02(a) hereof, in, on, or under the Premises which requires repair, 
remediation, or restoration. 

Section 4.03 Lessee’s Compliance With Applicable Requirements.  Except as 
otherwise provided in this Lease, Lessee shall, at Lessee’s sole expense, fully, diligently and in a 
timely manner, materially comply with all Applicable Requirements, the requirements of any 
applicable fire insurance underwriter or rating bureau, and the recommendations of Lessor’s 
engineers and/or consultants which relate in any manner to such Applicable Requirements, 
without regard to whether such Applicable Requirements are now in effect or become effective 
after the Commencement Date.  Lessee shall, within 10 days after receipt of Lessor’s written 
request, provide Lessor with copies of all permits and other documents, and other information 
evidencing Lessee’s compliance with any Applicable Requirements specified by Lessor, and 
shall immediately upon receipt, notify Lessor in writing (with copies of any documents involved) 
of any threatened or actual claim, notice, citation, warning, complaint or report pertaining to or 
involving the failure of Lessee or the Premises to materially comply with any Applicable 
Requirements. 

ARTICLE V 
 

Maintenance; Repairs 
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Section 5.01 Lessee’s Obligations.  Lessee shall, at Lessee’s sole expense, keep the 
interior, exterior and structural elements of the Premises in good order, condition and repair; and 
keep the exterior, structural and major utility components of the Premises and other portions of 
the Property in good order, condition and repair, including, but not limited to, all equipment or 
facilities, such as plumbing, HVAC equipment, electrical, lighting facilities, boilers, pressure 
vessels, fire protection system, fixtures, walls (interior and exterior), ceilings, floors, windows, 
doors, plate glass, skylights, landscaping, driveways, parking lots, fences, retaining walls, signs, 
sidewalks and parkways located in, on, or adjacent to the Property.  Lessee’s obligations shall 
include restorations, replacements or renewals when necessary to keep the Property and all 
improvements thereon or a part thereof in good order, condition and state of repair.  Subject to 
the provisions of Article VII and Section 13.02, it is intended by the Parties hereto that Lessor 
have no obligation, in any manner whatsoever, to repair and maintain the Premises, or the 
equipment therein, all of which obligations are intended to be that of the Lessee.  It is the 
intention of the Parties that the terms of this Lease govern the respective obligations of the 
Parties as to maintenance and repair of the Premises, and they expressly waive the benefit of any 
statute now or hereafter in effect to the extent it is inconsistent with the terms of this Lease.  

Section 5.02 Utility Installations; Trade Fixtures; Alterations. 

(a) Definitions.  The term “Utility Installations” refers to all floor and 
window coverings, air and/or vacuum lines, power panels, electrical distribution, security 
and fire protection systems, communication cabling, lighting fixtures, HVAC equipment, 
plumbing, and fencing in or on the Premises.  The term “Trade Fixtures” shall mean 
Lessee’s machinery and equipment that can be removed without doing material damage 
to the Premises.  The term “Alterations” shall mean any modification of the 
improvements, other than Utility Installations or Trade Fixtures, whether by addition or 
deletion.  “Lessee Owned Alterations and/or Utility Installations” are defined as 
Alterations and/or Utility Installations made by Lessee that are not yet owned by Lessor 
pursuant to Section 5.03(a) hereof. 

(b) Consent.  Lessee shall not make any Alterations or Utility Installations to 
the Premises without Lessor’s prior written consent, except as provided herein.  Lessee 
may make non-structural Alterations or Utility Installations and may make structural 
Alterations or Utility Installations to the interior of the Premises (excluding the roof) 
without such consent but upon notice to Lessor, as long as they are not visible from the 
outside, do not involve puncturing, relocating or removing the roof or any existing walls, 
and will not affect the electrical, plumbing, HVAC, and/or life safety systems.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee shall not make or permit any roof penetrations 
and/or install anything on the roof without the prior written approval of Lessor.  Any 
Alterations or Utility Installations that Lessee shall desire to make and which require the 
consent of the Lessor shall be presented to Lessor in written form with detailed plans.  
Consent shall be deemed conditioned upon Lessee: (i) acquiring all applicable 
governmental permits, (ii) furnishing Lessor with copies of both the permits and the plans 
and specifications prior to commencement of the work, and (iii) complying with all 
conditions of said permits and other Applicable Requirements in a prompt and 
expeditious manner.  Any Alterations or Utility Installations shall be performed in a 
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workmanlike manner with good and sufficient materials.  Lessee shall promptly upon 
completion furnish Lessor with as-built plans and specifications. 

(c) Liens; Bonds.  Lessee shall pay, when due, all claims for labor or 
materials furnished or alleged to have been furnished to or for Lessee at or for use on the 
Premises, which claims are or may be secured by any mechanic’s or materialmen’s lien 
against the Premises or any interest therein.  Lessee shall give Lessor not less than 
10 days’ notice prior to the commencement of any work in, on or about the Premises, and 
Lessor shall have the right to post notices of non-responsibility.  If Lessee shall contest 
the validity of any such lien, claim or demand, then Lessee shall, at its sole expense to 
defend and protect itself, Lessor and the Premises against the same and shall pay and 
satisfy any such adverse judgment that may be rendered thereon before the enforcement 
thereof.   

Section 5.03 Ownership; Surrender; and Restoration. 

(a) Ownership.  All Alterations and Utility Installations made by Lessee shall 
be the property of Lessor. 

(b) Surrender and Restoration.  Lessee shall surrender the Premises by the 
Expiration Date or any earlier termination date, with all of the improvements, parts and 
surfaces thereof broom clean and free of debris, and in good operating order, condition 
and state of repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted.  “Ordinary wear and tear” shall not 
include any damage or deterioration that would have been prevented by good 
maintenance practice.  Lessee shall repair any damage occasioned by the installation, 
maintenance or removal of Trade Fixtures, furnishings, and equipment as well as the 
removal of any storage tank installed by or for Lessee.  Lessee shall completely remove 
from the Premises any and all Hazardous Substances brought onto the Premises by or for 
Lessee (except Hazardous Substances which were deposited via underground migration 
from areas outside of the Premises), even if such removal would require Lessee to 
perform or pay for work that exceeds statutory requirements.  Trade Fixtures shall remain 
the property of Lessee and shall be removed by Lessee.  Any personal property of Lessee 
not removed on or before the Expiration Date or any earlier termination date shall be 
deemed to have been abandoned by Lessee and may be disposed of or retained by Lessor 
as Lessor may desire.  The failure by Lessee to timely vacate the Premises pursuant to 
this subsection without the express written consent of Lessor shall constitute a holdover 
under the provisions of Section 13.13 hereof. 

ARTICLE VI 
 

Insurance; Indemnity 

Section 6.01 Liability.  Lessee shall keep in force such liability insurance policies and 
in such amounts as set forth in the Master Indenture of Trust.  The premium for such insurance 
shall be deemed an “Expense” hereunder. Lessee shall deliver to the Bond Trustee an annual 
certification that Lessee is in compliance with the insurance requirements set forth in Section 
3.03 of the Master Indenture of Trust. 
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Section 6.02 Property.  Lessee shall obtain and keep in force a policy or policies of 
property insurance in the name, and for the benefit, of Lessor, with loss payable to Lessor and to 
any lender, including the Master Trustee, insuring loss or damage to the Property.  The amount 
of such insurance shall be as set forth in the Master Indenture of Trust.  The premium for such 
insurance shall be deemed an “Expense” hereunder. 

Section 6.03 Business Interruption.  Lessee shall also obtain and keep in force, for the 
benefit of the Lessor, business interruption insurance insuring Lessor for the amounts of Base 
Rent arising from an interruption of the payment of the Base Rent otherwise payable by Lessee 
hereunder, as set forth in the Master Indenture of Trust.  The premium for such insurance shall 
be deemed an “Expense” hereunder. 

Section 6.04 Waiver of Subrogation.  Without affecting any other rights or remedies, 
Lessee and Lessor each hereby release and relieve the other, and waive their entire right to 
recover damages against the other, for loss of or damage to its property arising out of or incident 
to the perils required to be insured against herein.  The effect of such releases and waivers is not 
limited by the amount of insurance carried or required, or by any deductibles applicable hereto.  
The Parties agree to have their respective property damage insurance carriers waive any right to 
subrogation that such companies may have against Lessor or Lessee, as the case may be, so long 
as the insurance is not invalidated thereby. 

Section 6.05 Indemnity.  Except for Lessor’s gross negligence or willful misconduct, 
Lessee shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless the Premises, Lessor and its agents, 
partners, members, directors, officers and lenders, from and against any and all claims, loss of 
rents and/or damages, liens, judgments, penalties, attorneys’ and consultants’ fees, expenses 
and/or liabilities arising out of, involving, or in connection with, the use and/or occupancy of the 
Premises by Lessee or any subtenant of Lessee.  If any action or proceeding is brought against 
Lessor by reason of any of the foregoing matters, Lessee shall upon notice defend the same at 
Lessee’s expense by counsel reasonably satisfactory to Lessor and Lessor shall cooperate with 
Lessee in such defense.  Lessor need not have first paid any such claim in order to be defended 
or indemnified.  The provisions of this Section shall survive the termination of this Lease. 

Section 6.06 Exemption of Lessor from Liability.  Unless caused by Lessor’s gross 
negligence or willful misconduct, Lessor shall not be liable for injury or damage to the person or 
goods, wares, merchandise or other property of Lessee, Lessee’s employees, contractors, 
invitees, customers, or any other person in or about the Premises, whether such damage or injury 
is caused by or results from fire, steam, electricity, gas, water or rain, or from the breakage, 
leakage, obstruction or other defects of pipes, fire sprinklers, wires, appliances, plumbing, 
HVAC or lighting fixtures, or from any other cause, whether the said injury or damage results 
from conditions arising upon the Premises or from other sources or places. 

Section 6.07 Loan Agreement.  The foregoing notwithstanding, for so long as the 
Loan is outstanding, Lessee shall be deemed to meet its insurance obligations as set forth in this 
Article VI if it carries, and it hereby agrees to carry, the insurance required under the terms of the 
Master Indenture of Trust, as such requirements may change from time to time.  Without limiting 
the foregoing, for so long as the Loan is outstanding, Lessee shall cause the Bond Trustee, 
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Master Trustee and Lessor to be named as additional insureds on Lessee’s liability and Bond 
Trustee and Master Trustee as mortgagees and loss payees on property insurance policies. 

ARTICLE VII 
 

Damage or Destruction 

Section 7.01 Definitions.   

“Damage” shall mean damage or destruction to the improvements on the 
Property. 

“Insured Loss” shall mean Damage which was caused by an event required to be 
covered by the insurance described in Section 6.02 hereof, irrespective of any deductible 
amounts or coverage limits involved. 

“Replacement Cost” shall mean the cost to repair or rebuild the improvements 
owned by Lessor at the time of the occurrence to their condition existing immediately 
prior thereto, including demolition, debris removal and upgrading required by the 
operation of Applicable Requirements, and without deduction for depreciation. 

Section 7.02 Damage—Insured Loss.  Subject to the terms of the Master Indenture of 
Trust, Lessor shall be entitled to any and all insurance proceeds that are available as a result of 
the Damage.  If Damage that is an Insured Loss occurs and such Damage is less than ten percent 
of the Book Value of the Premises, then Lessee shall be entitled to use the insurance proceeds 
that are actually collected as a result of the Damage to repair the Damage as soon as reasonably 
possible and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect.  Any insurance proceeds that are 
actually collected and exceed ten percent of the Book Value of the Premises shall be deposited in 
the Insurance and Condemnation Proceeds Fund. 

Section 7.03 Damage—Uninsured Loss.  If Damage that is not an Insured Loss 
occurs, (a) Lessee may repair such damage as soon as reasonably possible at Lessee’s expense, 
in which event this Lease shall continue in full force and effect; or if Lessee elects not to repair, 
(b) Lessor may terminate this Lease by providing written notice to Lessee, Bond Trustee, Master 
Trustee and Lender within 30 days after receipt by Lessor of knowledge of the occurrence of 
such Damage. 

Section 7.04 Waiver of Statutes.  Lessor and Lessee agree that the terms of this Lease 
shall govern the effect of any damage to or destruction of the Premises with respect to the 
termination of this Lease and hereby waive the provisions of any present or future statute to the 
extent inconsistent herewith. 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

Real Property Taxes 

Section 8.01 Definition.  As used herein, the term “Real Property Taxes” shall 
include any form of assessment; real estate, general, special, ordinary or extraordinary, or rental 
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levy or tax (other than inheritance, personal income or estate taxes); improvement bond; and/or 
license fee imposed upon or levied against any legal or equitable interest of Lessor in the 
Property, Lessor’s right to other income therefrom; and/or Lessor’s business of leasing, by any 
authority having the direct or indirect power to tax and where the funds are generated with 
reference to the address of the Property and where the proceeds so generated are to be applied by 
the city, county or other local taxing authority of a jurisdiction within which the Property is 
located.  Real Property Taxes shall also include any tax, fee, levy, assessment or charge, or any 
increase therein:  (a) imposed by reason of events occurring during the Term of this Lease, 
including but not limited to, a change in the ownership of the Property, and (b) levied or assessed 
on machinery or equipment provided by Lessor to Lessee pursuant to this Lease. 

Section 8.02 Payment of Taxes.  Lessee shall timely file for exemption against any 
Real Property Taxes and shall maintain such exemption during the Term.  In any event, Lessee 
shall pay, before the same become past due, the Real Property Taxes applicable to the Property 
during the Initial Term to the extent any such Real Property Taxes are charged, levied, assessed 
or imposed. 

Section 8.03 Personal Property Taxes.  Lessee shall timely file for exemption 
against any taxes on Lessee Owned Alterations, Utility Installations, Trade Fixtures, furnishings, 
equipment and all personal property of Lessee and shall maintain such exemption during the 
Term.  Lessee shall pay, prior to delinquency, all such taxes to the extent they are charged, 
levied, assessed or imposed after an exemption for such taxes is filed as required hereunder. 

ARTICLE IX 
 

Assignment and Subletting 

Section 9.01 By Lessee.  Lessee shall not sublease, assign, mortgage, pledge, 
hypothecate or encumber this Lease or any of Lessee’s interest hereunder without the prior 
written consent of Lessor (which shall not be unreasonably withheld).  Lessee acknowledges 
that, pursuant to the Loan Agreement, Lessor may be required to obtain the Lender’s approval to 
a sublease, assignment or other transfer of Lessee’s interest in the Lease and that Lessor’s 
disapproval shall be deemed reasonable if based on the Lender’s disapproval. Lessee 
acknowledges that the financing of the Property through the tax-exempt Bonds may restrict the 
assignees that could be approved by Lessor.  Lessee shall not sublease, assign, mortgage, pledge, 
hypothecate or encumber this Lease unless it receives an Opinion of Bond Counsel confirming 
that such action will not result in use or operation of the Premises not in conjunction with a 
charter school under the Act. Any attempted sublease, assignment, mortgage, pledge, 
hypothecation or encumbrance of this Lease by Lessee in violation of this Section 9.01 shall be 
null and voice and shall be of no force or effect. 

Section 9.02 By Lessor.  Lessee acknowledges that the Premises are subject to a 
Deed of Trust, of even date herewith in favor of the Master Trustee and that certain of the 
Lessor’s rights under this Lease are assigned to the Master Trustee as security for the Bonds 
under the Master Indenture of Trust and such Deed of Trust.  
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ARTICLE X 
 

Default; Breach; Remedies 

Section 10.01 Default; Breach.  Except as specifically set forth herein, (x) a “Default” 
is defined as a failure by the Lessee to comply with or perform any of the covenants or other 
obligations of the Lessee under this Lease and (y) a “Breach” is defined as the occurrence of one 
or more of the following Defaults, and the failure of Lessee to cure such Default within any 
applicable grace period: 

(a) the abandonment of the Premises; 

(b) the failure of Lessee to make any payment of Rent required to be made by 
Lessee hereunder, whether to Lessor or to a third party, when due, to provide reasonable 
evidence of insurance or surety bond required hereunder, or to fulfill any obligation under 
this Lease which endangers or threatens life or property, where such failure continues for 
a period of three business days following written notice to Lessee; 

(c) any material representation or warranty made in this Lease, or in any 
report, certificate, financial statement, or instrument furnished in connection with this 
Lease is inaccurate when made in any material respects, and is not promptly corrected;   

(d) Lessee violates or fails to observe or perform any covenant contained in 
Section 12.02; 

(e) Lessee violates or fails to observe or perform the financial covenant of 
Lessee set forth in Section 3.1 of Exhibit F, and fails to cure the same within any notice 
or grace period contained in Exhibit F. 

(f) a Default, other than those described in subparagraphs Section 10.01(a) 
through (d) above, where such Default continues for a period of 30 days after written 
notice; provided, however, that if the nature of the Default is such that more than 30 days 
are reasonably required for its cure, then it shall not be deemed to be a Breach if Lessee 
commences such cure within said 30-day period and thereafter diligently prosecutes such 
cure to completion; and  

(g) the occurrence of any of the following events:  (i) the making of any 
general arrangement or assignment for the benefit of creditors; (ii) becoming a “debtor” 
as defined in 11 U.S.C. §101 or any successor statute thereto (unless, in the case of a 
petition filed against Lessee, the same is dismissed within 90 days); (iii) the appointment 
of a trustee or receiver to take possession of substantially all of Lessee’s assets located at 
the Premises or of Lessee’s interest in this Lease, where possession is not restored to 
Lessee within 60 days; or (iv) the attachment, execution or other judicial seizure of 
substantially all of Lessee’s assets located at the Premises or of Lessee’s interest in this 
Lease, where such seizure is not discharged within 60 days; provided, however, in the 
event that any provision of this clause (f) is contrary to any applicable law, such 
provision shall be of no force or effect, and not affect the validity of the remaining 
provisions. 
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Section 10.02 Remedies.  If Lessee fails to perform any of its affirmative duties or 
obligations (other than compliance with covenants and financial reporting requirements pursuant 
to Article XII hereof), within 30 days after written notice (or, in the case of those duties and 
obligations that cannot reasonably be performed within 30 days after notice, to commence and 
diligently prosecute such duties and obligations to completion), Lessor may, at its option, 
perform such duty or obligation on Lessee’s behalf, including but not limited to the obtaining of 
reasonably required bonds, insurance policies, or governmental licenses, permits or approvals.  
Lessee shall pay to Lessor the costs and expenses incurred by Lessor in such performance upon 
receipt of an invoice therefor.  In the event of a Breach, including Lessee’s failure to comply 
with the covenants or financial reporting requirements set forth in Article XII hereof after notice 
and the expiration of any applicable grace period, Lessor may, with or without further notice or 
demand, and without limiting Lessor in the exercise of any right or remedy which Lessor may 
have by reason of such Breach: 

(a) Terminate Lessee’s right to possession of the Premises by any lawful 
means, in which case this Lease shall terminate and Lessee shall immediately surrender 
possession to Lessor.  In such event Lessor shall be entitled to recover from Lessee: 
(i) the unpaid Rent which had been earned at the time of termination; (ii) the worth at the 
time of award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent which would have been earned 
after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that the 
Lessee proves could have been reasonably avoided; (iii) the worth at the time of award of 
the amount by which the unpaid Rent for the balance of the term after the time of award 
exceeds the amount of such rental loss that the Lessee proves could be reasonably 
avoided; and (iv) any other amount necessary to compensate Lessor for all the detriment 
proximately caused by the Lessee’s failure to perform its obligations under this Lease or 
which in the ordinary course of things would be likely to result therefrom, including but 
not limited to the cost of recovering possession of the Premises, expenses of reletting, 
including necessary renovation and alteration of the Premises, reasonable attorneys’ fees 
of Lessor and the Lender, and that portion of any leasing commission paid by Lessor in 
connection with this Lease applicable to the unexpired term of this Lease.  The worth at 
the time of award of the amount referred to in clause (iii) of the immediately preceding 
sentence shall be computed by discounting such amount at the discount rate of the 
Federal Reserve Bank of the District within which the Premises are located at the time of 
award plus one percent.  Efforts by Lessor to mitigate damages caused by Lessee’s 
Breach of this Lease shall not waive Lessor’s right to recover damages to which Lessor is 
otherwise entitled.  If termination of this Lease is obtained through the provisional 
remedy of unlawful detainer, Lessor shall have the right to recover in such proceeding 
any unpaid Rent and damages as are recoverable therein, or Lessor may reserve the right 
to recover all or any part thereof in a separate suit.  If a notice and grace period required 
under Section 10.01 hereof was not previously given, a notice to pay rent or quit, or to 
perform or quit given to Lessee under the unlawful detainer statute shall also constitute 
the notice required by Section 10.01 hereof.  In such case, the applicable grace period 
required by Section 10.01 hereof and the unlawful detainer statute shall run concurrently, 
and the failure of Lessee to cure the Default within the greater of the two such grace 
periods shall constitute both an unlawful detainer and a Breach of this Lease entitling 
Lessor to the remedies provided for in this Lease and/or by said statute.  
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(b) Continue the Lease and Lessee’s right to possession and recover the Rent 
as it becomes due.  Acts of maintenance, efforts to relet, and/or the appointment of a 
receiver to protect the Lessor’s interests, shall not constitute a termination of the Lessee’s 
right to possession. 

(c) Pursue any other remedy now or hereafter available under the laws or 
judicial decisions of the state wherein the Premises are located.  The expiration or 
termination of this Lease and/or the termination of Lessee’s right to possession shall not 
relieve Lessee from liability under this Lease, including under any indemnity provisions 
of this Lease as to matters occurring or accruing during the term hereof or by reason of 
Lessee’s occupancy of the Premises. 

Section 10.03 Interest.  Any monetary payment due Lessor hereunder not received by 
Lessor when due as to scheduled payments (such as Base Rent) or within thirty (30) days 
following the date on which it was due for non-scheduled payments, shall bear interest from the 
date when due as to scheduled payments, or the 31st day after it was due as to non-scheduled 
payments.  The interest charged shall be computed at the rate of 10% per annum but shall not 
exceed the maximum rate allowed by law.  Interest is payable in addition to any late charges and 
default rate interest under the Loan Agreement.  

ARTICLE XI 
 

Subordination; Attornment; Non-Disturbance 

Section 11.01 Subordination.  This Lease shall automatically be subject and 
subordinate to any mortgage, deed of trust, or other hypothecation or security device 
encumbering the Property and securing Lessor’s obligations under any loan in favor of a lender 
(collectively, “Security Device”), including, without limitation, the Loan, and, if requested by 
Lessor or by any subsequent lender or other lender, any subsequent lender, whether such 
Security Device is now or hereafter placed upon the Premises, to any and all advances made on 
the security thereof, and to all renewals, modifications, and extensions thereof.  Lessee agrees 
that a lender shall have no liability or obligation to perform any of the obligations of Lessor 
under this Lease.  Any lender may elect to have this Lease granted hereby superior to the lien of 
its Security Device by giving written notice thereof to Lessee, whereupon this Lease shall be 
deemed prior to such Security Device, notwithstanding the relative dates of the documentation or 
recordation thereof.  

Section 11.02 Attornment.  In the event the Property is acquired by another upon the 
foreclosure or termination of a Security Device to which this Lease is subordinated (a) Lessee 
shall, subject to the non-disturbance provisions of Section 11.03 hereof, attorn to such new 
owner, and upon request, enter into a new lease, containing all of the terms and provisions of this 
Lease, with such new owner for the remainder of the term hereof, or, at the election of such new 
owner, this Lease shall automatically become a new Lease between Lessee and such new owner, 
upon all of the terms and conditions hereof, for the remainder of the term hereof, and (b) Lessor 
shall thereafter be relieved of any further obligations hereunder (but not obligations that accrued 
prior to such transfer) and such new owner shall assume all of Lessor’s obligations hereunder, 
except that such new owner shall not: (i) be liable for any act or omission of any prior lessor or 
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with respect to events occurring prior to acquisition of ownership; (ii) be subject to any offsets or 
defenses which Lessee might have against any prior lessor; (iii) be bound by prepayment of more 
than one month’s rent; or (iv) be liable for the return of any security deposit paid to any prior 
lessor unless such security was assigned by such prior Lessor to the new owner. 

Section 11.03 Non-Disturbance.  With respect to Security Devices entered into by 
Lessor after the execution of this Lease, Lessee’s subordination of this Lease shall be subject to 
Lessee’s receiving a commercially reasonable non-disturbance agreement (“Non-Disturbance 
Agreement”) which provides that Lessee’s possession of the Premises, and this Lease, including 
any options to extend the-term hereof, will not be disturbed so long as Lessee is not in breach 
hereof and attorns to the record owner of the Property. 

Section 11.04 Self-Executing.  The agreements contained in this Article XI shall be 
effective without the execution of any further documents; provided, however, that, upon written 
request from Lessor or a lender in connection with a sale, financing or refinancing of the 
Property, Lessee and Lessor shall execute such further writings as may be reasonably required to 
separately document any subordination, attornment and Non-Disturbance Agreement provided 
for herein. Nothing herein shall be interpreted as otherwise permitting use or operation in 
conflict with Section 4.01 hereof. 

ARTICLE XII 
 

Covenants and Representations 

Section 12.01 Mandatory Covenants.  For so long as the Loan is outstanding and has 
not been defeased or for so long as any obligations under the Loan Agreement remain 
outstanding, the provisions of Exhibit F shall be applicable for the benefit of the Lessor, the 
Lender (in its capacity as such), the Master Trustee and the Bond Trustee, as assignee of the 
Lender. 

Section 12.02 Lessee Representations and Warranties.  The Lessee represents, 
warrants, and covenants that: 

(a) it is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) and 
Section 170(b)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code, and except for unrelated business income taxable 
under Section 511 of the Code, it is exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(a) 
of the Code; 

(b) it will not take any action or omit to take any action that, if taken or 
omitted, would cause:  (i) it to lose its current federal income tax status as exempt from 
federal income taxation under Section 501(a) of the Code as an organization described in 
Code Section 501(c)(3) and as an organization described in Code Section 
170(b)(1)(A)(ii); or (ii) Lessor to be viewed, for federal income tax purposes, as other 
than disregarded as an entity separate from its sole member pursuant to Treasury 
Regulation Section 301.7701-3(b); 

(c) it has not and will not divert a substantial part of its corpus or income for a 
purpose of purposes other than the purpose or purposes for which it is organized or 
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operated and will use Bond proceeds solely for the charitable purposes of Lessee and 
only as permitted by the Indenture; 

(d) it has not operated, and will not operate, in a manner that would result in it 
being classified as an “action” organization within the meaning of Section 1.501(c)(3) 
(1)(c)(3) of the Treasury Regulations, including, but not limited to, promoting or 
attempting to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise as a substantial part of its 
activities; 

(e) none of its directors, officers or related Persons, or any other Person 
having a private or professional interest in the Lessee’s activities has acquired or 
received, nor will such Persons be allowed to acquire or receive, directly or indirectly, 
any of the Lessee’s goods and services, income or assets, without fair compensation or 
consideration received in exchange therefor; 

(f) it is not a “private foundation” within the meaning of Section 509(a) of the 
Code; 

(g) it has not received any indication or notice to the effect that its exemption 
from federal income taxation under Section 501(a) of the Code has been revoked or 
modified, or that the Internal Revenue Service is considering revoking or modifying such 
exemption, and such exemption is still in full force and effect; 

(h) it will timely file with the Internal Revenue Service all requests for 
determination, reports, and returns required to be filed by it to maintain its status as an 
organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, and such requests for 
determination, reports, and returns have not omitted or misstated any material fact;  

(i) it has not devoted nor will it devote more than an insubstantial part of its 
activities in furtherance of a purpose other than an exempt purpose within the meaning of 
Section 501(c)(3) of the Code; its school charters are in full force and effect;  

(j) to the best of its knowledge, it is in material compliance with the terms, 
including financial covenants, of all leases and loan agreements to which it is a party; and 

(k) Lessee is a “participating party” as defined in the Act.  

Section 12.03 Intercept Notice.  In order to provide for secure and orderly payment of 
the Base Rent component of Rent and for the payment of the Bonds out of such Base Rent 
payments, simultaneously with the execution and delivery of the Bonds, Lessee shall deliver or 
cause to be delivered the Intercept Notice, substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit E 
attached hereto (the “Intercept Notice”), to the State Controller.  Amounts specified in the 
Intercept Notice for transfer to the Bond Trustee shall be limited to State Apportionments.  
Lessee shall, amend, supplement or restate the Intercept Notice and deliver such to the State 
Controller from time to time as necessary or appropriate to cause transfers to the Bond Trustee to 
pay any changed amount of Base Rent due under this Lease (including without limitation 
changes resulting from redemption of Bonds prior to maturity) and to cure any delinquency in 
payment of such amounts, and shall deliver such amended, supplemented, or restated Intercept 
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Notice to the State Controller not later than the twentieth (20th) calendar day of the month 
immediately preceding the month with respect to which such payment is due.  Lessee will 
cooperate with the Bond Trustee in any manner the Bond Trustee may request in connection with 
amending, supplementing, or restating the Intercept Notice.  If at any time, the Intercept Notice 
is amended, supplemented, or restated for any reason, Lessee shall promptly provide the 
Authority and the Bond Trustee with a copy of such amended, supplemented, or restated 
Intercept Notice.  The Intercept Notice may provide additional amounts payable to the Bond 
Trustee for purposes set forth in the Indenture; provided, that Lessee shall not grant preference or 
any prior right of funding access or security in respect of the State Apportionment to any other 
payment indicated in the Intercept Notice or any other notice delivered pursuant to 
Section 17199.4 of the Education Code of the State of California.  All deposits of moneys 
derived from payments by the State Controller pursuant to the Intercept Notice from time to time 
shall be made at the corporate trust office of the Bond Trustee set forth in the Intercept Notice.  
Lessee shall timely amend, supplement, or restate the Intercept Notice to require transfers to such 
other location as shall be designated in writing by the Bond Trustee to Lessee.  

Section 12.04 Lessor’s Access; Showing Premises; Repairs.  Lessor shall have the 
right to enter the Premises at any time in the case of an emergency, and otherwise at reasonable 
times after 24 hours’ prior notice for the purpose of inspecting the Premises, verifying 
compliance by Lessee with this Lease, showing the Premises to prospective purchasers, lenders, 
or tenants, and making such alterations, repairs, improvements or additions to the Premises as 
Lessor may deem necessary or desirable and the erecting, using and maintaining of utilities, 
services, pipes and conduits through the Premises as long as there is no material adverse effect to 
Lessee’s use of the Premises. 

Section 12.05 Waiver of Sections 1932(2) and 1933(4) of the California Civil Code. 
The Lessor and Lessee hereby waive any rights to remedies under Sections 1932(2) and 1933(4) 
of the California Civil Code. 

Section 12.06 Rating Maintenance.  The Lessee covenants that it will at all times 
cooperate with and take all action reasonably necessary to assist the Lessor in maintaining, from 
one or more Rating Agencies, a rating on the Bonds.   

Section 12.07 Transfers to Excluded Schools.  Under the Lease, the Lessee agrees  
not to transfer any revenues, income, receipts and money attributed to the Schools to any other 
schools operated by Lessee if such transfer would result in a Default or Breach under this Lease.   

Section 12.08 Use of the Project.  The Lessee shall not use any part of the Project to:  (i) 
carry on propaganda, or otherwise attempt to influence legislation, within the meaning of Section 
4945(d)(1) or Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, or the corresponding provisions of any subsequent 
federal tax laws; or (ii) participate in, or intervene in (including publishing or distributing of any 
statements), any political campaign on behalf of any political candidate for public office or 
attempt to influence the outcome of any specific public election, or to carry on, directly or 
indirectly, any voter registration drive, within the meaning of Section 4945(d)(2) or Section 
501(c)(3) of the Code, or corresponding provisions of any subsequent federal tax laws, and not 
make any grant which does not comply with the requirements of Section 4945(d)(3) or Section 
4945(d)(4) of the Code, or corresponding provisions of any subsequent federal tax laws, or 
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which violates the provisions of Section 4945(d)(5) of the Code, or corresponding provisions of 
any subsequent federal tax laws. 

Section 12.09 Annual Investor Calls.  Each year, commencing with the Fiscal Year 
ending June 30, 2019, the Lessee shall hold an investor call following the release of its audited 
financial statements for the immediately preceding Fiscal Year for the purpose of reviewing 
financial results of such Fiscal Year.  Such investor call shall be held during normal business 
hours (for both prevailing Eastern Time and prevailing Pacific Time), and shall provide the 
Dissemination Agent and the Underwriter with a notice of date and time for such call and contact 
telephone information.  

ARTICLE XIII  
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 13.01 Indemnification Covenants.  To the extent permitted by law, the Lessee 
agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend, the Bond Trustee and Lessor, and each of their 
respective officers, governing members, directors, officials, employees, attorneys and agents 
(collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”), against any and all losses, damages, claims, actions, 
liabilities, costs and expenses of any conceivable nature, kind or character (including, without 
limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, litigation and court costs, amounts paid in settlement and 
amounts paid to discharge judgments) to which the Indemnified Parties, or any of them, may 
become subject under or any statutory law (including federal or state securities laws) or at 
common law or otherwise, arising out of or based upon or in any way relating to: 

(a) any act or omission of the Lessee or any of its agents, contractors, 
servants, employees, tenants or licensees in connection with the Premises, the operation 
of the Premises, or the condition, environmental or otherwise, occupancy, use, 
possession, conduct or management of work done in or about, or from the planning, 
design, acquisition, installation or construction of, the Premises or any part thereof; 

(b) any taxes (including, without limitation, all ad valorem taxes and sales 
taxes), assessments, impositions and other charges imposed on the Bond Trustee in 
respect of any portion of the Premises; 

(c) any violation of any Environmental Regulations with respect to, or the 
release of any Hazardous Substances in, on or under the Premises, or any part thereof; 

(d) the Bond Trustee’s acceptance or administration of the trust of the 
Indenture, or the exercise or performance by the Bond Trustee of any direction, consent, 
power or duty thereunder or under any of the documents relating to the Bonds; 

(e) except in the case of the foregoing indemnification of the Bond Trustee or 
any of its respective officers, members, directors, officials, employees, attorneys and 
agents, to the extent such damages are caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of 
such Indemnified Party.  In the event that any action or proceeding is brought against any 
Indemnified Party with respect to which indemnity may be sought hereunder, to the 
extent permitted by law, the Lessee, upon written notice from the Indemnified Party, shall 
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assume the investigation and defense thereof, including the employment of counsel 
selected by the Indemnified Party, and shall assume the payment of all expenses related 
thereto, with full power to litigate, compromise or settle the same in its sole discretion; 
provided that the Indemnified Party shall have the right to review and approve or 
disapprove any such compromise or settlement.  Each Indemnified Party shall have the 
right to employ separate counsel in any such action or proceeding and participate in the 
investigation and defense thereof, and the Lessee shall pay the reasonable fees and 
expenses of such separate counsel, to the extent permitted by law, however, that such 
Indemnified Party may only employ separate counsel at the expense of the Lessee if in 
the judgment of such Indemnified Party a conflict of interest exists by reason of common 
representation or if all parties commonly represented do not agree as to the action (or 
inaction) of counsel. 

The provisions of this Section 13.01 shall survive the termination of this Lease. 

Section 13.02 Condemnation.  If the Premises or any portion thereof are taken under 
the power of eminent domain or sold under the threat of the exercise of said power (collectively 
“Condemnation”), this Lease shall terminate as to the part taken as of the date the condemning 
authority takes title or possession, whichever first occurs, and Expenses thereafter shall be 
limited to those applying to the remaining Premises subject to this Lease.  Subject to the terms of 
the Master Indenture of Trust, in the event that there is a Condemnation of less than all of the 
Premises, and such portion so taken is material to Lessee’s use and quiet enjoyment of the 
Premises as a whole, then all available Condemnation awards and/or payments shall be used 
first, to restore the remaining portion of the Premises to a usable whole, and second, to reduce 
the balance of any loan made to Lessor and secured by the Premises in proportion to the portion 
taken or sold.  Any portion of the award and/or payment that remains after the foregoing 
purposes have been satisfied shall be the property of Lessor.  Subject to the terms of the Loan 
Agreement, if the entirety of the Premises is taken, then the Condemnation awards and/or 
payments shall be the property of Lessor.  

Section 13.03 Estoppel Certificates.  Each Party shall within 10 days after written 
notice from the other Party (the “Requesting Party”) execute, acknowledge and deliver to the 
Requesting Party a statement in writing in form similar to the then most current estoppel 
certificate form published by the AIR Commercial Real Estate Association, plus such additional 
information, confirmation and/or statements as may be reasonably requested by the Requesting 
Party. 

Section 13.04 Severability.  The invalidity of any provision of this Lease, as 
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, shall in no way affect the validity of any other 
provision hereof. 

Section 13.05 Days.  Unless otherwise specifically indicated to the contrary, the word 
“days” as used in this Lease shall mean and refer to calendar days. 

Section 13.06 Limitation on Liability.  The obligations of Lessor under this Lease 
shall not constitute personal obligations of Lessor, and Lessee shall look to the Premises, and to 
no other assets of Lessor, for the satisfaction of any liability of Lessor with respect to this Lease.  
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No member, officer, agent or employee of the Authority or any director, officer, agent or 
employee of the Bond Trustee, the Lessor or the Lessee shall be individually or personally liable 
for the payment of any amounts hereunder or  be subject to any personal liability or 
accountability by reason of the execution and delivery of this Lease; but nothing herein 
contained shall relieve any such member, director, officer, agent or employee form the 
performance of any official duty provided by law or this Lease.   

Section 13.07 Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence with respect to the 
performance of all obligations to be performed or observed by the Parties under this Lease. 

Section 13.08 No Prior or Other Agreements.  Subject to the terms of the Loan 
Agreement and other documents relating to the Bonds, this Lease contains all agreements 
between the Parties with respect to any matter mentioned herein, and no other prior or 
contemporaneous agreement or understanding shall be effective.  Each Party represents and 
warrants that the execution of the Lease will not, to the best of the Party’s knowledge, constitute 
a violation under any material agreements to which such Party is a party. 

Section 13.09 Notices Requirements.  All notices required or permitted by this Lease 
or applicable law shall be in writing and may be delivered in person (by hand or by courier) or 
may be sent by regular, certified or registered mail or U.S. Postal Service Express Mail, with 
postage prepaid, or by facsimile transmission, or by Electronic Means, and shall be deemed 
sufficiently given if served in a manner specified in this Section.  The addresses for the Parties 
are set forth below and shall constitute the respective addressed for delivery or mailing of 
notices.  Either Party may, by written notice to the others, specify a different address for notice.  
Upon Lessee’s taking possession of the Premises, the Premises shall constitute Lessee’s address 
for notice unless Lessee notifies Lessor otherwise.  A copy of all notices to Lessor or Lessee 
shall be concurrently transmitted to such party or parties at such addresses as Lessor or Lessee, 
respectively, may from time to time hereafter designate in writing. 

Section 13.10 Addresses. 

to the Lessor: PMC 17th Street LLC 
 c/o PMC Support Corporation 

350 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 250 
Los Angeles, California 90071 
Attention: Chief Executive Officer 
 
 

to the Lender: State Treasurer’s Office 
300 S. Spring Street, Suite 8500 
Los Angeles, California 90013 
Attention: Executive Director 

 Telecopy: (213) 620-6309 
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to the Bond Trustee: Wilmington Trust, National Association 
650 Town Center Drive, Suite 600 
Costa Mesa, California 92626 
Attention: Corporate Trust Services 

 
to the Lessee: Ednovate, Inc.,  
 650 Town Center Drive, Suite 600 

Costa Mesa, California 92626 
   
to the Underwriter: Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated 

515 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 1800 
Los Angeles, California 90071 

     Attention: Managing Director 

Section 13.11 Date of Notice.  Any notice sent by registered or certified mail, return 
receipt requested, shall be deemed given on the date of delivery shown on the receipt card, or if 
no delivery date is shown, the postmark thereon.  If sent by regular mail the notice shall be 
deemed given 48 hours after the same is addressed as required herein and mailed with postage 
prepaid.  Notices delivered by United States Express Mail or overnight courier that guarantee 
next day delivery shall be deemed given 24 hours after delivery of the same to the Postal Service 
or courier.  Notices transmitted by facsimile transmission or other Electronic Means shall be 
deemed delivered upon telephone confirmation of receipt (confirmation report from fax machine 
is sufficient).  If notice is received on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, it shall be deemed 
received on the next business day. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, the Bond Trustee shall not be required to take 
notice or be deemed to have notice of any Default or Breach pursuant to Section 10.01 hereof 
unless an officer in the Corporate Trust Department of the Bond Trustee has actual notice thereof 
or the Bond Trustee shall be specifically notified in writing by the Lessee, Lessor, or Lender.  All 
notices or other instruments required by this Lease to be delivered to the Bond Trustee must, in 
order to be effective, be delivered at the address of the Bond Trustee provided for in Section 
13.10 hereof, and, in the absence of such notice so delivered, the Bond Trustee may conclusively 
assume that there is no Default or Breach hereunder except as aforesaid.  Upon receipt of notice 
of a Default or Breach as aforesaid, the Bond Trustee shall serve written notice thereof upon the 
Lessee unless the Lessee has expressly acknowledged the existence of such Default of Breach in 
a writing delivered by the Lessee to the Bond Trustee or filed by the Lessee in any court. 

Section 13.12 Waivers.  No waiver by Lessor of any Default or Breach shall be 
deemed a waiver of any other term, covenant or condition hereof, or of any subsequent Default 
or Breach by Lessee of the same or of any other term, covenant or condition hereof. 

Section 13.13 No Right to Holdover.  Lessee has no right to retain possession of the 
Premises or any part thereof beyond the expiration or termination of this Lease.  In the event that 
Lessee holds over, then the Base Rent shall be increased to 110% of the Base Rent applicable 
immediately preceding the expiration or termination.  Nothing contained herein shall be 
construed as consent by Lessor to any holding over by Lessee. 
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Section 13.14 Cumulative Remedies.  No remedy or election hereunder shall be 
deemed exclusive but shall, wherever possible, be cumulative with all other remedies at law or in 
equity; provided, however, that Lessor and Lessee hereby waive any rights to remedies under 
Sections 1932(2) and 1933(4) of the California Civil Code. 

Section 13.15 Covenants and Conditions; Construction of Agreement.  All 
provisions of this Lease to be observed or performed by Lessee are both covenants and 
conditions.  In construing this Lease, all headings and titles are for the convenience of the Parties 
only and shall not be considered a part of this Lease.  Whenever required by the context, the 
singular shall include the plural and vice versa.  This Lease shall not be construed as if prepared 
by one of the Parties, but rather according to its fair meaning as a whole, as if both Parties had 
prepared it. 

Section 13.16 Binding Effect; Choice of Law.  This Lease shall be binding upon the 
Parties, their personal representatives, successors and assigns and be governed by the laws of the 
State of California.  Any litigation between the Parties hereto concerning this Lease shall be 
initiated in the County of Los Angeles. 

Section 13.17 Quiet Possession.  Subject to payment by Lessee of the Rent and 
performance of all of the covenants, conditions and provisions on Lessee’s part to be observed 
and performed under this Lease, Lessee shall have quiet possession and quiet enjoyment of the 
Premises during the Term hereof. 

Section 13.18 Counterparts.  This Lease may be executed by the Parties in 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument. 

Section 13.19 Amendments.  This Lease may be modified only in writing, signed by 
the Parties in interest at the time of the modification.  As long as they do not materially change 
Lessee’s obligations hereunder, Lessee agrees to make such reasonable non-monetary 
modifications to this Lease as may be reasonably required by a lender in connection with the 
obtaining of normal financing or refinancing of the Premises. 

Section 13.20 CASp Disclosure.  California Civil Code Section 1938 requires Lessor 
to notify Lessee whether the Premises has undergone inspection by a Certified Access Specialist 
(“CASp”), as defined in California Civil Code Section 55.52.  Lessor hereby states to Lessee 
that, as of the date this Lease is executed, the property of which the Premises is a part has not 
undergone such inspection.  A CASp can inspect the Premises and determine whether the 
Premises comply with all of the applicable construction related accessibility standards under 
California state law. Although California state law does not require a CASp inspection of the 
Premises, the Lessor may not prohibit Lessee from obtaining a CASp inspection of the Premises 
for the occupancy or potential occupancy of Lessee, if requested by Lessee. The Parties shall 
mutually agree on the arrangements for the time and manner of the CASp inspection, the 
payment of the fee for the CASp inspection, and the cost of making any repairs necessary to 
correct violations of construction related accessibility standards within the Premises.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee shall be solely responsible for any such inspections and 
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for any repairs that may be deemed necessary in connection with such inspections, and in any 
case, Lessor shall have the opportunity to have a representative present at any such inspection. 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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EXHIBIT A 
 

CAPITALIZED TERMS 

“Act” means the California School Finance Authority Act (constituting Chapter 18 
(commencing with Section 17170) of Part 10 of Division 1 of Title 1 of the Education Code of 
the State of California). 

“Additional Rent” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03 of this Lease.  

“Agreed Use” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.01 of this Lease. 

“Alterations” means any modification of the improvements, other than Utility 
Installations or Trade Fixtures, whether by addition or deletion.  

“Applicable Requirements” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02 of this Lease. 

“Authority” means the California School Finance Authority and any assigns or 
successors. 

“Base Rent” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.05 of this Lease.  

“Bond Trustee” means Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee under the 
Indenture. 

“Bonds” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.07 of this Lease.  

“Borrower” means Owner and any assigns or successors, in its capacity as borrower 
under the Loan Agreement. 

“Breach” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.01 of this Lease. 

“Capital Expenditure” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02 of this Lease. 

“Commencement Date” means the Closing Date, as defined in the Indenture. 

“Condemnation” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.02 of this Lease. 

“Damage” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.01 of this Lease. 

“Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.01 of this Lease. 

“Expenses” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.02 of this Lease. 

“Expiration Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.03 of this Lease. 

“Extension Option” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.04 of this Lease.  
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“Extraordinary Monthly Rent” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.04 of this Lease.  

“Extraordinary Monthly Rent Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.04 of this 
Lease.  

“Fiscal Year” means the 12-month period ending on June 30 of each year. 

“FY End Calculation Date” means each of June 30 of each year. 

“Gross School Revenues” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.3 of Exhibit F of this 
Lease.   

“Hazardous Substance” means any product, substance, or waste whose presence, use, 
manufacture, disposal, transportation, or release, either by itself or in combination with other 
materials expected to be on the Premises, is either:  (i) injurious to the public health, safety or 
welfare, the environment or the Property, (ii) regulated or monitored by any governmental 
authority, or (iii) a basis for potential liability of Lessor, Lender or Lessee to any governmental 
agency or third party under any applicable statute or common law theory.   

“Hazardous Substance Condition” means the occurrence or discovery of a condition 
involving the presence of, or a contamination by, a Hazardous Substance, in, on, or under the 
Premises which requires repair, remediation, or restoration.  

“Improvements” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.02 of this Lease. 

“Indebtedness” means all obligations for borrowed money, installment sales and 
capitalized lease obligations, incurred or assumed by the Lessee. 

“Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.01 of this Lease. 

“Indenture” means the Indenture, dated as of July 1, 2018, between the Authority and the 
Bond Trustee, as originally executed and as amended or supplemented from time to time.  

“Initial Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.03 of this Lease.  

“Insured Loss” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.01 of this Lease. 

“Lease” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Lease. 

“Lender” means the California School Finance Authority, a public instrumentality of the 
State established by Section 17172 of the Act. 

“Lessee” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Lease. 

“Lessee Owned Alterations and/or Utility Installations” means any Alterations and/or 
Utility Installations made by Lessee that are not yet owned by Lessor pursuant to Section 5.03(a) 
of this Lease.  

“Lessor” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Lease.   
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“Loan” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to Exhibit E of this Lease. 

“Loan Agreement” means the Loan Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2018, by and between 
the Authority and the Borrower, and acknowledged and agreed to by the Lessor. 

“Master Indenture of Trust” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.01 of this Lease.  

“Member” has the meaning set forth in the Master Indenture of Trust. 

“Non-Disturbance Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.03 of this Lease. 

“Obligated Group” means all Members.  

“Option Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.04 of this Lease.  

“Owner” has the meaning set forth in the preamble. 

“Party” and “Parties” have the meanings set forth in the preamble to this Lease. 

“Premises” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.02 of this Lease.  

“Proportionate Share” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.04 of this Lease.  

“Qualified Provider” has the meaning set forth in the Master Indenture of Trust. 

“Real Property Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.01 of this Lease. 

“Rent” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01 of this Lease. 

“Replacement Cost” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.01 of this Lease. 

“Reportable Use” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.02 of this Lease. 

“Requesting Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.03 of this Lease. 

“School” or “Obligated Group School” means individually, and “Schools” or “Obligated 
Group Schools” means collectively, each public charter school operated by Lessee and located at 
one or more Facilities pursuant to a Lease from and after the date upon which the Member that is 
the lessor under such Lease joins the Obligated Group, but excluding any public charter school 
operated by Lessee at premises that are not owned or leased by a Member that is part of the 
Obligated Group or is owned or leased by a Member that withdraws from the Obligated Group to 
the extent and in accordance with the Master Indenture of Trust, from and after the date of such 
withdrawal.  As of the date of the Supplemental Master Indenture, the sole School is Ednovate – 
Legacy College Prep.   

“Security Device” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.01 of this Lease. 

“Short-Term Indebtedness” has the meaning set forth in Exhibit F of this Lease. 
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“Supplemental Master Indenture” (the “Supplemental Master Indenture”) by and between 
Master Trustee and Lessor, which Supplemental Master Indenture relates to Obligation No. 1 as 
defined therein.   

“Termination Option” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.06 of this Lease.  

“Utility Installations” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.02(a) of this Lease. 
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EXHIBIT B 
 

DESCRIPTION OF PREMISES 

The real property commonly known as 1440 and 1450 East 17th Street, in the City of Santa Ana, 
State of California, all appurtenances thereto and all improvements thereon. 
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EXHIBIT C 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

Real property in the City of Santa Ana, County of Orange, State of California, described as 
follows: 
 
PARCEL A: 
 
PARCEL 1 IN THE CITY OF SANTA ANA, COUNTY OF ORANGE, CALIFORNIA, AS 
PER MAP RECORDED IN BOOK 25, PAGE 8, OF PARCEL MAPS, IN THE OFFICE OF 
THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 
 
PARCEL B: 
THAT PORTION OF LOT 25 OF TRACT NO. 3505, AS SHOWN ON A MAP RECORDED 
IN BOOK 125, PAGES 9 AND 10 OF MISCELLANEOUS MAPS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
PARCEL 2 AS SHOWN ON A MAP FILED IN BOOK 25, PAGE 8 OF PARCEL MAPS, IN 
THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 
 
APN: 400-242-01 (Affects Parcel A) 
400-242-02 (Affects Parcel B) 
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EXHIBIT D 
 

SCHEDULE OF BASE RENT PAYMENTS 

 
Ednovate – Legacy College Prep 

 A B A+B 

Date Base Rent 
Additional 

Rent Total Rent 

8/20/2018 - 2,013.85 2,013.85 

9/20/2018 - 2,013.85 2,013.85 

10/20/2018 - 2,013.85 2,013.85 

11/20/2018 - 2,013.85 2,013.85 

12/20/2018 - 2,013.85 2,013.85 

1/20/2019 - 2,013.85 2,013.85 

2/20/2019 - 2,013.85 2,013.85 

3/20/2019 - 2,013.85 2,013.85 

4/20/2019 - 2,013.85 2,013.85 

5/20/2019 - 2,013.85 2,013.85 

6/20/2019 - 2,013.85 2,013.85 

7/20/2019 - 1,961.78 1,961.78 

8/20/2019 63,145.84 1,961.78 65,107.62 

9/20/2019 63,145.84 1,961.78 65,107.62 

10/20/2019 63,145.84 1,961.78 65,107.62 

11/20/2019 63,145.84 1,961.78 65,107.62 

12/20/2019 63,145.84 1,961.78 65,107.62 

1/20/2020 63,145.84 1,961.78 65,107.62 

2/20/2020 63,145.84 1,961.78 65,107.62 

3/20/2020 63,145.84 1,961.78 65,107.62 

4/20/2020 63,145.84 1,961.78 65,107.62 

5/20/2020 63,145.84 1,961.78 65,107.62 

6/20/2020 68,979.18 1,961.78 70,940.96 

7/20/2020 68,979.18 1,960.90 70,940.08 

8/20/2020 68,979.18 1,960.90 70,940.08 

9/20/2020 68,979.18 1,960.90 70,940.08 

10/20/2020 68,979.18 1,960.90 70,940.08 

11/20/2020 68,979.18 1,960.90 70,940.08 

12/20/2020 68,979.18 1,960.90 70,940.08 

1/20/2021 68,979.18 1,960.90 70,940.08 

2/20/2021 68,979.18 1,960.90 70,940.08 

3/20/2021 68,979.18 1,960.90 70,940.08 

4/20/2021 68,979.18 1,960.90 70,940.08 
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5/20/2021 68,979.18 1,960.90 70,940.08 

6/20/2021 75,354.17 1,960.90 77,315.07 

7/20/2021 75,354.17 1,955.03 77,309.20 

8/20/2021 75,354.17 570.03 75,924.20 

9/20/2021 75,354.17 570.03 75,924.20 

10/20/2021 75,354.17 570.03 75,924.20 

11/20/2021 75,354.17 570.03 75,924.20 

12/20/2021 75,354.17 570.03 75,924.20 

1/20/2022 75,354.17 570.03 75,924.20 

2/20/2022 75,354.17 570.03 75,924.20 

3/20/2022 75,354.17 570.03 75,924.20 

4/20/2022 75,354.17 570.03 75,924.20 

5/20/2022 75,354.17 570.03 75,924.20 

6/20/2022 76,812.51 570.03 77,382.54 

7/20/2022 76,812.51 567.84 77,380.35 

8/20/2022 76,812.51 567.84 77,380.35 

9/20/2022 76,812.51 567.84 77,380.35 

10/20/2022 76,812.51 567.84 77,380.35 

11/20/2022 76,812.51 567.84 77,380.35 

12/20/2022 76,812.51 567.84 77,380.35 

1/20/2023 76,812.51 567.84 77,380.35 

2/20/2023 76,812.51 567.84 77,380.35 

3/20/2023 76,812.51 567.84 77,380.35 

4/20/2023 76,812.51 567.84 77,380.35 

5/20/2023 76,812.51 567.84 77,380.35 

6/20/2023 76,916.67 567.84 77,484.51 

7/20/2023 76,916.67 565.53 77,482.20 

8/20/2023 76,916.67 565.53 77,482.20 

9/20/2023 76,916.67 565.53 77,482.20 

10/20/2023 76,916.67 565.53 77,482.20 

11/20/2023 76,916.67 565.53 77,482.20 

12/20/2023 76,916.67 565.53 77,482.20 

1/20/2024 76,916.67 565.53 77,482.20 

2/20/2024 76,916.67 565.53 77,482.20 

3/20/2024 76,916.67 565.53 77,482.20 

4/20/2024 76,916.67 565.53 77,482.20 

5/20/2024 76,916.67 565.53 77,482.20 

6/20/2024 76,979.17 565.53 77,544.70 
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7/20/2024 76,979.17 563.09 77,542.26 

8/20/2024 76,979.17 563.09 77,542.26 

9/20/2024 76,979.17 563.09 77,542.26 

10/20/2024 76,979.17 563.09 77,542.26 

11/20/2024 76,979.17 563.09 77,542.26 

12/20/2024 76,979.17 563.09 77,542.26 

1/20/2025 76,979.17 563.09 77,542.26 

2/20/2025 76,979.17 563.09 77,542.26 

3/20/2025 76,979.17 563.09 77,542.26 

4/20/2025 76,979.17 563.09 77,542.26 

5/20/2025 76,979.17 563.09 77,542.26 

6/20/2025 77,000.01 563.09 77,563.10 

7/20/2025 77,000.01 560.53 77,560.54 

8/20/2025 77,000.01 560.53 77,560.54 

9/20/2025 77,000.01 560.53 77,560.54 

10/20/2025 77,000.01 560.53 77,560.54 

11/20/2025 77,000.01 560.53 77,560.54 

12/20/2025 77,000.01 560.53 77,560.54 

1/20/2026 77,000.01 560.53 77,560.54 

2/20/2026 77,000.01 560.53 77,560.54 

3/20/2026 77,000.01 560.53 77,560.54 

4/20/2026 77,000.01 560.53 77,560.54 

5/20/2026 77,000.01 560.53 77,560.54 

6/20/2026 76,979.17 560.53 77,539.70 

7/20/2026 76,979.17 557.84 77,537.01 

8/20/2026 76,979.17 557.84 77,537.01 

9/20/2026 76,979.17 557.84 77,537.01 

10/20/2026 76,979.17 557.84 77,537.01 

11/20/2026 76,979.17 557.84 77,537.01 

12/20/2026 76,979.17 557.84 77,537.01 

1/20/2027 76,979.17 557.84 77,537.01 

2/20/2027 76,979.17 557.84 77,537.01 

3/20/2027 76,979.17 557.84 77,537.01 

4/20/2027 76,979.17 557.84 77,537.01 

5/20/2027 76,979.17 557.84 77,537.01 

6/20/2027 76,916.67 557.84 77,474.51 

7/20/2027 76,916.67 555.03 77,471.70 

8/20/2027 76,916.67 555.03 77,471.70 
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9/20/2027 76,916.67 555.03 77,471.70 

10/20/2027 76,916.67 555.03 77,471.70 

11/20/2027 76,916.67 555.03 77,471.70 

12/20/2027 76,916.67 555.03 77,471.70 

1/20/2028 76,916.67 555.03 77,471.70 

2/20/2028 76,916.67 555.03 77,471.70 

3/20/2028 76,916.67 555.03 77,471.70 

4/20/2028 76,916.67 555.03 77,471.70 

5/20/2028 76,916.67 555.03 77,471.70 

6/20/2028 76,812.51 555.03 77,367.54 

7/20/2028 76,812.51 552.09 77,364.60 

8/20/2028 76,812.51 552.09 77,364.60 

9/20/2028 76,812.51 552.09 77,364.60 

10/20/2028 76,812.51 552.09 77,364.60 

11/20/2028 76,812.51 552.09 77,364.60 

12/20/2028 76,812.51 552.09 77,364.60 

1/20/2029 76,812.51 552.09 77,364.60 

2/20/2029 76,812.51 552.09 77,364.60 

3/20/2029 76,812.51 552.09 77,364.60 

4/20/2029 76,812.51 552.09 77,364.60 

5/20/2029 76,812.51 552.09 77,364.60 

6/20/2029 76,666.67 552.09 77,218.76 

7/20/2029 76,666.67 549.03 77,215.70 

8/20/2029 76,666.67 549.03 77,215.70 

9/20/2029 76,666.67 549.03 77,215.70 

10/20/2029 76,666.67 549.03 77,215.70 

11/20/2029 76,666.67 549.03 77,215.70 

12/20/2029 76,666.67 549.03 77,215.70 

1/20/2030 76,666.67 549.03 77,215.70 

2/20/2030 76,666.67 549.03 77,215.70 

3/20/2030 76,666.67 549.03 77,215.70 

4/20/2030 76,666.67 549.03 77,215.70 

5/20/2030 76,666.67 549.03 77,215.70 

6/20/2030 76,895.84 549.03 77,444.87 

7/20/2030 76,895.84 545.78 77,441.62 

8/20/2030 76,895.84 545.78 77,441.62 

9/20/2030 76,895.84 545.78 77,441.62 

10/20/2030 76,895.84 545.78 77,441.62 
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11/20/2030 76,895.84 545.78 77,441.62 

12/20/2030 76,895.84 545.78 77,441.62 

1/20/2031 76,895.84 545.78 77,441.62 

2/20/2031 76,895.84 545.78 77,441.62 

3/20/2031 76,895.84 545.78 77,441.62 

4/20/2031 76,895.84 545.78 77,441.62 

5/20/2031 76,895.84 545.78 77,441.62 

6/20/2031 77,062.51 545.78 77,608.29 

7/20/2031 77,062.51 542.34 77,604.85 

8/20/2031 77,062.51 542.34 77,604.85 

9/20/2031 77,062.51 542.34 77,604.85 

10/20/2031 77,062.51 542.34 77,604.85 

11/20/2031 77,062.51 542.34 77,604.85 

12/20/2031 77,062.51 542.34 77,604.85 

1/20/2032 77,062.51 542.34 77,604.85 

2/20/2032 77,062.51 542.34 77,604.85 

3/20/2032 77,062.51 542.34 77,604.85 

4/20/2032 77,062.51 542.34 77,604.85 

5/20/2032 77,062.51 542.34 77,604.85 

6/20/2032 76,750.00 542.34 77,292.34 

7/20/2032 76,750.00 538.78 77,288.78 

8/20/2032 76,750.00 538.78 77,288.78 

9/20/2032 76,750.00 538.78 77,288.78 

10/20/2032 76,750.00 538.78 77,288.78 

11/20/2032 76,750.00 538.78 77,288.78 

12/20/2032 76,750.00 538.78 77,288.78 

1/20/2033 76,750.00 538.78 77,288.78 

2/20/2033 76,750.00 538.78 77,288.78 

3/20/2033 76,750.00 538.78 77,288.78 

4/20/2033 76,750.00 538.78 77,288.78 

5/20/2033 76,750.00 538.78 77,288.78 

6/20/2033 76,812.50 538.78 77,351.28 

7/20/2033 76,812.50 535.03 77,347.53 

8/20/2033 76,812.50 535.03 77,347.53 

9/20/2033 76,812.50 535.03 77,347.53 

10/20/2033 76,812.50 535.03 77,347.53 

11/20/2033 76,812.50 535.03 77,347.53 

12/20/2033 76,812.50 535.03 77,347.53 
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1/20/2034 76,812.50 535.03 77,347.53 

2/20/2034 76,812.50 535.03 77,347.53 

3/20/2034 76,812.50 535.03 77,347.53 

4/20/2034 76,812.50 535.03 77,347.53 

5/20/2034 76,812.50 535.03 77,347.53 

6/20/2034 76,812.50 535.03 77,347.53 

7/20/2034 76,812.50 531.09 77,343.59 

8/20/2034 76,812.50 531.09 77,343.59 

9/20/2034 76,812.50 531.09 77,343.59 

10/20/2034 76,812.50 531.09 77,343.59 

11/20/2034 76,812.50 531.09 77,343.59 

12/20/2034 76,812.50 531.09 77,343.59 

1/20/2035 76,812.50 531.09 77,343.59 

2/20/2035 76,812.50 531.09 77,343.59 

3/20/2035 76,812.50 531.09 77,343.59 

4/20/2035 76,812.50 531.09 77,343.59 

5/20/2035 76,812.50 531.09 77,343.59 

6/20/2035 76,750.00 531.09 77,281.09 

7/20/2035 76,750.00 526.96 77,276.96 

8/20/2035 76,750.00 526.96 77,276.96 

9/20/2035 76,750.00 526.96 77,276.96 

10/20/2035 76,750.00 526.96 77,276.96 

11/20/2035 76,750.00 526.96 77,276.96 

12/20/2035 76,750.00 526.96 77,276.96 

1/20/2036 76,750.00 526.96 77,276.96 

2/20/2036 76,750.00 526.96 77,276.96 

3/20/2036 76,750.00 526.96 77,276.96 

4/20/2036 76,750.00 526.96 77,276.96 

5/20/2036 76,750.00 526.96 77,276.96 

6/20/2036 76,625.00 526.96 77,151.96 

7/20/2036 76,625.00 522.65 77,147.65 

8/20/2036 76,625.00 522.65 77,147.65 

9/20/2036 76,625.00 522.65 77,147.65 

10/20/2036 76,625.00 522.65 77,147.65 

11/20/2036 76,625.00 522.65 77,147.65 

12/20/2036 76,625.00 522.65 77,147.65 

1/20/2037 76,625.00 522.65 77,147.65 

2/20/2037 76,625.00 522.65 77,147.65 
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3/20/2037 76,625.00 522.65 77,147.65 

4/20/2037 76,625.00 522.65 77,147.65 

5/20/2037 76,625.00 522.65 77,147.65 

6/20/2037 76,854.17 522.65 77,376.82 

7/20/2037 76,854.17 518.09 77,372.26 

8/20/2037 76,854.17 518.09 77,372.26 

9/20/2037 76,854.17 518.09 77,372.26 

10/20/2037 76,854.17 518.09 77,372.26 

11/20/2037 76,854.17 518.09 77,372.26 

12/20/2037 76,854.17 518.09 77,372.26 

1/20/2038 76,854.17 518.09 77,372.26 

2/20/2038 76,854.17 518.09 77,372.26 

3/20/2038 76,854.17 518.09 77,372.26 

4/20/2038 76,854.17 518.09 77,372.26 

5/20/2038 76,854.17 518.09 77,372.26 

6/20/2038 77,000.01 518.09 77,518.10 

7/20/2038 77,000.01 513.28 77,513.29 

8/20/2038 77,000.01 513.28 77,513.29 

9/20/2038 77,000.01 513.28 77,513.29 

10/20/2038 77,000.01 513.28 77,513.29 

11/20/2038 77,000.01 513.28 77,513.29 

12/20/2038 77,000.01 513.28 77,513.29 

1/20/2039 77,000.01 513.28 77,513.29 

2/20/2039 77,000.01 513.28 77,513.29 

3/20/2039 77,000.01 513.28 77,513.29 

4/20/2039 77,000.01 513.28 77,513.29 

5/20/2039 77,000.01 513.28 77,513.29 

6/20/2039 76,645.84 513.28 77,159.12 

7/20/2039 76,645.84 508.28 77,154.12 

8/20/2039 76,645.84 508.28 77,154.12 

9/20/2039 76,645.84 508.28 77,154.12 

10/20/2039 76,645.84 508.28 77,154.12 

11/20/2039 76,645.84 508.28 77,154.12 

12/20/2039 76,645.84 508.28 77,154.12 

1/20/2040 76,645.84 508.28 77,154.12 

2/20/2040 76,645.84 508.28 77,154.12 

3/20/2040 76,645.84 508.28 77,154.12 

4/20/2040 76,645.84 508.28 77,154.12 
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5/20/2040 76,645.84 508.28 77,154.12 

6/20/2040 76,645.84 508.28 77,154.12 

7/20/2040 76,645.84 503.03 77,148.87 

8/20/2040 76,645.84 503.03 77,148.87 

9/20/2040 76,645.84 503.03 77,148.87 

10/20/2040 76,645.84 503.03 77,148.87 

11/20/2040 76,645.84 503.03 77,148.87 

12/20/2040 76,645.84 503.03 77,148.87 

1/20/2041 76,645.84 503.03 77,148.87 

2/20/2041 76,645.84 503.03 77,148.87 

3/20/2041 76,645.84 503.03 77,148.87 

4/20/2041 76,645.84 503.03 77,148.87 

5/20/2041 76,645.84 503.03 77,148.87 

6/20/2041 76,979.18 503.03 77,482.21 

7/20/2041 76,979.18 497.46 77,476.64 

8/20/2041 76,979.18 497.46 77,476.64 

9/20/2041 76,979.18 497.46 77,476.64 

10/20/2041 76,979.18 497.46 77,476.64 

11/20/2041 76,979.18 497.46 77,476.64 

12/20/2041 76,979.18 497.46 77,476.64 

1/20/2042 76,979.18 497.46 77,476.64 

2/20/2042 76,979.18 497.46 77,476.64 

3/20/2042 76,979.18 497.46 77,476.64 

4/20/2042 76,979.18 497.46 77,476.64 

5/20/2042 76,979.18 497.46 77,476.64 

6/20/2042 76,791.67 497.46 77,289.13 

7/20/2042 76,791.67 491.65 77,283.32 

8/20/2042 76,791.67 491.65 77,283.32 

9/20/2042 76,791.67 491.65 77,283.32 

10/20/2042 76,791.67 491.65 77,283.32 

11/20/2042 76,791.67 491.65 77,283.32 

12/20/2042 76,791.67 491.65 77,283.32 

1/20/2043 76,791.67 491.65 77,283.32 

2/20/2043 76,791.67 491.65 77,283.32 

3/20/2043 76,791.67 491.65 77,283.32 

4/20/2043 76,791.67 491.65 77,283.32 

5/20/2043 76,791.67 491.65 77,283.32 

6/20/2043 76,937.51 491.65 77,429.16 
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7/20/2043 76,937.51 485.53 77,423.04 

8/20/2043 76,937.51 485.53 77,423.04 

9/20/2043 76,937.51 485.53 77,423.04 

10/20/2043 76,937.51 485.53 77,423.04 

11/20/2043 76,937.51 485.53 77,423.04 

12/20/2043 76,937.51 485.53 77,423.04 

1/20/2044 76,937.51 485.53 77,423.04 

2/20/2044 76,937.51 485.53 77,423.04 

3/20/2044 76,937.51 485.53 77,423.04 

4/20/2044 76,937.51 485.53 77,423.04 

5/20/2044 76,937.51 485.53 77,423.04 

6/20/2044 76,979.17 485.53 77,464.70 

7/20/2044 76,979.17 479.09 77,458.26 

8/20/2044 76,979.17 479.09 77,458.26 

9/20/2044 76,979.17 479.09 77,458.26 

10/20/2044 76,979.17 479.09 77,458.26 

11/20/2044 76,979.17 479.09 77,458.26 

12/20/2044 76,979.17 479.09 77,458.26 

1/20/2045 76,979.17 479.09 77,458.26 

2/20/2045 76,979.17 479.09 77,458.26 

3/20/2045 76,979.17 479.09 77,458.26 

4/20/2045 76,979.17 479.09 77,458.26 

5/20/2045 76,979.17 479.09 77,458.26 

6/20/2045 76,916.67 479.09 77,395.76 

7/20/2045 76,916.67 472.34 77,389.01 

8/20/2045 76,916.67 472.34 77,389.01 

9/20/2045 76,916.67 472.34 77,389.01 

10/20/2045 76,916.67 472.34 77,389.01 

11/20/2045 76,916.67 472.34 77,389.01 

12/20/2045 76,916.67 472.34 77,389.01 

1/20/2046 76,916.67 472.34 77,389.01 

2/20/2046 76,916.67 472.34 77,389.01 

3/20/2046 76,916.67 472.34 77,389.01 

4/20/2046 76,916.67 472.34 77,389.01 

5/20/2046 76,916.67 472.34 77,389.01 

6/20/2046 76,750.01 472.34 77,222.35 

7/20/2046 76,750.01 465.28 77,215.29 

8/20/2046 76,750.01 465.28 77,215.29 
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9/20/2046 76,750.01 465.28 77,215.29 

10/20/2046 76,750.01 465.28 77,215.29 

11/20/2046 76,750.01 465.28 77,215.29 

12/20/2046 76,750.01 465.28 77,215.29 

1/20/2047 76,750.01 465.28 77,215.29 

2/20/2047 76,750.01 465.28 77,215.29 

3/20/2047 76,750.01 465.28 77,215.29 

4/20/2047 76,750.01 465.28 77,215.29 

5/20/2047 76,750.01 465.28 77,215.29 

6/20/2047 76,895.84 465.28 77,361.12 

7/20/2047 76,895.84 457.84 77,353.68 

8/20/2047 76,895.84 457.84 77,353.68 

9/20/2047 76,895.84 457.84 77,353.68 

10/20/2047 76,895.84 457.84 77,353.68 

11/20/2047 76,895.84 457.84 77,353.68 

12/20/2047 76,895.84 457.84 77,353.68 

1/20/2048 76,895.84 457.84 77,353.68 

2/20/2048 76,895.84 457.84 77,353.68 

3/20/2048 76,895.84 457.84 77,353.68 

4/20/2048 76,895.84 457.84 77,353.68 

5/20/2048 76,895.84 457.84 77,353.68 

6/20/2048 76,916.68 457.84 77,374.52 

7/20/2048 76,916.68 450.03 77,366.71 

8/20/2048 76,916.68 450.03 77,366.71 

9/20/2048 76,916.68 450.03 77,366.71 

10/20/2048 76,916.68 450.03 77,366.71 

11/20/2048 76,916.68 450.03 77,366.71 

12/20/2048 76,916.68 450.03 77,366.71 

1/20/2049 76,916.68 450.03 77,366.71 

2/20/2049 76,916.68 450.03 77,366.71 

3/20/2049 76,916.68 450.03 77,366.71 

4/20/2049 76,916.68 450.03 77,366.71 

5/20/2049 76,916.68 450.03 77,366.71 

6/20/2049 76,812.51 450.03 77,262.54 

7/20/2049 76,812.51 441.84 77,254.35 

8/20/2049 76,812.51 441.84 77,254.35 

9/20/2049 76,812.51 441.84 77,254.35 

10/20/2049 76,812.51 441.84 77,254.35 
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Ednovate – Legacy College Prep 
 A B A+B 

Date Base Rent 
Additional 

Rent Total Rent 

11/20/2049 76,812.51 441.84 77,254.35 

12/20/2049 76,812.51 441.84 77,254.35 

1/20/2050 76,812.51 441.84 77,254.35 

2/20/2050 76,812.51 441.84 77,254.35 

3/20/2050 76,812.51 441.84 77,254.35 

4/20/2050 76,812.51 441.84 77,254.35 

5/20/2050 76,812.51 441.84 77,254.35 

6/20/2050 77,000.00 441.84 77,441.84 

7/20/2050 77,000.00 433.21 77,433.21 

8/20/2050 77,000.00 433.21 77,433.21 

9/20/2050 77,000.00 433.21 77,433.21 

10/20/2050 77,000.00 433.21 77,433.21 

11/20/2050 77,000.00 433.21 77,433.21 

12/20/2050 77,000.00 433.21 77,433.21 

1/20/2051 77,000.00 433.21 77,433.21 

2/20/2051 77,000.00 433.21 77,433.21 

3/20/2051 77,000.00 433.21 77,433.21 

4/20/2051 77,000.00 433.21 77,433.21 

5/20/2051 77,000.00 433.21 77,433.21 

6/20/2051 76,625.00 433.21 77,058.21 

7/20/2051 76,625.00 425.00 77,050.00 

8/20/2051 76,625.00 425.00 77,050.00 

9/20/2051 76,625.00 425.00 77,050.00 

10/20/2051 76,625.00 425.00 77,050.00 

11/20/2051 76,625.00 425.00 77,050.00 

12/20/2051 76,625.00 425.00 77,050.00 

1/20/2052 76,625.00 425.00 77,050.00 

2/20/2052 76,625.00 425.00 77,050.00 

3/20/2052 76,625.00 425.00 77,050.00 

4/20/2052 76,625.00 425.00 77,050.00 

5/20/2052 76,625.00 425.00 77,050.00 

6/20/2052 76,958.34 425.00 77,383.34 

7/20/2052 76,958.34 425.00 77,383.34 

8/20/2052 76,958.34 425.00 77,383.34 

9/20/2052 76,958.34 425.00 77,383.34 

10/20/2052 76,958.34 425.00 77,383.34 

11/20/2052 76,958.34 425.00 77,383.34 

12/20/2052 76,958.34 425.00 77,383.34 
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Ednovate – Legacy College Prep 
 A B A+B 

Date Base Rent 
Additional 

Rent Total Rent 

1/20/2053 76,958.34 425.00 77,383.34 

2/20/2053 76,958.34 425.00 77,383.34 

3/20/2053 76,958.34 425.00 77,383.34 

4/20/2053 76,958.34 425.00 77,383.34 

5/20/2053 76,958.34 425.00 77,383.34 

6/20/2053 76,708.34 425.00 77,133.34 

7/20/2053 76,708.34 425.00 77,133.34 

8/20/2053 76,708.34 425.00 77,133.34 

9/20/2053 76,708.34 425.00 77,133.34 

10/20/2053 76,708.34 425.00 77,133.34 

11/20/2053 76,708.34 425.00 77,133.34 

12/20/2053 76,708.34 425.00 77,133.34 

1/20/2054 76,708.34 425.00 77,133.34 

2/20/2054 76,708.34 425.00 77,133.34 

3/20/2054 76,708.34 425.00 77,133.34 

4/20/2054 76,708.34 425.00 77,133.34 

5/20/2054 76,708.34 425.00 77,133.34 

6/20/2054 76,729.18 425.00 77,154.18 

7/20/2054 76,729.18 425.00 77,154.18 

8/20/2054 76,729.18 425.00 77,154.18 

9/20/2054 76,729.18 425.00 77,154.18 

10/20/2054 76,729.18 425.00 77,154.18 

11/20/2054 76,729.18 425.00 77,154.18 

12/20/2054 76,729.18 425.00 77,154.18 

1/20/2055 76,729.18 425.00 77,154.18 

2/20/2055 76,729.18 425.00 77,154.18 

3/20/2055 76,729.18 425.00 77,154.18 

4/20/2055 76,729.18 425.00 77,154.18 

5/20/2055 76,729.18 425.00 77,154.18 

6/20/2055 77,000.01 425.00 77,425.01 

7/20/2055 77,000.01 - 77,000.01 

8/20/2055 77,000.01 - 77,000.01 

9/20/2055 77,000.01 - 77,000.01 

10/20/2055 77,000.01 - 77,000.01 

11/20/2055 77,000.01 - 77,000.01 

12/20/2055 77,000.01 - 77,000.01 

1/20/2056 77,000.01 - 77,000.01 

2/20/2056 77,000.01 - 77,000.01 
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Ednovate – Legacy College Prep 
 A B A+B 

Date Base Rent 
Additional 

Rent Total Rent 

3/20/2056 77,000.01 - 77,000.01 

4/20/2056 77,000.01 - 77,000.01 

5/20/2056 77,000.01 - 77,000.01 
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EXHIBIT E 
 

FORM OF INTERCEPT NOTICE 

Notice to the State Controller Pursuant to Education Code Section 17199.4 

[Insert Date] 

 
Re: California School Finance Authority Charter School Facility Revenue Bonds (Ednovate – 

Obligated Group) Series 2018 
 

WHEREAS, PMC (the “Borrower”) has entered into a Loan Agreement, dated as of  
July 1, 2018, by and between the California School Finance Authority (the “Authority”) and the 
Borrower, providing for a loan (the “Loan”) for the acquisition and construction of charter 
school facilities to be owned by PMC 17th Street LLC, a California limited liability company, 
and leased to Ednovate, Inc., a California nonprofit public benefit corporation, which operates 
Ednovate – Legacy College Prep, a school established pursuant to the Charter Schools Act of 
1992, as amended, constituting Part 26.8 (commencing with Section 47600) of Division 4 of 
Title 2 of the Education Code of the State of California (the “Lessee”) (CDS# 30-10306-
0133983); and 

WHEREAS, the Authority has issued its above-referenced revenue bonds (the “Bonds”) 
to fund the Loan; 

NOW THEREFORE, NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN PURSUANT TO SECTION 
17199.4(c) OF THE EDUCATION CODE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA TO THE 
STATE CONTROLLER OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA (the “State Controller”), that: 

1. The governing board of the Lessee has elected, pursuant to a resolution adopted 
on [______], 2018 and Section 17199.4(c) of the Education Code, to direct the State Controller 
to make transfers at the times and in the amounts (or such lesser amounts as are available to 
transfer) in the “State Intercept” column set forth on Schedule I attached hereto, directly to 
Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), for the Bonds.  If the amount 
transferred on any transfer date is less than the amount in the “State Intercept” column set forth 
on Schedule I attached hereto, then such deficiency shall be added to subsequent transfers until 
no deficiency remains. 

2. Transfers pursuant to paragraph 1 above shall be paid by wire transfer of immediately 
available funds to 

 Wilmington Trust Bank, National Association 
 650 Town Center Drive, Suite 600 
 Costa Mesa, California 92626 
 Attention:  Corporate Trust Services 
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(Signature on next page]
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(Signature page to Intercept Notice) 

 

 EDNOVATE, INC., as operator of 
Ednovate – Legacy College Prep 
 
 
By:  ____________________________ 
Name: ____________________________ 
Title: ____________________________ 
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EXHIBIT F 
 

MANDATORY COVENANTS 
 

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Exhibit F shall have the meanings ascribed to 
such terms in the Lease Agreement to which this Exhibit forms a part (the “Lease”) and the 
Master Indenture of Trust.   

1. Lessee Covenants:  Lessee acknowledges that the Premises secure Lessor’s 
obligations under the Bond Documents.  Accordingly:  

1.1 Lessee covenants and agrees that so long as any bonds or loans remain 
outstanding, Lessee shall maintain a charter school facility providing educational services to 
students within the territorial limits required, if any, pursuant to Lessee’s charter. 

1.2 Lessee covenants and agrees to take all reasonable actions to maintain its 
current or any future charter (“Lessee’s Charter”) for the School with a sponsoring entity and to 
take or cause to be taken any and all actions required to renew or extend the term of its charter 
with a sponsoring entity.  As soon as practicable, Lessee shall provide Lessor with a copy of any 
notice received with regards to any sponsoring entity's intent to renew or extend the term of any 
such charter or any notice of any issues that if not corrected or resolved could lead to termination 
or nonrenewal of any such charter.  If such charter is terminated or not renewed, Lessee shall use 
commercially reasonable efforts, and shall cooperate with Lessor, to assign this Lease to an 
entity that maintains a charter with a sponsoring entity.  In addition, Lessee shall maintain 
accreditation status under the Charter Schools Act of 1992, as amended (constituting Part 26.8 of 
Division 4 of Title 2 of the California Education Code) and related administrative rules and shall 
satisfy the student performance accountability standards stated in its application for its charter. 

1.3 Lessee will permit the Lessor to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts 
of Lessee or any information the Lessor may reasonably request with appropriate officers of 
Lessee, and will grant the Lessor access to the facilities, books and records related to the 
Improvements or Lessee on any business day upon reasonable prior notice. 

2. Bondholder/Authority Protection Regarding Lessee Defaults:  At any time 
when there is a Security Device against the Premises, the following provisions shall apply: 

2.1 Prior to exercising any right or remedy that would have the effect of 
terminating the Lease (or that would terminate the Lease if Lessee does not satisfy conditions, 
such as payment of delinquent Rents), the Lessor must give the Authority written notice of 
default and an opportunity to cure (a) monetary defaults within ten (10) days after notice; and (b) 
all other defaults within the time allowed by the Lease for Lessee to perform. 

2.2 Before any termination remedy may be exercised against Lessee, if any 
cure of a non-monetary default requires that the Authority obtain possession of the Premises, 
then the time of Authority to cure shall be extended to ten (10) days after it has obtained 
possession, provided that Lessor has moved with all due diligence to exercise its remedies to 
obtain possession. 
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2.3 Before any termination remedy may be exercised against Lessee, if an 
Event of Default requires more time to cure than allowed above, then on demonstration that the 
Authority has worked in good faith and with all due speed to cure the Default, the Authority may 
extend the time to perform by another thirty (30) days. 

2.4 Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, no lender shall have a liability 
or obligation to cure an Event of Default. 

2.5 Lessee shall not take any action, or omit to take any action required of it 
by the Lease, that will impair or diminish the security of the existing Security Devices, including 
any acts/omissions that will have a negative effect on the tax status of the Security Device. 

3. Lessee’s Financial Covenants.  For clarity, the financial covenants set forth 
below shall be applied pursuant and subject to the provisions below.  With respect to any 
retention of an Independent Consultant hereunder, Lessee hereby covenants that Lessee shall 
comply with and shall be bound by the selection procedures set forth in the Bond Documents. 

3.1 Payment Coverage Ratio.  Lessee covenants and agrees to calculate for 
each Fiscal Year its Payment Coverage Ratio for each Lease based on its audited financial 
statements for such Fiscal Year, and to provide a copy of such calculation for such period to the 
Lessor and the Master Trustee annually commencing with the Fiscal Year ending June 30 of the 
Fiscal Year in which the Lease is executed or June 30, 2020, whichever is later. Lessee also 
covenants to maintain its Net Operating School Revenue so that its Payment Coverage Ratio at 
the end of each Fiscal Year is not less than 1.10 to 1.00; provided that, except as provided below, 
Lessee’s failure to achieve the required Payment Coverage Ratio will not constitute an Event of 
Default under any Lease or School Loan Agreement if Lessee promptly engages an Independent 
Consultant to prepare a report, to be delivered to Lessee, Lessor and Master Trustee within 45 
days of engagement, with recommendations for meeting the required Payment Coverage Ratio 
or, if in the opinion of the Independent Consultant the attainment of such level is impracticable, 
to the highest level attainable in such Fiscal Year. The Independent Consultant selected and 
appointed by Lessee may be rejected upon the written request of the holders of not less than a 
majority in aggregate principal amount of the Related Bonds then Outstanding; if so rejected, 
Lessee covenants to use its best efforts to appoint a new Independent Consultant within 45 days 
thereof.  Any Independent Consultant will be required to submit its recommendations to Lessor 
and Master Trustee within 90 days after being so retained.  Lessee, on behalf of the Obligated 
Group Schools, agrees to implement the recommendations of the Independent Consultant, to the 
extent permitted by law.  Lessee will not be obligated to retain such an Independent Consultant 
more often than once during any 24 month period.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee’s 
failure to achieve a Payment Coverage Ratio of 1.00 to 1.00 will constitute an Event of Default 
hereunder. 

3.1.1 “Payment Coverage Ratio” means for any period of time the ratio 
determined by dividing (i) Net Operating School Revenue, by (ii) the sum of the amount of 
scheduled Base Rent under the Lease and the amount of scheduled School Loan Repayments 
under the School Loan Agreement. 
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3.1.2 “Support Office Management Fees” means any fee or charge, 
including any funds transfer recognized as an expenditure for accounting purposes, charged by 
Lessee for management services provided to the School, including pursuant to a Management 
Agreement, which fee shall be subordinate to the payment of Rent due under this Lease. 

3.1.3 “Gross School Revenues” means all revenue, income, receipts 
and money received by the Lessee or on behalf of Lessee from all lawfully available sources 
attributable to its operation of the School and to any other charter school operated by Lessee in 
the properties subject to the Leases or related to the School Loan Agreements, including from 
any applicable district or county or from the State pursuant to the Charter School Law from any 
general purpose entitlement, revenue limit, or State educational funding sources; but excluding 
gifts, grants, bequests, donations and contributions, to the extent specifically restricted by the 
donor to a particular purpose inconsistent with their use for Rent payments or operating 
expenses.  Any other income, revenue, receipts, contributions or other monies received by Lessee 
not specifically described in the immediately preceding sentence shall not constitute Gross 
School Revenues. 

3.1.4 “Management Agreement” means any agreement between Lessee 
and a charter school, including charter schools operated or managed by Lessee, pursuant to 
which Lessee provides management services. 

3.1.5 “Net Operating School Revenue” means Lessee’s Gross School 
Revenues minus its Operating Expenses; provided, that no determination thereof will take into 
account:  (a) any gain or loss resulting from either the early extinguishment or refinancing of 
Obligated Group School Indebtedness or the sale, exchange or other disposition of capital assets 
not made in the ordinary course of business; (b) gifts, grants, bequests, donations or 
contributions, and income therefrom, to the extent specifically permanently restricted by the 
donor or by law to a particular purpose inconsistent with their use for the payment of Operating 
Expenses; (c) the net proceeds of insurance (other than business interruption insurance) and 
condemnation awards; (d) adjustments to the value of assets or liabilities resulting from changes 
in generally accepted accounting principles; (e) unrealized gains or losses that do not result in the 
receipt or expenditure of cash; and (f) nonrecurring items which involve the receipt, expenditure 
or transfer of assets. 

3.1.6 “Obligated Group School Indebtedness” means Indebtedness (as 
such term is defined in the Master Indenture of Trust) related to or payable from revenues of the 
applicable Obligated Group School and to any other charter school operated by Lessee at the 
Facility subject to the Lease or related to the School Loan Agreement.  

3.1.7 “Operating Expenses” means, except as provided below, all 
unrestricted expenses of the Lessee, attributable to operations of the applicable Obligated Group 
School and to any other charter school operated by the Lessee at the Facility, including 
maintenance, repair expenses, utility expenses, equipment lease and other rental expense 
(excluding the Base Rent, School Loan Repayments, and the Extraordinary Monthly Rent, if any, 
but including Expenses and Additional Rent), administrative and legal expenses, miscellaneous 
operating expenses, advertising and promotion costs, payroll expenses (including taxes), the cost 
of material and supplies used for current operations of the Lessee, the cost of vehicles, equipment 
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leases and service contracts, taxes upon the operations of the Lessee not otherwise mentioned 
herein, charges for the accumulation of appropriate reserves for current expenses not annually 
recurrent, but which are such as may reasonably be expected to be incurred in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, all in such amounts as reasonably determined by the 
Lessors.  “Operating Expenses” shall exclude, however, (i) all subordinated Support Office 
Management Fees, (ii) depreciation and amortization, and (iii) any expenses which are treated as 
extraordinary in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

3.2 Liquidity Covenant.  Lessee shall calculate Consolidated Days Cash on 
Hand (defined below) for the Obligated Group Schools as of the last day of each Fiscal Year, 
commencing with the immediately succeeding Fiscal Year commencing after the effective date 
of such Lease or June 30, 2020, whichever is later, based upon its audited financial statements for 
such Fiscal Year and file such reports with Master Trustee.  For each calculation date, the 
Obligated Group Schools will maintain Consolidated Days Cash on Hand as of the last day of 
each Fiscal Year equal to or greater than 45 days. 

3.2.1 “Consolidated Days Cash on Hand” means (i) the sum of cash 
and cash equivalents of the Obligated Group Schools, as shown on Lessee’s audited financial 
statements for each Fiscal Year, and any State Controller payments accrued to such Fiscal Year 
and scheduled to be received within two months following the end of such Fiscal Year; divided 
by (ii) the Average Daily Expenses for Obligated Group Schools (as calculated for the most 
recent Fiscal Year ending before such date). 

3.2.2 “Average Daily Expenses for Obligated Group Schools” means 
(A) cash requirements during such Fiscal Year related to or payable from revenues attributable to 
the Obligated Group Schools (excluding from such calculation all depreciation and other non-
cash items), and including within such calculation on behalf of the Obligated Group Schools in 
the aggregate (i) all Operating Expenses for such Fiscal Year for the Obligated Group Schools, 
(ii) subordinated Support Office Management Fees, and (iii) the maximum annual sum of the 
Base Rent and School Loan Repayments payable under the Leases and School Loan Agreements, 
respectively, for all Obligated Group Schools between Lessee and any member of the Obligated 
Group for that year or any other year, divided by (B) 365. 

3.2.3 Lessee will provide a certificate to the Lessor and Master Trustee 
at the time of delivery of its annual audited financial statements for each Fiscal Year indicating 
whether Lessee, on behalf of the Obligated Group Schools, has met the requirement set forth 
above.  If the certificate indicates that such cash balance requirement has not been met, Lessee 
covenants to retain an Independent Consultant at the expense of Lessee, on behalf of the 
Obligated Group Schools, within 45 days, to make recommendations to increase such balances in 
the then-current Fiscal Year to the required level or, if in the opinion of the Independent 
Consultant the attainment of such level is impracticable, to the highest level attainable in such 
Fiscal Year.  The Independent Consultant selected and appointed by Lessee may be rejected upon 
the written request of the holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the 
Related Bonds then Outstanding; if so rejected, Lessee covenants to use its best efforts to appoint 
a new Independent Consultant within 45 days thereof.  Any Independent Consultant will be 
required to submit its recommendations to Lessor and Master Trustee within 90 days after being 
so retained.  Lessee, on behalf of the Obligated Group Schools, agrees to implement the 
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recommendations of the Independent Consultant, to the extent permitted by law.  Lessee will not 
be obligated to retain such an Independent Consultant on behalf of the Obligated Group Schools 
more often than once during any 24 month period. 

3.2.4 No proceeds of any Short-Term Indebtedness will be considered 
unrestricted available cash for purposes of such calculation (other than the proceeds of any 
working capital loans made to bridge deferrals in State payments or start-up loans from the State 
of California or the California Department of Education). 

3.2.5 In the event the Obligated Group Schools fail to have such an 
amount on deposit, it will not be a default or Event of Default under the Lease. 

3.3 Limitation on Liens on Gross Revenues of the Schools.  Except as 
provided in Section 3.4 below, the Lessee covenants and agrees that it will not create, assume or 
suffer to exist any lien upon the Gross Revenues of the Schools in the Revenue Fund. 

3.4 Limitations on Obligated Group Indebtedness.  Lessee covenants that it 
will not incur, assume or guarantee (“incur”), any Obligated Group School Indebtedness (secured 
or unsecured), except Obligated Group School Indebtedness with respect to purposes specifically 
benefiting Lessee, and except as provided below. 

3.4.1 Nonrecourse Indebtedness.  To the extent permitted by applicable 
law and if no Event of Default under the Lease, or an event that with the giving of notice or 
passage of time or both would constitute an Event of Default under the Lease, has occurred and 
is continuing, Lessee may incur or assume Nonrecourse Indebtedness (as defined below), but 
limited with Short-Term Indebtedness (as defined below), and Interim Indebtedness (as defined 
below) to a total aggregate principal amount outstanding at any time that is not in excess of the 
greater of:  (i) 25% of Operating Expenses in any Fiscal Year, or (ii) the maximum amount of 
advance apportionment and principal apportionment due to the School in any fiscal year that is 
deferred at any time or subject to deferral pursuant to Section 14041.6 of the California 
Education Code or Sections 16325.5 and 16326 of the California Government Code, or any 
subsequent legislation authorizing additional deferrals of such apportionments (collectively 
“Maximum Deferred Apportionment”). 

(a) “Nonrecourse Indebtedness” means all Obligated Group 
School Indebtedness with respect to which the obligee is prevented by applicable law or 
contractual arrangement from exercising recourse, or any other right or remedy exercisable by a 
creditor, against all or any part of the Premises or the Improvements in order to pay, satisfy or 
discharge all or any part of the Obligated Group School Indebtedness. 

3.4.2 Short-Term Indebtedness.  Lessee may incur Short-Term 
Indebtedness (as defined below) for working capital purposes as in its judgment is deemed 
expedient, provided that in no event will Lessee incur Short-Term Indebtedness, together with 
outstanding Nonrecourse Indebtedness and Interim Indebtedness (defined below) in excess of the 
Maximum Deferred Apportionment.   

(a) “Short-Term Indebtedness” means all Obligated Group 
School Indebtedness having an original maturity less than or equal to one year and not renewable 
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at the option of Lessee for a term greater than one year from the date of original incurrence or 
issuance, provided however, that any Short Term Indebtedness that has been issued as revenue 
anticipation notes (“RANS”) will not be included or counted as Short Term Indebtedness to the 
extent that the RANS are secured by deferred state apportionment revenues expressly pledged 
and deposited in an intercept account to pay such RANS. 

3.4.3 Interim Indebtedness.  Lessee may incur Interim Indebtedness (as 
defined below) to finance or refinance existing capital needs as in its judgment is deemed 
expedient, provided that in no event will Lessee incur Interim Indebtedness, together with 
outstanding Nonrecourse Indebtedness and Short-Term Indebtedness, on a combined basis, is in 
excess of the Maximum Deferred Apportionment.   

(a) “Interim Indebtedness” means all Obligated Group School 
Indebtedness having an original maturity less than or equal to five years and not renewable at the 
option of Lessee for a term greater than five years from the date of original incurrence or 
issuance.   

3.5 Reporting Obligations.  Lessee agrees to provide Lessor, and upon 
written request of the Bond Trustee or Master Trustee, to Bond Trustee or Master Trustee as 
applicable, the following information: 

3.5.1 If Lessee is undertaking any construction at the Premises, not later 
than 60 days after the end of each fiscal quarter of Lessee, a construction progress report with 
respect to any such construction until such construction is substantially complete. 

3.5.2 Quarterly unaudited financial information and operating data of the 
School not later than sixty (60) days after the end of each quarter, commencing with the quarter 
ending December 31, 2018. 

3.5.3 Quarterly, not later than sixty (60) days after the end of each 
quarter, commencing with the quarter ending December 31, 2018, a report of the School’s 
quarterly enrollment data and waitlist data by grade for the previous fiscal quarter. 

3.5.4 Prior to the end of each fiscal year, a copy of the annual budget of 
the School for the subsequent Fiscal Year. 

3.5.5 Quarterly, not later than sixty (60) days after the end of each 
quarter, commencing with the quarter ending December 31, 2018, a year to date comparison of 
the revenue and expenditures in the unaudited financial statements for such quarter to the annual 
budget for the applicable fiscal year. 

3.5.6 Quarterly, not later than sixty (60) days after the end of each 
quarter, commencing with the quarter ending December 31, 2018, a copy of any 
recommendations of any Independent Consultant received in accordance with the Master 
Indenture of Trust pursuant to the liquidity covenant and Payment Coverage Ratio covenant 
under the Obligated Group Leases described above. 

179



 

209670724 V3 

3.5.7 Annually, no later than six (6) months after the close of each fiscal 
year, commencing with the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2018, copies of the audited financial 
statements of Lessee and the Schools for the prior fiscal year prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles applicable to nonprofit corporations from time to time, 
if available. 

3.5.8 Annually, no later than six (6) months after the close of each fiscal 
year, commencing with the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2020, the certifications and calculations 
of the Consolidated Days Cash on Hand for the Schools and the Payment Coverage Ratio for 
each School as described in the Liquidity Covenant and Payment Coverage Ratio covenant under 
the Obligated Group Leases described above. 

3.5.9 Such other information as may be reasonably requested by Lessor, 
the Authority, the Bond Trustee or Master Trustee. 

3.6 Use of Public Moneys.  Lessee covenants that it will not use any public 
money, assets, and funds for support of the public school system that it receives through 
apportionments from the State in a manner that conflicts with or constitutes on its part or on the 
part of the School a violation or breach of any California statute, rule or regulation governing the 
use of those moneys.  In addition, the Authority shall be a third party beneficiary under the Lease 
with respect to this provision of the Lease.  

3.7 Use of Intercept Moneys.  Lessee covenants that all funds subject to the 
Intercept shall only be transferred to a Related Bonds Trustee for Related Bonds issued by the 
California School Finance Authority. 

3.7 Subordination of Support Office Management Fees.  If Lessee enters 
into a Management Agreement for the payment of Support Office Management Fees to Lessee or 
any supporting organization of Lessee under Internal Revenue Code Section 509(a)(3), or any of 
their respective affiliates, with respect to the School, Lessee shall amend any such Management 
Agreement for the School such that, so long as Bonds remain outstanding:  (i) the obligation of 
Lessee to pay Support Office Management Fees relating to the School shall be subordinate to its 
payment of operating expenses of the School and rent payments to Lessor under this Lease; 
(ii) the obligation of Lessee to pay Support Office Management Fees relating to the School shall 
be suspended for any such time as the payment of Support Office Management Fees would cause 
Lessee to fail to meet any of the financial covenants contained in Sections 3.2 or 3.4 herein; and 
(iii) during any period of time when Support Office Management Fees remain unpaid, such fees 
shall accrue without interest.  If Lessee has not engaged a separate manager with respect to the 
School, Lessee agrees that it shall not apply any Gross School Revenues to costs and expenses of 
management unless and until all Rent is fully paid and the Loan is not in default. 
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Ednovate 17th Street Estimate of bond funds

Facilities Project Costs

Construction
Construction 5,566,429.00
Fee 320,986.00
General Conditions 415,150.00
 Revised Contingency 160,816.00 343,263.00
Elevator 150,000.00
Change order- rough carpentry 112,770.00
Change order- Steel 81,000.00
Change order- concrete -11,323.00
General Liability 94,873.00
TOTAL CONSTRUCTION COST ESTIMATE 6,890,701.00

SOFT COSTS

CM/PM 294,000
Architect 168,500
Structural Engineer 38,425 10k added 3/10 for added services
Civil Engineer 18,225
Staking in the GC contract
QSP Services 14,450
On Site Security 80,000 Allowance
City Permits/ development fees/ connect 
fees 30,000 Allowance
Special Inspections/ expedited 15,000 Allowance
Environmental Study
Structural Observation 15,000
Asbestos Abetement- roof mastik 10,000
Traffic
Acoustic/ Air Quality Study
Bond 101,111.00
Subtotal 784,711
MISC
Temp Facility Separate Budget item

Legal/ accounting
Subtotal 0
Data Equipment 150,000 Allowance
FF&E Separate Budget item
Security/ PA System 50,000 Allowance
Clock System
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Estimated Total 8,307,212.00

Project  Contingency 5% 415,361

Project Fund from Financing Proceeds
total Project Budget 8,500,000.00
Over/under budger amount (222,572.60)$             
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FACILITIES 
Ednovate’s goal is for each of its high schools to be in a permanent facility by the time the school is at 
full capacity. We are proud to announce that Ednovate has secured a facility for Legacy College Prep 
that will be completed in SY 2019-20. The school’s permanent address will be 1450 E. 17th St., Santa 
Ana, CA 92705. 
 
Ednovate considered a variety of factors when selecting a facility, including affordability, the ability to 
customize the space for the school’s unique academic model, location, and the number of students the 
space could accommodate.  
 
Legacy College Prep will have five classrooms per grade level, ample office space, a private counseling 
office, space for Special Education pullout services, access to a cafeteria/whole-school meeting space, 
and access to athletic fields and facilities for its physical education program.  

Non-District-Owned Facilities 

Facility Status: The charter petitioner must demonstrate control of a facility such as a commitment from 
the landlord, to ensure that the property is actually available to the charter developer, and that the facility 
is usable with or without conditions (such as a conditional code permit.) The charter school facility shall 
comply with all applicable building codes, standards and regulations adopted by the city and/or county 
agencies responsible for building and safety standards for the city in which the charter school is to be 
located, and the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).  Applicable codes and ADA requirements shall 
also apply to the construction, reconstruction, alteration of or addition to the proposed charter school 
facility.  Charter School shall implement any corrective actions, orders to comply, or notices issued by the 
authorized building and safety agency. Charter School cannot exempt itself from applicable building and 
zoning codes, ordinances, and ADA requirements.  Charter schools are required to adhere to the program 
accessibility requirements of Federal law (Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 504). 
 
Occupancy of the Site:  The charter petitioner or developer shall provide the County with a final Certificate 
of Occupancy issued by the applicable permitting agency, allowing the petitioner to use and occupy the 
site.  Charter School may not open without providing a copy of the Certificate of Occupancy for the 
designated use of the facility. If Charter School moves or expands to another facility during the term of this 
charter, Charter School shall provide a Certificate of Occupancy to the County for each facility before the 
school is scheduled to open or operate in the facility or facilities. Notwithstanding any language to the 
contrary in this charter, the interpretation, application, and enforcement of this provision are not subject to 
the Dispute Resolution Process outlined in Element 14. 
 
Pest Management: Charter School shall comply with the Healthy Schools Act, California Education Code 
Section 17608, which details pest management requirements for schools.   Developers may find additional 
information at: www.laschools.org/employee/mo/ipm. 
  
Asbestos Management: Charter School shall comply with the asbestos requirement as cited in the 
Asbestos Hazard Emergency Response Act (AHERA), 40CFR part 763.  AHERA requires that any building 
leased or acquired that is to be used as a school or administrative building shall maintain an asbestos 
management plan.  
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July 17, 2019 
 
To: Orange County Board of Education  
 
From:  Nina Boyd, Associate Superintendent 
             Kelly Gaughran, Director, Charter Schools 
 
Subject:  Unity Middle College High School – Non-Compliance, Request for Issuance of 

Notice of Violation 
 
The Orange County Board of Education (OCBE) is requested to take action to support an 
official notification (Notice of Violation), pursuant to Education Code section 47607, 
subdivision (d) and the California Code of Regulations, Title 5, section 11968.5.2, of 
immediate concerns of non-compliance by Unity Middle College High School (UMCHS).  
Orange County Department of Education (OCDE) Charter Schools Unit staff will notify 
UMCHS of identified issues and the timeline of corrective action as indicated in this OCBE 
communication. OCBE reserves the right to consider additional evidence presented to 
substantiate the following violations.    
 

LEGAL AUTHORITY 
 
Pursuant to section 47607, subdivision (d), the authorizing entity of a school’s charter is 
required to notify the charter school in writing of any violation and to give the charter 
school a reasonable opportunity to remedy the violation prior to revocation.  Pursuant to 
section 47607, subdivision (c), the authorizing entity may revoke the charter of a charter 
school if it finds, through a showing of substantial evidence, that the charter school: 
 

• Committed a material violation of any of the conditions, standards, procedures 
set forth in the charter. 

• Failed to meet or pursue any of the pupil outcomes identified in the charter. 

• Failed to meet generally accepted accounting principles, or engaged in fiscal 
mismanagement. 

• Violated any provision of law. 
 

BACKGROUND 

 

On August 20, 2015, OCBE granted UMCHS's initial Petition to operate the Charter 

School for five years beginning on July 1, 2016, to June 30, 2021.  UMCHS delayed 

operations for one year and opened in August 2017.  On or about December 14, 2016, 

OCBE entered into an Agreement with UMCHS that was incorporated as part of the 

Petition.   

 

On June 6, 2018, OCBE approved UMCHS's request for a material revision for a change 

in location.  During the public hearing for the material revision, Dr. Erin Craig, Executive 

Director, presented a tenant improvement budget of $225,000 and a construction 

timeline that would begin in June and be completed in August 2018 just before the 

school year was set to start. 
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On October 3, 2018, OCDE staff was notified in writing that on October 2, 2018, UMCHS held an 

emergency board meeting, and unanimously approved the closure of UMCHS as of that date at 5:00 

pm due to the lack of facility and lack of viable facility alternatives.  (Exhibit A)  OCDE staff notified OCBE 

of this closure at OCBE’s October 3, 2018, regularly scheduled board meeting.  On October 8, 2018, the 

Charter School’s board voted to reopen UMCHS.  (Exhibit B) 

 

OCBE has determined that the issues and irregularities, enumerated below, in UMCHS’s operations, 

amount to multiple grounds for NOV in accordance with section 47607.  

 

POTENTIAL GROUNDS FOR NOTICE OF VIOLATION 

 

I. FISCAL MISMANAGEMENT BY CONTINUING TO OPERATE AT A DEFICIT  

 

During the 2018-19 school year, UMCHS incurred over $1,600,000 in debt. Based on information 

received from the Charter School, UMCHS has repaid approximately $400,000 and continues to owe an 

estimated $1,200,000.  Despite requests from OCDE, UMCHS has not submitted a comprehensive plan 

for repayment of its remaining debt.   

 

To address fiscal concerns, UMCHS engaged a new back-office provider in November 2018.  However, 

issues continue to occur, such as failure to submit timely and accurate financial documents and reports, 

STRS and OCDE oversight payments, and an accurate preliminary budget for the 2019-20 school year.  

The school continues to incur more debt and has plans to borrow an additional $350,000 at the 

beginning of the 2019-20 school year. Due to the ongoing concerns, an independent audit is requested, 

as the fiscal solvency of UMCHS is in question, as is the extent of OCBE's liability should the school cease 

operation before retiring all debt. 

 

A. Failure to Account for Ballooning Construction Costs  

 

In June of 2018, OCBE approved a material revision for UMCHS to relocate to the facility at 1937 W. 

Chapman Ave., Orange, CA, 92868, to house the charter school permanently.  UMCHS represented that 

the charter school would be responsible for tenant improvements and obtaining permits from the City 

of Orange. The tenant improvement budget presented to OCBE was a total of $225,000 for construction 

costs and a timeline from June to August 2018.   

 

On July 27, 2018, UMCHS submitted a revised budget (Revised Budget No. 1) that included an increase 

of construction costs of $500,000 for tenant improvements.  On July 27, 2018, OCDE staff met with Dr. 

Craig regarding enrollment, construction timeline, and other outstanding debt and budget 

discrepancies.  Following the meeting and review of UMCHS’s revised budget, OCDE issued Notice of 

Concern #1 to UMCHS emphasizing concerns related to liability for ADA overpayments, construction 

costs increasing by 222%, and the need for a Conditional Use Permit.  (Exhibit C) 

 

On August 8, 2018, UMCHS informed OCDE that the school would not open as scheduled on August 13, 

2018, for the 2018-19 school year because of construction delays.  UMCHS moved the start of the 

school year to August 27, 2018.   
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On August 21, 2018, UMCHS submitted a second revised budget (Revised Budget No. 2) to increase 

construction costs to $564,000.  On August 21, 2018, OCDE met with Dr. Craig and issued Notice of 

Concern #2A on August 24, 2018, following the meeting regarding low cash flow, low student 

enrollment, construction completion timeline for the permanent facility, outstanding debt, and budget 

discrepancies. (Exhibit D) 

 

On August 24, 2018, Dr. Craig informed OCDE that due to continuing construction delays, the 2018-19 

school year would begin with three weeks of field trips: one week of college visits followed by two 

weeks of school at Golden West College.  Also on August 24, 2018, OCDE issued Notice of Concern #2B 

regarding the lack of a suitable facility to open the school year, and requested an interim plan for 

student learning and safety while the construction continued.  (Exhibit E)  

 

Following the first three weeks of school, UMCHS began to operate the charter school at a site adjacent 

to the permanent facility despite the City of Orange informing UMCHS that the temporary adjacent site 

was not approved for K-12 use and the operation of a school even temporarily was prohibited.  On 

September 13, OCDE issued Notice of Concern #3 regarding the integrity of the academic program given 

the lack of facility space, construction delays, lack of a suitable temporary facility, and ongoing budget 

issues.  (Exhibit F) 

 

By September 2018, construction costs increased to $650,000, almost three times the original 

projected amount.  On September 28, 2018, Notice of Concern #4 was issued regarding budget 

construction overruns, lack of a suitable temporary facility and lack of a permanent facility. (Exhibit G) 

  

On October 1, 2018, OCDE was informed that the Fire Marshal for the City of Orange issued UMCHS a 

Cease and Desist Letter demanding that they stop using the temporary facility to operate the school. 

When the Fire Marshall visited the temporary space to ensure that it was not being used for K-12 

education, the Fire Marshall was informed that the school was on vacation that week.  The vacation 

was not previously designated on UMCHS's school calendar and OCDE was not notified of this change. 

 

Tenant improvements for the permanent site were not completed until February 2019 when the school 

received a fire marshal certificate of clearance.  The final price for tenant improvements was 

approximately $813,000, but due to delayed payments, the settled amount owed is $843,000 according 

to minutes from the UMCHS April 2019 Board Meeting.  OCDE has not yet received any documentation 

to substantiate a final amount owed.  

 

B. Other Debts and Obligations  

 

OCDE has received correspondence from several vendors that are owed money from UMCHS.   

• On March 14, 2019, Dr. Craig presented the Charter School Board with a promissory note for a 

short-term loan for $10,000.   The loan required 6% interest and was scheduled to be repaid by 

May 2019.  The lender was Alexander M. Craig.  The relationship between the Charter School 

and Alexander M. Craig was not disclosed at the Charter School Board meeting. 

• On April 25, 2019, Dr. Craig presented the Charter School Board with a promissory note for a 

short-term loan for $30,000.   The loan required $1,500 or approximately 5% in interest and 

was scheduled to be repaid by June 2019.  The lender was Young J. Kim.  The relationship 
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between the Charter School and Young J. Kim was not disclosed at the Charter School Board 

meeting.   

• On May 14, 2019, Dr. Craig informed the Charter School Board that she loaned the charter 

school $5,600 of her own money to cover payroll and was immediately repaid following 

discussion with ICONN Management.  The Charter School Board did not approve this loan nor 

has OCDE reviewed any documentation.  

• On May 30, 2019, Scott Robinson from Flaherty Robinson, Inc. contacted OCDE and notified 

OCDE that he has been trying to collect payment from UMCHS on two invoices since February 

2019 for the design of a brochure, an email newsletter, and social media marketing services.  

The total unpaid balance is $2,463.30.    

• On June 11, 2019, OCDE received a copy of a Complaint filed by Far West Contractors Corp. 

with the Orange County Superior Court on January 14, 2019.  The relief sought is approximately 

$579,843.29.  (Exhibit H) 

• On June 27, 2019, Charter staff were made aware that UMCHS had not made all STRS payments 

for the 2018-19 school year and will be subject to penalties.  

• On July 11, 2019, Dr. Craig informed OCDE Charter staff that she and the principal of UMCHS 

were not paid for two months during the 2018-19 school year and had not yet received the 

outstanding payments. 

• As of July 11, 2019, UMCHS has not paid OCDE the required oversight payments for the 2018-

19 school year. 

 

C. Inconsistent Budget  

 

The adopted budget submitted in July 2018 detailed that $50,000 of funding for the school in 2018-19, 

would come from donations.  The first interim budget submitted in December 2018 stated that 

$350,000 of the school's funding for the year would be in the form of donations.  The second interim 

budget submitted in March 2019, documented $180,550 of the funding for the school in donations.  

Revenue in the budgets and cash flow statements continue to change in an attempt to balance the 

school's budget.  The above example represents only one of the many inconsistencies with UMCHS's 

finances. The FCMAT Manual for Charter School Accounting and Best Practices says, "A strong, 

organization-wide and management-lead ethical culture should be pervasive in the charter school.  

Management has the responsibility to implement strong internal controls designed to prevent and 

deter fraud and misconduct."  

 

II. FISCAL MISMANAGEMENT DUE TO FAILURE TO PROPERLY ACCOUNT FOR ATTENDANCE 

 

For the 2017-18 school year, UMCHS was overpaid attendance revenue from the California Department 

of Education (CDE) in the amount of $160,558 and Orange Unified School District (OUSD) in the amount 

of $246,395, totaling $406,757, due to a mistake on attendance reporting documents that resulted in 

the charter school overstating its student enrollment.  UMCHS was required to return the overpayment 

but did not have the funds available.  Instead, CDE and OUSD withheld anticipated revenue during the 

2018-19 school year that was supposed to be paid to UMCHS and consequently, the charter school did 

not receive in-lieu of property tax or state apportionment funding for the majority of the 2018-19 

school year.  As a result, adequate cash flow has been a significant issue for UMCHS meeting their 

monthly obligations and was the primary reason OCDE issued Notice of Concern #5 on March 8, 2019.           
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(Exhibit I)  However, on June 7, 2019, Dr. Craig emailed OCDE and reported that UMCHS no longer owes 

OUSD any overpayment funds and intends to pay CDE the final payment of $14,450 in June.  

 

In addition, an independent audit performed by Christy White and Associates on UMCHS for the 2017-

18 school year and received by OCDE in December 2018, revealed that the Charter School did not 

comply with State attendance reporting requirements and record retention.  UMCHS did not maintain 

proper physical attendance records and did not verify attendance with teachers who initially marked 

students absent.  This may constitute a violation of the Education Code, which requires that all charter 

schools “maintain written contemporaneous records that document all pupil attendance and make 

[such] records available for audit and inspection.” (Ed. Code, § 47612.5, subdivision (a)(2)) (Exhibit J) 

 

III. VIOLATED EDUCATION CODE SECTION 47604.3 BY FAILING TO RESPOND TO REASONABLE 

INQUIRIES  

 

Education Code section 47604.3 requires a charter school to promptly respond to all reasonable 

inquiries, including, but not limited to, inquiries regarding its financial records, from its chartering 

authority.  OCDE has requested numerous financial, educational, and operational documents to 

provide oversight of the school.  UMCHS submitted only 30% of required compliance documents 

accurately and on time, for the 2018-19 school year.   

VI. FAILURE TO MEET GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES DUE TO A LACK OF 

INTERNAL CONTROLS 

 

Over the past year, UMCHS has failed to meet generally accepted accounting principles.  For the 2018-

19 school year, OCDE received approximately nine different budgets from UMCHS.  The budget 

documents and financial reports submitted by UMCHS, including the preliminary budget for 2019-20 

sent on July 1, 2019, and the second interim report submitted in April 2019, have been inconsistent and 

contained numerous errors and omissions.  OCDE staff has had difficulty analyzing the documents due 

to the mistakes and untimely submissions and again cannot draw a firm conclusion as to the fiscal 

solvency of the school without the assistance of an independent audit.  

 

The independent audit performed by Christy White and Associates on UMCHS for the 2017-18 school 

year and received by OCDE in December 2018 also reported that the Charter School had inadequate 

internal controls.  “No purchase requisitions, purchase orders, or other approval system is in place to 

clearly document the pre-approval of expenses prior to incurring the expense.  The effect of this can 

promote a potential for inappropriate use or unapproved use of Charter funds and errors in accounting 

records related to expenditures.” (Exhibit J) 
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REASONABLE TIME TO REMEDY VIOLATIONS 

 

Pursuant to Education Code section 47606, subdivision (d), and California Code of Regulations, Title 5, 

section 11968.5.2, OCBE issues this Notice of Violation and required remedies to cure said violations.  

Specifically, the Charter School must remedy all of the above-noted violations through documentation 

requested below or by other acceptable means to the satisfaction of OCBE no later than August 30, 

2019, unless otherwise indicated.   

 

1. A complete list of any outstanding invoices, loans, or vendor payments with amounts and contact 

information for vendors or debtors. 

2. A comprehensive plan for repayment of all outstanding debt. 

3. An updated budget in Microsoft Excel format that reflects the impact of the debt repayment for 

each year remaining in the charter term. 

4. Documentation of the final settlement amount with the construction contractor and any other 

vendor. 

5. A disclosure and legal filings for all known or pending litigation with an explanation of said litigation. 

6. Fully executed contracts for current loans, both private and public including but not limited to Y. 

Kim, OCCF, A. Craig, and the Landlord of 1937 W. Chapman Ave. 

7. An intent to lend letter from all sources that will provide money to the school moving forward. 

8. Contact information for UMCHS’s custodian of records and a back-up custodian of records. 

9. Contact information for the Building Contractor of the permanent facility at 1937 W. Chapman Ave. 

including but not limited to name, phone number, and email address. 

10. Full access to UMCHS’s Student Information System (SIS). 

11. Back up documentation for all donations received from July 2018 to present.  

12. Documentation showing amount owed of unpaid salary for all employees including but not limited 

to Dr. Erin Craig, the principal, and others and a timeline for repayment. 

13. UMCHS shall comply with an OCDE-contracted independent audit during the 2019-20 school year. 

 

Pursuant to California Code of Regulations, Title 5, section 11968.5.2, subdivision (c), UMCHS is entitled 

to respond in writing to this Notice and attach supporting evidence of its refutation, remedial action, 

or proposed remedial action, if any. 
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October 3, 2018 
Dear Ms. Gaughran, 

This letter is to serve as official notice to Orange County Department of Education that 
Unity Middle College High School will close on Wednesday October 3, 2018 at 5:00 pm. 
The action was approved unanimously by the Unity Schools SoCal Board during an 
emergency board meeting on October 2, 2018 due to lack of facility and lack of viable 
facility alternatives. 

Unity Schools SoCal, the Executive Director, Dr. Erin Craig and her designee will be 
responsible for closure-related activities including inquires for: the pupils’ school districts 
of residence; and the manner in which parents/guardians may obtain copies of pupil 
records, including specific information on completed courses and credits that meet 
graduation requirements. 

The Unity Schools SoCal Board will notify parents and students of Unity MCHS, the El 
Dorado SELPA, CALSTRS, and the California Department of Education of the closure 
and of the effective date of the closure by Thursday October 4, 2018. 

The Unity Schools SoCal Board will ensure notification to Unity MCHS parents and 
students of the closure and to provide information to assist parents and students in 
locating suitable alternative programs. This notice will be provided promptly following 
the Unity Schools SoCal Board's decision to close Unity MCHS. 

Unity will develop a list of pupils in each grade level and the classes they have 
completed, together with information on the pupils’ districts of residence, which they will 
provide to the entity responsible for closure-related activities. Unity MCHS will provide 
parents, students and the County with copies of all appropriate student records and will 
otherwise assist students in transferring to their next school. All transfers of student 
records will be made in compliance with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy 
Act  (“FERPA”).  Unity MCHS will ask the County to store original records of Unity 
MCHS students. All student records of Unity MCHS shall be transferred to the County 
upon closure. All state assessment results, special education records, and personnel 
records will be transferred to and maintained by the entity responsible for closure-
related activities in accordance with applicable law. 

Thank you, 

Erin Craig, Ed.D. 
Executive Director 

Exhibit A
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October 15, 2018 
Hi Kelly, 

Thank you for stopping by Unity last week. This letter is to notify you that on Monday 
October 8th during a special board meeting, the Unity Schools SoCal Board voted to 
rescind closure and open Unity Middle College effective Tuesday October 9th. 

Thank you, 

Erin Craig, Ed.D. 
Executive Director 

Exhibit B
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ORANGE COUNTY 

July 31, 2018 

Via email and U.S. mail 

Erin Craig, Ed.D., Executive Director 
Unity Middle College High School 
1937 W. Chapman Ave. 
Orange, CA 92868 
ecraig@unitymchs.org 

DEPARTMENT Re: Notice of Concern Regarding Financial Status of Unity Middle College High 
OF BIUCATION School 

200 KALMUS DRIVE 
P.O. BOX 9050 

COSTA MESA, CA 
92628-9050 

(714) 966-4000
FAX (714) 432-1916 

www.ocde.us 

Dear Dr. Craig: 

The purpose of this letter is to notify you of the concern of the Orange County Department 
of Education (OCDE) Charter Schools Unit regarding the financial stability of Unity Middle 
College High School (UMCHS). On July 27, 2018 representatives from the OCDE Charter 
Schools Unit met with you and Lance Tsang (via telephone) to discuss our concerns and 
ask for clarification on a number of items. 

Overpayment of Average Daily Attendance (ADA) 
AL MIJARES, Ph.D. 

County Supartntalllent 

ol Schools 

ORAl&COIMY 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 

MARI BARKE 

During the 2017-18 school year, UMCHS was overpaid attendance revenue from the State 
of California in the amount of $160,558 and from Orange Unified School District (OUSD) 
in the amount of$246,395, totaling $406,757. 

On the 2017-18 First Principal Apportionment rep01t (Pl), the reported enrollment for 
UMCHS was 95 students. However, the actual enrollment was 41 students. When we 
contacted you to discuss this discrepancy, you indicated that the ADA percentage was 
submitted instead of the actual ADA number. This resulted in an overpayment from the 
California Department of Education (CDE) in the amount of $160,558. During the July 27,
2018 meeting, you indicated that you had contacted the CDE to rectify the problem and 
believed the CDE would adjust your 2017-18 allocation accordingly. However, this was not 
the case and the CDE website now indicates that the 2018-19 apportionment for UM CHS 
will be reduced in the amount of $160,558 to resolve this issue. Consequently, you will not 
receive funding in the amount indicated on your budget resulting in negative cash flow. 

Additionally, due to the overstatement of student enrollment on the Pl report, OUSD 
overpaid UMCHS by $246,395. OUSD is currently evaluating all options for recouping this 
overpayment including withholding funding from the school for the 2018-19 school year 
w1til the debt is paid or creating an aggressive repayment plan. Therefore, it is possible that 
UMCHS will not receive 2018-19 In-Lieu of Property Tax revenue (which is a second major 
source of charter school income) until this debt is paid in full. 

Cost of Tenant Improvements 
JOHN W. BEDELL, PH.D. 

REBECCA "BECKIE" GOMEZ 

LISA SPARKS, PH.D. 

KEN L WILLIAMS, D.O. 

The cost for the tenant improvements required by the City of Orange before UMCHS can 
occupy the building at 193 7 W. Chapman Ave., Orange, CA, 92868 was significantly 
w1derestimated. The budget submitted during the material revision as well as the 
preliminary budget for 2018-19 accounted for approximately $225,000 worth of tenant 

Exhibit C
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ORANGE COUNTY 

DEPARTMB\IT 

OF BHJCATIJN 

200 KALMUS DRIVE
P.O. BOX 9050 

COSTA MESA, CA 
92628-9050 

(714) 966-4000
FAX (714) 432-1916 

www.ocde.us 

Al MLIARES, Ph.D. 

August 24, 2018 

Via electronic mail (ecraig@unitvmchs.org) and U.S. Mail 

Erin Craig, Ed.D., Executive Director 
Unity Middle College High School 
1937 W. Chapman Ave. 
Orange, CA 92868 

Re: Follow-up to Notice of Concern Regarding Financial Status 

Dear Dr. Craig: 

This letter serves to memorialize our discussion during the August 21, 2018 meeting between 
Unity Middle College High School (UMCHS) and the Orange County Department of Education 
(OCDE). The purpose of the meeting was to further discuss the issues presented in the Notice 
of Concern dated July 31, 2018, including the following items: 

Colny Superintendent • Current status of the budget, cash flow and ability to meet payroll and other expense
obligationsof Schools 

ORArRCOlMY 

BOAIII Of EllJCATD\I 

MARI BARKE 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Relationship between Unity Schools, which is the back office support provider, and
UMCHS
Number of students currently enrolled
Facility completion impacting the start of the 2018-19 school year
Charter Asset Management (CAM) financing and repayment schedule
Potential for a "snowball effect" in 2019-20 based on additional tenant improvements,
repayment of CAM and outstanding loans

Financial Status 

As stated in the Notice of Concern dated July 31, 2018, UMCHS owes the State of California 
$160,558 and Orange Unified School District (OUSD) $246,395, totaling a debt of $406,953 
due to overpayment because of misreporting Average Daily Attendance (ADA). Additionally, 
the cost of tenant improvements required by the City of Orange before UM CHS may occupy 
the building at 1937 W. Chapman Ave., Orange, CA 92868 was significantly underestimated 
by $325,000. Furthermore, UMCHS has outstanding loans from the Orange County 
Community Foundation for $150,000 and a California Department of Education Revolving 
loan from the California School Finance Authority for $52,080, totaling $202,080. 

UMCHS's Executive Director, Erin Craig indicated that she is aware of the debts owed and has JOHN W. BEDELL, PH.D. 
provided OCDE a revised budget in an attempt to address concerns regarding the cash flow, 

REBECCA "BECKIE' GOMEZ payroll, and other expense obligations. 
LISA SPARKS, PH.D. 

KEN L. WILLIAMS, 0.0. 

Exhibit D

195



196



197



198



Exhibit E

199



200



Exhibit F

201



202



203



September 28, 2018 

Via email (ecraig@unitymchs.org) and U.S. mail 

Erin Craig, Ed.D., Executive Director 
Unity Middle College High School  
1937 W. Chapman Avenue  
Orange, CA, 92868 

RE: Notice of Concern – Budget and Facility 

Dear Dr. Craig: 

This letter constitutes the fourth Notice of Concern sent to Unity Middle College High 
School (Unity) during the 2018-19 school year due to its failure to comply with the 
conditions, standards, and procedures set forth in the charter, which includes the 
following:    

 Unity continues to be without either a permanent or temporary facility to
provide its educational program,

 Unity misrepresented its educational program when OCDE requested
information about how instruction would be provided during the construction
delay of its permanent facility; and,

 Unity’s financial liabilities increased by approximately $100,000 due to
additional construction costs, which are estimated to be over $650,000.

Background 

On June 6, 2018, the Orange County Board of Education (OCBE) approved a material 
revision to the charter to allow Unity to change its location to a facility located at 1937 W. 
Chapman Avenue, Orange, CA 92868 for the 2018-19 school year. Dr. Erin Craig, Executive 
Director, Unity, informed OCBE that the cost of the required tenant improvements was 
estimated to be $250,000 and would be completed before the start of the school year, 
which was August 27, 2018.  However, on August 21, 2018, Unity informed OCDE that 
tenant improvements would not be completed until September 14, 2018. Without 
approval from OCBE and without providing OCDE a written rental or lease agreement, 
Unity secured space in a temporary facility located at 2011 W. Chapman Avenue, Orange, 
CA 92868 that did not comply with zoning and use requirements for the City of Orange for 
the operation of a K-12 school. In a letter dated August 24, 2018, Dr. Craig reported that 
Unity would conduct ten (10) days of fieldtrips to various college campuses during its first 
two weeks of operation as part of its educational program until the permanent facility 
would be available on September 14, 2018.   
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Dr. Craig subsequently informed OCDE that construction would be further delayed until September 25, 
2018 and would adopt the following instructional plan during the interim:  

 
For 9/17 – 9/25 (if needed), Unity instructional field trips will continue and 
implement current common core and next generation science standards with 
current pacing guides, and the standards based grading system that are outlined in 
our student handbook. The integration of careers, work-experience, guest speakers, 
and the legal system at work will be threaded through each of the core and elective 
content areas through next week’s trips to ensure the quality of the educational 
program is not compromised. This integration results in regular student homework, 
graded assignments, and data driven instructional practice, while providing 
students with unique learning experiences that would not occur unless otherwise on 
a field trip. Examples of this include but are not limited to: the judicial system, city 
entitlement processes, and planning applied in English and US history courses, 
chemistry and anatomy threaded through biology, chemistry, and physical 
education, and court reporting language, mock trials, and the court system through 
English, US History, speech & debate, and Spanish. 

  
Dr. Craig, also stated in the response to the September 13, 2018 Notice of Concern, that Mr. Pete 
Goodrich (Head Building Official for the City of Orange) had given verbal permission for Unity to operate 
field trips to 2011 W. Chapman Avenue on a short-term basis and that she would obtain said permission 
in writing.  To this date, OCDE has not received anything in writing from Dr. Craig regarding approval of 
the temporary facility at 2011 W. Chapman Avenue by the City of Orange for the stated purpose.  On 
September 27, 2018, OCDE staff conducted a site visit and found Unity operating its educational 
program at the temporary location (2011 W. Chapman Avenue) with four classes being held:  (1) math, 
(2) social studies, (3) world history and (3) speech and debate.  On September 28, 2018, Mr. Goodrich 
informed OCDE that, “The building located at 2011 Chapman has not been evaluated by our office for 
E occupancy (k-12).  The building currently is occupied by College level classes that have lesser 
requirements for occupancy. The students from Unity Middle College could visit this location to explore 
the programs and facility that would operate at the location as a field trip.  This has not been approved 
for Educational purposes for persons through the 12th grade.”  Mr. Goodrich also stated that he has 
asked Unity on numerous occasions to locate and secure a different and acceptable temporary facility. 

 
In a letter from Unity’s legal counsel to the City of Orange, it was reported that there was no estimated 
date of completion for the permanent facility and that Unity has “invested $650,000 in alterations to 
convert the [1937 W. Chapman Avenue, Suite 110] into a charter school facility serving grades 9-12.” 
This estimated construction cost is $100,000 more than what was projected since Unity’s last response 
to OCDE which furthers OCDE’s concern regarding Unity’s fiscal stability.   

 
We are requesting the following information:   

 

 For Unity’s Board and leadership to provide a written affirmation that Unity will have a 
temporary location that is authorized for E Occupancy (K-12 Education) for Unity’s operations 
as of October 1, 2018, which must include a physical address and a copy of a written 
lease/rental agreement for the temporary site.   

 For Unity’s Board and leadership to provide an approximate date for construction completion 
at the permanent site.   
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 A written lease or rental agreement for 2011 W. Chapman Avenue and all invoices, receipts, 
and cancelled checks that show payment by or on behalf of Unity for the lease, rental or use of 
the facility located at 2011 W. Chapman Avenue. 

 Updated budget to reflect the costs of the new temporary site, the 2011 W. Chapman Avenue 
Site, and increases in construction costs.  

 For Unity’s leadership to provide communication to students and families regarding the 
temporary change in location and to provide OCDE with evidence of this communication.  

 
Please provide this information by October 1, 2018 no later than 12:00 p.m.  Failure to provide a written 
response that addresses all of our concerns may require further notice to the charter school’s board 
and OCBE.   

 
If you have any questions, contact Teresa Johnson at tjohnson@ocde.us or 714-966-4071. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
 

  
 

Kelly Gaughran 
Director, Charter Schools Unit 

 
C:  Nina Boyd, Associate Superintendent, Orange County Department of Education 
      Dennis Eastman, Board President, Unity 
      Teresa Johnson, Coordinator, Charter Schools Unit 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
To the Board of Directors of 
Unity Schools SoCal 
Orange, California 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Unity Schools SoCal (the 
“Charter” operating as Unity Middle College High) which comprise the statement of financial 
position as of June 30, 2018, and the related statements of activities, functional expenses and 
cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.   
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Unity Middle College High as of June 30, 2018, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements of Unity Middle College 
High taken as a whole.  The supplementary information listed in the table of contents is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility 
of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the financial statements.  The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit 
of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to 
the financial statements as a whole.   
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 15, 2018, on our 
consideration of the Charter’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is 
solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results 
of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Charter’s internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering the Charter’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
San Diego, California 
December 15, 2018 
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The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 370,189$      
Accounts receivable 133,947        
Prepaid expenses 42,515           
Security deposits 41,000           
Total current assets 587,651        

Capital assets
Property and equipment 70,116           
Less accumulated depreciation (14,388)         
Capital assets, net 55,728           
Total Assets 643,379$      

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Liabilities

Accounts payable 100,746$      
Deferred revenue 339,097        
Loans payable 350,000        
Total liabilities 789,843        

Net assets
Unrestricted (146,464)       
Total net assets (146,464)       
Total Liabilities and Net Assets 643,379$       
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The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

SUPPORT AND REVENUES
Federal and state support and revenues

Local control funding formula, state aid 146,977$           
Federal revenues 223,549             
Other state revenues 84,974               
Total federal and state support and revenues 455,500             

Local support and revenues
Payments in lieu of property taxes 231,732             
Grants and donations 120,828             
Other local revenues 6,721                  
Total local support and revenues 359,281             
Total Support and Revenues 814,781             

EXPENSES
Program services 740,673             
Management and general 180,958             

Total Expenses 921,631             

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (106,850)            

Net Assets - Beginning (52,374)              
Prior period restatement 12,760               

Net Assets - Beginning, as restated (39,614)              

Net Assets - Ending (146,464)$          
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The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

Program Management
Services  and General Total

EXPENSES
Personnel expenses

Certificated salaries 219,588$           -$                        219,588$           
Non-certificated salaries 75,778                -                           75,778                
Deferred compensation 25,098                -                           25,098                
Payroll taxes 16,345                -                           16,345                
Other employee benefits 43,161                -                           43,161                
Total personnel expenses 379,970             -                           379,970             

Non-personnel expenses
Books and supplies 77,802                52,342                130,144             
Insurance -                           13,197                13,197                
Facilities 70,000                29,602                99,602                
Professional services 175,036             30,784                205,820             
Depreciation -                           14,388                14,388                
Payments to authorizing agency -                           4,389                  4,389                  
Other operating expenses 37,865                36,256                74,121                
Total non-personnel expenses 360,703             180,958             541,661             
Total Expenses 740,673$           180,958$           921,631$            
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The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in net assets (106,850)$       
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash

provided by (used in) operating activities
Depreciation 14,388             
(Increase) decrease in operating assets

Accounts receivable (30,780)            
Prepaid expenses (7,356)              
Security deposits (23,000)            

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities
Accounts payable 27,605             
Deferred revenue 339,097           

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 213,104           

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of capital assets (70,116)            

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (70,116)            

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Draws on loans payable 550,000           
Principal payments on loans payable (350,000)          

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 200,000           

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 342,988           

Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning 27,201             

Cash and cash equivalents - Ending 370,189$         

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE
Cash paid for interest 16,308$            
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7 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 
NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Reporting Entity 
 

Unity Schools SoCal (the “Charter”) was formed as a nonprofit public benefit corporation on February 20, 2015 
for the purpose of operating Unity Middle College High, a California public school located in Orange County.  
The Charter was numbered by the State Board of Education in May 2016 as California Charter No. 1800.  Unity 
Middle College High is dedicated to providing each student a personalized blend of high school and college 
courses in a career pathway of interest and talent.  From 9th through 12th grade, all students have ongoing 
opportunities to experience both depth and complexity in a variety of situations in academia and in the 
workplace. The year ended June 30, 2018 was the first year of school operation for Unity Middle College High. 
 
Unity Middle College High is authorized to operate as a charter school through the Orange County Department 
of Education (the “authorizing agency”).  In August 2015, the Orange County Board of Education approved a 
charter petition for the Charter after the petition was initially denied by Orange Unified School District.  Funding 
sources primarily consisted of state apportionments, in lieu of property tax revenues, federal Title V Public 
Charter School Grant Program funding and grants and donations from the public for the Charter’s initial year. 

 
B. Basis of Accounting 
 

The Charter’s policy is to prepare its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting; consequently, 
revenues are recognized when earned rather than when cash is received and certain expenses and purchases of 
assets are recognized when the obligation is incurred rather than when cash is disbursed. 
 

C. Financial Statement Presentation 
 

Unity Schools SoCal is required to report information regarding its financial position and activities according to 
three classes of net assets: unrestricted net assets, temporarily restricted net assets, and permanently restricted 
net assets.  Unrestricted net assets include all resources available for use by the Board of Directors and 
management’s discretion in carrying out the activities of the organization in accordance with its Bylaws.  
Temporarily or permanently restricted net assets are only expendable for the purposes specified by the donor or 
through the passage of time.  When a restriction expires (that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or 
purpose restriction is accomplished), temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets.  
Permanently restricted net assets are generally required to be held by the organization in perpetuity while the 
earnings on those assets are available for use by the organization to support operations.  Donors can place 
restrictions on the earnings from permanently restricted contributions at the time the contributions are made or 
pledged.   Fund accounting is not used in the Charter’s financial statement presentation. 
 

D. Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures, such as 
depreciation expense and the net book value of capital assets. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
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NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
E. Functional Expenses 
 

The costs of providing services have been summarized on a functional basis in the statement of activities and 
detailed in the statement of functional expenses.  Certain costs and expenses have been allocated between 
program and supporting services based on management’s estimates. 
 

F. Contributions 
 

Contributions that are restricted by the donor are reported as an increase in unrestricted net assets if the 
restriction expires in the reporting period in which the revenue is recognized.  All other donor restricted support 
is reported as an increase in temporarily or permanently restricted net assets, depending on the existence or 
nature of any donor restrictions. 
 
Non-cash contributions of goods, materials, and facilities are recorded at fair value at the date of contribution.  
Contributed services are recorded at fair value at the date of contribution if they are used to create or enhance a 
non-financial asset or require specialized skills, are provided by someone possessing those skills, and would 
have to be purchased by the organization if not donated. 
 

G. In Lieu of Property Taxes Revenue 
 
Secured property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of March 1.  Taxes are payable in two 
installments on December 10 and April 10.  Unsecured property taxes are payable in one installment on or before 
August 31.  The County bills and collects the taxes for the authorizing agency.  In lieu of distributing funds out 
of property tax proceeds, the authorizing agency makes payments to Unity Middle College High.  Revenues are 
recognized by the Charter when earned. 
 

H. Cash and Investments 
 

Unity Schools SoCal considers all highly liquid deposits and investments with an original maturity of less than 
ninety days to be cash equivalents.  The Charter’s method of accounting for most investments is the fair value 
method.  Fair value is determined by published quotes when they are readily available.  Gains and losses 
resulting from adjustments to fair values are included in the accompanying statement of activities. 

 
I. Receivables and Allowances 

 
Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances.  An 
allowance for doubtful accounts is established, as necessary, based on past experience and other factors which, 
in management’s judgment, deserve current recognition in estimating bad debts.  Such factors include the 
relationship of the allowance for doubtful accounts to accounts receivable and current economic conditions.  
Based on review of these factors, the Charter establishes or adjusts the allowance for specific revenue sources as 
a whole.  At June 30, 2018, an allowance for doubtful accounts was not considered necessary as all accounts 
receivable were deemed collectible. 
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NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
J. Capital Assets 
 

Unity Schools SoCal has adopted a policy to capitalize asset purchases over $2,000.  Lesser amounts are expensed. 
Donations of capital assets are recorded as contributions at their estimated fair value.  Such donations are 
reported as unrestricted contributions unless the donor has restricted the donated asset to a specific purpose or 
is requiring the Charter to hold the asset for a specified period of time.  Capital assets are depreciated using the 
straight-line method.     

 
K. Deferred Revenue 

 
Deferred revenue arises when potential revenue does not meet the criteria for recognition in the current period 
and when resources are received by the organization prior to the incurrence of expenses.  In subsequent periods, 
when both revenue recognition criteria are met, the liability for deferred revenue is removed from the statement 
of financial position and revenue is recognized. 

 
L. Income Taxes 
 

Unity Middle College High is a 509(a)(1) publicly supported nonprofit organization that is exempt from income 
taxes under Section 501(a) and 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and classified by the Internal Revenue 
Service as other than a private foundation.  The Charter is exempt from state franchise or income tax under 
Section 23701(d) of the California Revenue and Taxation Code.  As a school, the Charter is not required to register 
with the California Attorney General as a charity.  
 
The Charter’s management believes all of its significant tax positions would be upheld under examination; 
therefore, no provision for income tax has been recorded.  The Charter’s information and/or tax returns are 
subject to examination by the regulatory authorities for up to four years from the date of filing. 

 
M. Fair Value Measurements 
 

The Fair Value Measurements Topic of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification establishes a fair value 
hierarchy that prioritizes inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.  The hierarchy gives the 
highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 
measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).  The three levels of the 
fair value hierarchy are described below: 

Level 1  Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or 
liabilities in active markets. 

Level 2  Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in 
active markets, and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument. 

Level 3 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement. 
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NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
N. New Accounting Pronouncements 
 

Not-for-Profit Financial Reporting Model Standard 
In August 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 
No. 2016-14, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for Profit Entities whereby 
significant changes were proposed in seven areas:  net asset classes, liquidity and availability of resources, 
classification and disclosure of underwater endowment funds, expense reporting, statement of cash flows, 
investment return, and release of restrictions on capital assets.  The amendments in ASU No. 2016-14 are effective 
for annual financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017.  The Charter will 
determine the impact on the financial statements once implemented in the 2018-19 fiscal year. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
In May 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and FASB issued a joint accounting standard 
on revenue recognition to address a number of concerns regarding the complexity and lack of consistency 
surrounding the accounting for revenue transactions.  Consistent with each board’s policy, FASB and IASB 
issued new reporting standards on revenue recognition.  FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers (Topic 606).  The guidance in FASB ASU No. 2014-09 provides a framework for revenue 
recognition and supersedes or amends several of the revenue recognition requirements in FASB ASC 605 Revenue 
Recognition. The guidance was originally effective for public entities for the fiscal year beginning after December 
15, 2016.  In August 2015, FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): 
Deferral of the Effective Date, to allow entities additional time to implement systems, gather data, and resolve 
implementation questions.  The new requirements are to be applied to fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2017.  The Charter will determine the impact on the financial statements once implemented in the 2018-19 fiscal 
year. 
 
Leases 
In February 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The objective of the ASU is to increase 
transparency and comparability in financial reporting by requiring balance sheet recognition of leases and note 
disclosure of certain information about lease arrangements.  The new FASB ASU topic on leases consists of five 
subtopics: overall, lessee, lessor, sale and leaseback transactions, and leveraged lease arrangements.  ASU No. 
2016-02 is applicable to any entity that enters into a lease and is effective for public business entities for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2018.  The Charter will determine the impact on the financial statements once 
implemented in the 2019-20 fiscal year. 

 
 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2018, consist of $370,189 held in a non-interest bearing bank account. 
 
Cash in Banks – Custodial Credit Risk 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, an organization’s deposits may not be returned to 
it.  Unity Schools SoCal does not have a policy for custodial credit risk for deposits.  The FDIC insures up to $250,000 
per depositor per insured bank.  As of June 30, 2018, $123,591 of the Charter’s bank balance was exposed to custodial 
credit risk as there were deposits over $250,000 in accounts held at Wells Fargo Bank. 
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NOTE 3 – ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 
Accounts receivable as of June 30, 2018, consists of the following: 
 

Federal sources 42,587$             
Other state sources 41,360                
Other local sources 50,000                
Total Accounts Receivable 133,947$            

 
 
NOTE 4 – CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital assets as of June 30, 2018 consist of the following: 
 

Property and equipment
Computer equipment 38,479$             
Vehicle 13,210                
Construction in progress 18,427                
Total property and equipment 70,116                

Less accumulated depreciation (14,388)              
Capital Assets, net 55,728$              

 
 
NOTE 5 – ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 
 
Accounts payable as of June 30, 2018, consists of the following: 
 

Accrued payroll liabilities 28,018$             
Due to other charter schools 25,070                
Credit card liability 4,033                  
Vendor payables 43,625                
Total Accounts Payable 100,746$            

 
 
NOTE 6 – LOANS PAYABLE 
 
Loans payable activity during the year ended June 30, 2018, consists of the following: 
 

Balance Balance
July 1, 2017 Draws Payments June 30, 2018

Sale of receivables 150,000$           -$                        150,000$           -$                        
Charter revolving loan -                           250,000             50,000                200,000             
Foundation loan -                           300,000             150,000             150,000             
Total Loans Payable 150,000$           550,000$           350,000$           350,000$             
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NOTE 6 – LOANS PAYABLE (continued) 
 
Sale of Receivables 
In May 2017, the Charter entered into a receivable purchase agreement with Charter Asset Management Fund, LP 
(the “purchaser” or “CAM”) for short-term borrowings.  The purpose was to aid in cash flow for charter school start-
up costs.  In return for receiving advanced funds, the Charter granted title and interest to future state apportionment 
revenues to the purchaser.  The transfers from the purchaser to the Charter were considered loans secured by future 
receivables due to Unity Middle College High.  The total amount borrowed amounted to $150,000 and repayment 
was made in October 2017.  The repayment included this amount in addition to admin fees and a discount or interest 
expense of $12,760.  As of June 30, 2018, there was no amount outstanding attributed to sale of receivables. 
 
Charter Revolving Loan 
In May 2017, the Charter entered into a loan agreement to borrow $250,000 through the Charter Revolving Loan 
Fund Program administered by the California School Finance Authority (CSFA).  The funds were disbursed to the 
Charter in July 2017. The loan is to be repaid over a five-year period commencing from the first payment date.  The 
revolving note bears an annualized interest rate equal to the “prime rate” as of the date of disbursement.  During the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the Charter made payments of $52,080, which included $50,000 of principal and 
$2,080 of interest expense.  As of June 30, 2018, the outstanding balance on the loan was $200,000.  Repayment 
obligations on the above referenced debt include annual payments of $50,000 due in fiscal years 2018-19 through 
2020-22. 
 
Foundation Loan 
In July 2017, the Charter entered into a loan agreement with the Orange County Community Foundation (the 
“Foundation”).  A portion of the loan was secured by income received from local control funding formula sources. 
Repayment of the loan is to be made on or before June 30, 2019 plus accumulated interest.  A total of $300,000 was 
loaned to the Charter by the Foundation in July 2017.  In October 2017, $150,000 of the loan was repaid leaving a 
remaining balance of $150,000 payable as of June 30, 2018. 
 
 
NOTE 7 – NET ASSETS 
 
Prior Period Restatement 
Beginning net assets was restated by $12,760 to account for interest and admin fees from CAM loans payable. The 
restatement has increased beginning net assets of $(52,374) as originally stated to $(39,614). 
 
Unrestricted Net Assets 
At June 30, 2018, unrestricted net assets consisted of $(146,464), which is categorized as $55,728 attributed to the net 
investment in capital assets and $(202,194) as undesignated. 
 
Negative Net Assets 
Ending net assets resulted in a deficit of $146,464 due to expected deficit spending in the Charter’s first year of school 
operation.  As a result of one-time start-up costs, the Charter’s total expenditures exceeded total revenue for the fiscal 
year.  The Charter has secured short-term borrowings to aid in cash flow concerns and has plans to reduce operating 
costs in Year 2 of school operation in order to end with a surplus.  The Charter is expected to improve its financial 
position in future periods. 
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NOTE 8 – EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS 
 
Qualified employees are covered under multiple-employer defined benefit pension plans maintained by agencies of 
the State of California.  In accordance with California Education Code 47605, charter schools have the option of 
participating in such plans if an election to participate is specified within the charter petition.  The Charter has made 
such election.  Certificated employees are members of the California State Teachers’ Retirement System (CalSTRS).  
The Charter also offers social security as an alternative plan to all employees who do not qualify for the CalSTRS 
retirement plans. 
 
California State Teachers’ Retirement System (CalSTRS) 
Plan Description 
Unity Middle College High contributes to the California State Teachers’ Retirement System (CalSTRS), a cost-sharing 
multiple-employer public employee retirement system defined benefit pension plan administered by CalSTRS.  The 
plan provides retirement, disability and survivor benefits to beneficiaries.  Benefit provisions are established by state 
statutes, as legislatively amended, within the State Teachers’ Retirement Law.  CalSTRS issues a separate 
comprehensive annual financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information.  
Copies of the CalSTRS annual financial report may be obtained from CalSTRS, 7667 Folsom Boulevard; Sacramento, 
California 95826. 
 
Funding Policy 
Active plan members are required to contribute 10.25% or 9.205% of their 2017-18 salary depending on the 
employee’s membership date in the plan.  The required employer contribution rate for fiscal year 2017-18 was 14.43% 
of annual payroll.  The contribution requirements of the plan members are established by state statute.  The Charter’s 
contributions to CalSTRS were $25,098 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. 
 
On-Behalf Payments 
The State of California makes direct on-behalf payments for retirement benefits to CalSTRS on behalf of all school 
agencies in California; however, as Unity Middle College High was not yet in operation during 2016-17, no on-behalf 
payments were made during 2017-18.  Unity Middle College High will become eligible to receive on-behalf payments 
beginning in 2018-19. 
 
 
NOTE 9 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
 
Governmental Funds 
Unity Middle College High has received state and federal funds for specific purposes that are subject to review and 
audit by the grantor agencies.  Although such audits could generate expenditure disallowances under terms of the 
grants, it is believed that any required reimbursements would not be material. 
 
Operating Leases 
On October 26, 2016, Unity Middle College High entered into a lease agreement for the church and school facility 
located at 1310 East Lincoln Avenue in Orange California.  The agreement covers a one-year term commencing July 
1, 2017 and ending June 30, 2018.  The agreement calls for a security deposit of $11,000, which the Charter had paid 
and has recorded as a current asset on the statement of financial position.  During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, 
the Charter made $70,000 in rental payments associated with the lease. 
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NOTE 9 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued) 
 
Operating Leases (continued) 
On April 4, 2018, the Charter entered into a lease agreement to occupy space located at 1937 West Chapman Avenue, 
Suite 110 in Orange, California.  The agreement covers a three-year term commencing on July 1, 2018 and ending 
June 30, 2021.  The agreement called for a security deposit of $24,000, which the Charter has recorded as asset on the 
statement of financial position.  In June 2018, the Orange County Department of Education approved a facility request 
for the Charter to occupy the leased property.  Future minimum lease payments amount to $94,860 per year for the 
years ending June 30, 2019 through 2021. 
 
In January 2017, the Charter entered into a lease agreement for mobile modular buildings to be placed at a future 
school site.  The contract covers a 24-month term and a required security deposit of $14,000.  The contracted charges 
included a one-time delivery set-up fee of $20,347 and monthly rental payments of $3,213 beginning in June 2017. 
 
 
NOTE 10 – DONATED MATERIALS AND SERVICES 
 
During the year, many parents, administrators and other individuals donated significant amounts of time and 
services to Unity Middle College High in an effort to advance the Charter’s programs and objectives.  These services 
have not been recorded in the Charter’s financial statements because they do not meet the criteria required by 
generally accepted accounting principles.   
 
 
NOTE 11 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Authorizing Agency 
The Charter makes payments to the authorizing agency, Orange County Department of Education, to provide 
required services for oversight.  Fees associated with oversight consisted of 1% of revenue from local control funding 
formula sources.  Total fees payable to the authorizing agency for oversight fees amounted to $4,389 for the fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2018. 
 
Affiliate Organization 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the Unity Schools SoCal  partnered with Unity Schools for administrative 
services and back-office support.  The relationship between the Charter and Unity Schools is such that Unity Schools 
is not financially inter-related to the Charter for financial reporting purposes. 
 
 
NOTE 12 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Unity Middle College High has evaluated subsequent events for the period from June 30, 2018 through December 
15, 2018, the date the financial statements were available to be issued.  In November 2018, the Charter entered into a 
factoring agreement with CAM for the sale of receivables amounting the $175,000.  The agreement is to aid in short-
term cash flow needs.  Management did not identify any transactions that require disclosure or that would have an 
impact on the financial statements. 
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CHARTER ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 
JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 
Unity Middle College High, located in Orange County, was formed as a nonprofit public benefit corporation under 
the name Unity Schools SoCal on February 20, 2015 and numbered by the State Board of Education in May 2016 and 
Charter No. 1800.  The Charter is authorized to operate as a charter school by the Orange County Department of 
Education.  Classes began in August 2017 for students in grades 9 and 10.    
 

Name Office Term Expiration

Dennis Eastman, Ph.D. Chairman June 2019

Mike Krier Chief Financial Officer June 2019

Denise Bailey, Ph.D. Secretary June 2019

Barbara Illowsky, Ph.D. Director June 2019

Natalie Reider Director June 2019

ADMINISTRATION

Erin M. Craig, Ed.D.
Executive Director

William Grey
Principal

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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SCHEDULE OF AVERAGE DAILY ATENDANCE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

Second Period 
Report Annual Report

Certificate No. 15264157 F704A848
Classroom-Based
Grade Span

Nine through twelfth                      40.87                      40.54 
Total Classroom-Based 40.87                    40.54                    

Nonclassroom-Based
Grade Span

Nine through twelfth                        0.26                        0.20 
Total Nonclassroom-Based 0.26                       0.20                       

Total Average Daily Attendance (ADA) 41.13                    40.74                     
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SCHEDULE OF INSTRUCTIONAL TIME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

Number of Days
Minutes 2017-18 Traditional

Grade Span Requirement Actual Minutes Calendar Status

Grades 9 through 12 64,800 66,895 180 Complied  
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RECONCILIATION OF FINANCIAL REPORT – ALTERNATIVE FORM WITH AUDITED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

June 30, 2018, fund balance/net position on Financial Report - 
Alternative Form (Charter School Unaudited Actuals) (141,944)$            

Adjustments:
Increase (decrease) in total net assets:

Overstatement of depreciation expense 2,172                    
Overstatement of employee benefits expense 2,537                    
Overstatement of books and supplies expense 36,559                  
Overstatement of other operating expenses 8,824                    
Overstatement of other local revenues (52,532)                 
Reclass loan repayment to interest expense (2,080)                   
Net adjustments (4,520)                   

June 30, 2018, net assets per audited financial statements (146,464)$             
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NOTES TO THE SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 
NOTE 1 – PURPOSE OF SCHEDULES 

 
A. Charter Organizational Structure 

 
This schedule provides information about the Charter’s authorizing agency, grades served, members of the 
governing body, and members of the administration. 
 

B. Schedule of Average Daily Attendance (ADA) 
 
Average daily attendance (ADA) is a measurement of the number of pupils attending classes of the charter 
school. The purpose of attendance accounting from a fiscal standpoint is to provide the basis on which 
apportionments of state funds are made to charter schools.  This schedule provides information regarding the 
attendance of students at various grade levels and in different programs. 
 

C. Schedule of Instructional Time 
 
Unity Middle College High receives, as part of their local control funding formula sources, incentive funding for 
maintaining instructional time.  This schedule presents information on the amount of instructional time offered 
by the Unity Middle College High and whether the Charter complied with the provisions of Education Code 
Section 46200 through 46208.   
 

D. Reconciliation of Financial Report – Alternative Form with Audited Financial Statements 
 
This schedule provides the information necessary to reconcile fund balance reported on the Financial Report – 
Alternative Form (Charter School Unaudited Actuals) to net assets on the audited financial statements. 
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING 
STANDARDS 

 
Independent Auditors’ Report 

 
To the Board of Directors of 
Unity Schools SoCal 
Orange, California 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements of Unity Schools SoCal  (the “Charter”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, 
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Charter’s 
basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated December 15, 2018. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Charter’s 
internal control over financial reporting (“internal control”) to determine the auditing 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our 
opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Charter’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Charter’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material 
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during 
our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be 
material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  
We did identify deficiencies in internal control, described in the accompanying findings and 
questioned costs section that we consider to be a significant deficiency as Finding 2018-001. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Charter’s financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial 
statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of 
our audit, and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Unity Schools SoCal’s Response to the Findings 
 
Unity Schools SoCal’s response to the finding identified in our audit is described in the accompanying findings and 
questioned costs section as the corrective action plan.  The Charter’s response was not subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the responses. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Charter’s internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the Charter’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any 
other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
San Diego, California 
December 15, 2018 
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REPORT ON STATE COMPLIANCE 
 

Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
To the Board of Directors of 
Unity Schools SoCal  
Orange, California 
 
Report on State Compliance 

We have audited Unity Schools SoCal’s compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements described in the 2017-18 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies 
and State Compliance Reporting, prescribed in Title 5, California Code of Regulations, section 19810, 
that could have a direct and material effect on each of Unity Middle College High’s state 
programs for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, as identified below.  Reference to Unity 
Schools SoCal within this letter is inclusive of Unity Middle College High (No. 1800). 
 
Management’s Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grants applicable to its state programs.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Unity Middle College 
High's state programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to 
above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States; and the 2017-18 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State 
Compliance Reporting, prescribed in Title 5, California Code of Regulations, section 19810. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that 
could have a direct and material effect on the state programs noted below. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence about Unity Middle College High's compliance with those 
requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. 
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance with the 
requirements referred to above. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination 
of Unity Middle College High's compliance with those requirements. 
 
Opinion on State Compliance 

In our opinion, Unity Middle College High complied, in all material respects, with the types 
of compliance requirements referred to above that are applicable to the state programs noted 
in the table below for the year ended June 30, 2018. 
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Other Matters  

The results of our auditing procedures disclosed instances of noncompliance, which are described in the 
accompanying findings and questioned costs section as Finding 2018-002.  Our opinion on state compliance is not 
modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Unity Schools SoCal’s response to the noncompliance finding identified in our audit is described in the 
accompanying findings and questioned costs section as the corrective action plan.  Unity Schools SoCal’s response 
was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no 
opinion on the response. 
 
Procedures Performed 

In connection with the audit referred to above, we selected and tested transactions and records to determine Unity 
Middle College High’s compliance with the state laws and regulations applicable to the following items: 
 

 
Description 

Procedures 
Performed 

School Districts, County Offices of Education and Charter Schools 
Educator Effectiveness Not applicable* 
California Clean Energy Jobs Act Not applicable* 
After/Before School Education and Safety Program: Not applicable 
Proper Expenditure of Education Protection Account Funds Yes 
Unduplicated Local Control Funding Formula Pupil Counts Yes 
Local Control and Accountability Plan Yes 
Independent Study – Course Based Not applicable 

Charter Schools  
Attendance Yes 
Mode of Instruction Yes 
Nonclassroom-Based Instruction/Independent Study for  

Charter Schools No 
Determination of Funding for Nonclassroom-Based Instruction Not applicable 
Annual Instructional Minutes – Classroom Based Yes 
Charter School Facility Grant Program Not applicable 

 
*Educator Effectiveness and California Clean Energy Jobs Act were not applicable because the Charter was in the first year of 
operation and was not eligible for program funding. 

 
We did not perform testing of Nonclassroom-Based Instruction/Independent Study because average daily attendance 
was not material for this program. 
 
 
 
 
San Diego, California 
December 15, 2018 
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SUMMARY OF AUDITORS’ RESULTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

Financial Statements
Type of auditors' report issued Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? No
Significant deficiency(ies) identified not considered 
   to be material weaknesses? Yes

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? None

Federal Awards
The Charter did not expend more than $750,000 in federal awards; 
therefore, a Federal Single Audit under OMB Uniform Grant Guidance 
is not applicable.

State Awards
Internal control over state programs:

Material weakness(es) identified? No
Significant deficiency(ies) identified not considered 
   to be material weaknesses? Yes

Type of auditors' report issued on compliance for
state programs: Unmodified  
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

FIVE DIGIT CODE AB 3627 FINDING TYPE 
20000 
30000 

Inventory of Equipment 
Internal Control 

 
 
FINDING 2018-001:  INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER CASH DISBURSEMENTS (30000) 
 
Criteria:  Proper internal controls over cash disbursements include procedures to ensure that all payments disbursed 
are for appropriate business purposes.  For proper review and approval, all disbursements should be supported by 
approval documentation prior to incurring the expense and be accompanied by an original vendor invoice.  Requests 
for reimbursements should be completed, approved by appropriate personnel, and include original itemized 
receipts.  Additionally, expenditures paid by credit card transactions should be supported by an original itemized 
receipt with credit card statements reconciled to such receipts on a timely basis.   
 
Condition:  Inadequate internal controls were noted during our testing over cash disbursements, including credit 
card transactions.  No purchase requisitions, purchase orders or other approval system is in place to clearly document 
the pre-approval of expenses prior to incurring the expense.  An expense is incurred when the Charter is liable to 
pay for the goods or services.  No credit card policy is established for the credit cardholder to clearly outline the 
appropriate use or the proper procedures for credit statement reconciliation or missing receipts.  Additional 
information is as follows: 
 

• From a sample of twenty-five (25) payments, no support was provided for six (6) items. 
• No purchase orders or requisitions existed.  There was no indication of pre-approval through the use of a 

contract, board approval or other documentation for four (4) payments.   
• There was one inappropriate purchase of alcohol within a fundraiser catering order. 

 
Cause:  The procurement policies within the fiscal policies manual were not implemented and adhered to. 
 
Effect:  Potential for inappropriate use or unapproved use of Charter funds and errors in accounting records related 
to expenditures. 
 
Recommendation:  We recommend that approved fiscal policies be implemented and monitored by management 
and/or the Board.  As mentioned in the fiscal policies, a purchase order or requisition should be utilized for indication 
of pre-approval.  We recommend that the fiscal policies be updated to include procedures for reimbursements.   
 
Additionally, we recommend that a credit card policy be established to clearly outline the agreement of the Charter 
and the cardholder regarding the appropriate use of the credit card, any limitations or exclusions (gas, gift cards, 
etc.), as well as the process for missing receipts (use of an affidavit, etc.). 
 
Corrective Action Plan:  Documentation such as invoices and other payment support for Unity Middle High School 
was directed to the prior back-office provider, Unity Schools.  The documentation provided for audit from Unity 
Schools may not be as detailed as the original information provided by Unity Middle College High due to lack of 
accuracy, file organization or follow through. In November 2018, we contracted with a new back office provider, 
ICON School Management, to provide business services. We have approved more clear and controlled internal 
procedures and have approved new and improved fiscal policies. Finally, we plan to revise the fiscal policies to 
include reimbursements and additional information for adequate record retention and approval documentation.   
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STATE AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

FIVE DIGIT CODE AB 3627 FINDING TYPE 
10000 Attendance 
40000 
42000 
60000 

State Compliance 
Charter School Facilities Programs 

Miscellaneous 
61000 Classroom Teacher Salaries 
62000 Local Control Accountability Plan 
70000 Instructional Materials 

  71000 Teacher Misassignments 
72000 School Accountability Report Card 

 
 
FINDING 2018-002:  ATTENDANCE REPORTING (10000) 
 
Criteria:  In accordance with California Education Code Section 47612.5(a)(2), a charter school shall, as a condition 
of apportionment, maintain written contemporaneous records that document all pupil attendance and make these 
records available for audit and inspection.  Beginning in 2009-10, the California Department of Education (CDE) 
allowed for school districts and county offices to replace manual teacher signatures with digital signatures or other 
electronic certification processes if certain criteria was met and approval was granted; however, this approval does 
not currently extend to charter schools. 
 
Condition:  Based on inquiry and observation, no physical records of attendance have been generated from the 
attendance accounting software for timely review and approval by the certificated personnel who initially recorded 
the attendance data within the system.  Additional audit procedures over absence and tardy notes were performed 
and reported attendance was deemed verifiable despite the absence of contemporaneous signed teacher rosters. 
 
Effect:  The Charter is not in compliance with State requirements regarding attendance reporting and record 
retention.  Errors or anomalies in system information could go unnoticed without timely review of submitted data. 
 
Cause:  Records to support contemporaneous origination data of student attendance are maintained electronically 
and not reviewed after initial submission within the attendance accounting system. 
 
ADA Impact:  None. As mentioned under the “condition” section, additional audit procedures were performed and 
reported ADA was deemed accurate as reported. 
 
Questioned Cost:  None 
 
Recommendation:  It is recommended that physical contemporaneous records be maintained. Pupil attendance 
records should include teachers signing and dating timely printouts of electronica attendance data previously 
entered into the attendance system.  Additionally, procedures over revisions to system information should be 
established to include proper communication to personnel generating system information for attendance reporting 
purposes as well as prevent untimely edits to system information. 
 
Corrective Action Plan: The Charter will begin a process by which teachers print and sign attendance records from 
the attendance accounting software and provide the certified copies to the administrative office for adequate review 
and storage of written contemporaneous records on attendance. 
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SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 
An audit was not conducted in 2016-17.  2017-18 was the Charter’s first year of operation. 
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	2.8. Compliance with Governmental Requirements and Rules and Regulations.  Tenant shall comply with all Governmental Requirements relating to its use, occupancy and operation of the Premises and shall observe such reasonable rules and regulations as m...
	2.9. Holdover.  Tenant is not authorized to hold over beyond the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease Term.  If Landlord consents to a holdover and no other agreement is reached between Tenant and Landlord concerning the duration and terms t...

	SECTION 3:  BASE RENT, OPERATING COSTS REIMBURSEMENTS  AND OTHER SUMS PAYABLE UNDER LEASE
	3.1. Payment of Rental.  Tenant agrees to pay Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements (defined in Rider 1) and any other sum payable under this Lease to Landlord when due without demand, deduction, credit, adjustment or offset, except as set forth h...
	3.2. Base Rent.  On execution of this Lease, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the amount specified in the definition of Prepaid Rent for the month specified in the definition of that term.  Monthly installments of Base Rent shall be paid, without demand a...
	3.3. Credit Enhancement.  If a Security Deposit, Letter of Credit and/or Guaranty is specified in Section 1, the Lease provisions applicable thereto are set forth in Rider 2 to this Lease.
	3.4. Operating Costs Reimbursements.  Tenant’s obligation to pay Operating Costs Reimbursements are set forth in Rider 1.
	3.5. Late Charge.  If Tenant fails to make any payment of Base Rent, or any other monetary amount when due under this Lease, a late charge is immediately due and payable by Tenant equal to five percent (5%) of the amount of any such payment.  Landlord...
	3.6. Default Rate.  Any Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements or other sum payable under this Lease that is not paid when due shall bear interest at a rate equal to the rate (the “Default Rate”) that is the lesser of:  (a) the published prime or r...

	SECTION 4:  SERVICES AND REPAIR
	4.1. Utilities and Services.
	4.1.1 Landlord shall furnish to Tenant, subject to Tenant’s Operating Costs Reimbursements obligations, the following utilities or services:  (a) electricity as specified in subparagraph 4.1.2; (b) heating, ventilation and air-conditioning services (“...
	4.1.2 Electrical services will be supplied to a panel box designated for each floor of the Building and will have the capacity to meet Tenant’s demand for the purposes specified in this Lease so long as such demand is usual and customary for such purp...
	4.1.3 HVAC will be provided during building standard hours customary for the Building and which may be specified in Exhibit C.  If Tenant desires HVAC service other than during building standard hours, Tenant shall make advance arrangements with Landl...
	4.1.4 Landlord will provide only a suitable connection for usual and customary voice telephone  service at the designated locations in the Building.  All connection, installation, usage charges, maintenance and repair charges for such telephone servic...
	4.1.5 Elevator service will be provided during the time periods and with a frequency reasonably necessary to Tenant’s authorized purposes.
	4.1.6 Unless otherwise required by law, neither Tenant nor a provider of telecommunication services to Tenant shall be entitled to locate or install Telecommunication Facilities in, on or about the Building without (a) first obtaining Landlord’s advan...
	4.1.7 Landlord shall in no case be liable or in any way be responsible for damages (including consequential damages) or the loss to Tenant of utilities or other services arising from the failure of, diminution of or interruption of any kind to the Pre...

	4.2. Maintenance and Repair by Landlord.  Subject to the paragraph 5.5 (“Damage or Destruction”) and paragraph 5.6 (“Condemnation”), Landlord shall maintain the public and common areas of the Building in good order and condition subject to reasonable ...
	4.3. Maintenance and Repair by Tenant.  Except as specified to be Landlord’s responsibility under paragraph 4.1 (“Utilities and Services”) and paragraph 4.2 (“Maintenance and Repair by Landlord”), and except for reasonable wear and tear, Tenant shall ...
	4.4. Common Areas/Security.  The common areas of the Building and the Project shall be under Landlord’s sole management and control.  Landlord has no duty or obligation to provide any security services in, on or around the Premises, Land, Building or ...

	SECTION 5:  OCCUPANCY PROVISIONS
	5.1. Tenant Alterations.  Tenant shall not make or permit to be made any alterations, additions, improvements or installations in or to the Premises (including Telecommunication Facilities), or place signs or other displays visible from outside the Pr...
	5.2. Surrender of Possession.  Tenant shall, at the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, surrender and deliver the Premises to Landlord (a) in as good condition as when received by Tenant from Landlord or as later improved, reasonable use ...
	5.3. Removal of Property.  Upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant may remove its personal property, office supplies and office furniture and equipment if (a) such items are readily moveable and are not attached to the Premise...
	5.4. Reasonable Access.  Tenant shall have access to the Building seven (7) days per week, twenty-four (24) hours per day, fifty-two (52) weeks a year.  Tenant shall permit Landlord and Landlord’s Affiliates (defined in paragraph 6.1) to enter into th...
	5.5. Damage or Destruction.
	5.5.1 If the Premises are damaged by fire, earthquake or other casualty (“Casualty”), Tenant shall give immediate written notice to Landlord.  If Landlord estimates that the damage can be repaired to meet Tenant’s business needs within one hundred eig...
	5.5.2 If the Building is damaged by Casualty and more than fifty percent (50%) of the Building is rendered untenantable, without regard to whether the Premises are affected by such damage, Landlord may, in its absolute discretion, elect to terminate t...
	5.5.3 Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Premises or the Building are wholly or partially damaged or destroyed within the final six (6) months of the Lease Term, Tenant may elect to terminate this Lease upon written notice to Landlord within thirty...

	5.6. Condemnation.  If more than fifty percent (50%) of the Premises, or such portions of the Building as may be required for the Tenant’s reasonable use of the Premises, are taken by eminent domain or by conveyance in lieu thereof, this Lease shall a...
	5.7. Liens.  Tenant shall have no authority, express or implied, to create or place any lien or encumbrance of any kind or nature whatsoever upon the interest of Landlord or Tenant in the Premises or to charge the rentals payable under this Lease for ...
	5.8. Estoppel Certificate.  On Landlord’s request, Tenant shall timely complete, sign and deliver to an addressee designated by Landlord a certificate prepared by or on behalf of Landlord stating (a) the material terms of this Lease, (b) whether any d...
	5.9. Signage.  Subject to compliance with all Governmental Requirements, Tenant shall have the limited right to install signs on the Building exterior as described in Rider __ attached to this Lease, if any (“Signage Rider”).  The exact size, appearan...
	5.10. Hazardous Substances.
	5.10.1 Neither Tenant, any of Tenant’s agents nor any other person shall store, place, generate, manufacture, refine, handle, or locate on, in, under or around the Land or Building any Hazardous Substance (defined below), except for storage, handling ...
	5.10.2 Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Landlord and Landlord’s agents from and against any and all Claims arising out of any breach of any provision of this paragraph, which expenses shall also include laboratory testing fees, persona...
	5.10.3 The term “Hazardous Substance” means asbestos, PCBs, petroleum or petroleum-based chemicals or substances, urea formaldehyde or any chemical, material, element, compound, solution, mixture, sub-stance or other matter of any kind whatsoever whic...


	SECTION 6:  INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION
	6.1. Indemnification.
	6.1.1 Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Landlord, Landlord’s Affiliates and the Manager from and against any and all Claims made against such persons, arising solely out of (a) the possession, use or occupancy of the Premises or the bus...
	6.1.2 Landlord shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Tenant and Tenant’s Affiliates from and against any and all Claims made against such persons arising solely out of (a) any act, omission or actionable neglect of Landlord or Landlord’s Affiliate...

	6.2. Tenant Insurance.
	6.2.1 Tenant shall, throughout the Lease Term, at its own expense, keep and maintain in full force and effect each and every one of the following policies, each of which shall be endorsed as needed to provide that the insurance afforded by these polic...
	(a) A policy of commercial general liability insurance, including a contractual liability endorsement covering Tenant’s obligations under the paragraph captioned “Indemnification”, insuring against claims of bodily injury and death or property damage ...
	(b) “Special Form” property insurance (which is commonly called “all risk”) covering Tenant Improvements, Tenant Alterations, and any and all furniture, fixtures, equipment, inventory, improvements and other property in or about the Premises which is ...
	(c) Business interruption insurance in an amount sufficient to cover costs, damages, lost income, expenses, Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements and all other sums payable under this Lease, should any or all of the Premises not be usable for a pe...
	(d) A policy of worker’s compensation insurance if and as required by applicable law and employer’s liability insurance with limits of no less than One Million and No/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00).
	(e) A policy of comprehensive automobile liability insurance, including loading and unloading, and covering owned and hired vehicles with limits of no less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per occurrence.

	6.2.2 All insurance policies required under this paragraph shall be with companies having a rating according to Best’s Insurance Key Rating Guide for Property — Casualties of no less than A- Class VIII.  Each policy shall provide that it is not subjec...
	6.2.3 If Tenant fails to acquire or maintain any insurance or provide evidence of insurance required by this paragraph, Landlord may, but shall not be required to, obtain such insurance or evidence and the costs associated with obtaining such insuranc...

	6.3. Landlord’s Insurance.  Landlord shall, throughout the Lease Term, keep and maintain in full force and effect:
	(a) Commercial general liability insurance, insuring against claims of bodily injury and death or property damage or loss with a combined single limit at the Commencement Date of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per occurrence and Two...
	(b) “Special Form” property insurance (which is commonly called “all risk”) covering the Building and Landlord’s personal property, if any, located on the Land for the then, current replacement value of such property.
	(c) Landlord may, but shall not be required to, maintain other types of insurance as Landlord deems appropriate, including property insurance coverage for earthquakes and floods in such amounts as Landlord deems appropriate.

	6.4. Waiver of Subrogation.  Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, Landlord and Tenant each waive and release the other from any and all Claims or any loss or damage that may occur to the Land, Building, Premises, or personal propert...

	SECTION 7:  ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING
	7.1. Assignment and Subletting by Tenant.  Tenant shall not have the right, directly or indirectly (by change of control or otherwise) to assign, transfer, mortgage or encumber this Lease in whole or in part, nor sublet the whole or any part of the Pr...
	7.2. Landlord Share of Revenue Surplus.  Landlord may elect to condition its consent to an assignment or subletting on this paragraph.  If Landlord so gives conditional consent, Tenant shall pay to Landlord if, as and when received by Tenant, fifty pe...
	7.3. Assignment by Landlord.  Landlord shall have the right to transfer and assign, in whole or in part, its rights and obligations under this Lease and in any and all of the Land or Building.  If Landlord sells or transfers any or all of the Building...

	SECTION 8:  DEFAULT AND REMEDIES
	8.1. Events of Default.
	8.1.1 The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute a material default and breach of this Lease by Tenant (“Event of Default”):
	(a) vacation or abandonment of all or any portion of the Premises without continued payment when due of Base Rent and Operating Costs Reimbursements and any other sums due under this Lease;
	(b) failure by Tenant to make any payment of Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements or any other sum due by Tenant under this Lease within ten (10) days after notice to Tenant of such failure;
	(c) failure by Tenant to observe or perform any covenant or condition of this Lease, other than the making of Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements and other payments, where such failure continues for a period of twenty (20) days after written not...
	(d) the failure of Tenant to surrender possession of the Premises at the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease in the condition required by this Lease;
	(e) (1) the making by Tenant of any general assignment or general arrangement for the benefit of creditors; (2) the filing by or against Tenant of a petition in bankruptcy, including reorganization or arrangement, unless, in the case of a petition fil...
	(f) any information furnished by or on behalf of Tenant to Landlord in connection with this Lease is determined to have been materially false, misleading or incomplete when made; or
	(g) if a letter of credit is required under the Credit Enhancement Rider to this Lease, a failure of the Tenant to deliver that letter of credit within the time period specified.

	8.1.2 If a petition in bankruptcy is filed by or against Tenant, and if this Lease is treated as an “unexpired lease” under applicable bankruptcy law, then Tenant shall neither attempt nor cause any trustee to attempt to extend the time period specifi...

	8.2. Remedies.
	8.2.1 If any Event of Default occurs, Landlord may at any time after such occurrence, with or without notice or demand except as stated in this paragraph, and without limiting Landlord in the exercise of any other right or remedy which Landlord may ha...
	8.2.2 Landlord may terminate this Lease and all rights of Tenant under this Lease, either immediately or at some later date, by giving Tenant written notice that this Lease is terminated.  If Landlord so terminates this Lease, then Landlord may recove...
	(a) the unpaid Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements and all other sums payable under this Lease which have been earned up to and including the date of termination; plus
	(b) interest at the Default Rate on the sum stated in clause (a); plus
	(c) the amount by which (i) the unpaid Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements and all other sums due by Tenant under this Lease which would have been earned after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such past rental loss, if a...
	(d) the amount by which (i) the aggregate of the unpaid Base Rent, Operating Costs Reimbursements and all other sums payable under this Lease for the balance of the Lease Term after the time of award exceeds the amount of such future rental loss, if a...
	(e) any other amount necessary to compensate Landlord for the detriment proximately caused by Tenant’s failure to perform Tenant’s obligations under this Lease or which, in the ordinary course of things, will result from such failure, including, leasi...

	8.2.3 Landlord shall also have the right, with or without terminating this Lease, to re-enter the Premises by any lawful means or process and remove all persons and property from the Premises.  Landlord may cause property so removed from the Premises ...
	8.2.4 If Tenant vacates, abandons or surrenders the Premises without Landlord’s consent, or if Landlord re-enters the Premises as provided in subparagraph 8.2.3 or takes possession of the Premises pursuant to legal or notice proceedings, then, if Land...
	8.2.5 If Landlord relets the Premises without terminating this Lease, Landlord shall apply the revenue from such reletting to Landlord’s costs and Tenant’s obligations in such order as Landlord deems appropriate.  Should revenue from letting during an...
	8.2.6 If Landlord retakes possession under any circumstances that constitute, or are interpreted by an adjudication to be for the benefit of Tenant, such reletting is in mitigation of Landlord’s damages, and Tenant shall have no right to redeem the Pr...
	8.2.7 All sums payable under this Lease (including Base Rent and Operating Costs Reimbursements) shall be considered rent and all rights and remedies available pursuant to law for nonpayment of rent shall apply.

	8.3. Right to Perform.  If Tenant shall fail to pay any sum of money, other than Base Rent or Operating Costs Reimbursements, required to be paid by it under this Lease or shall fail to perform any other act on its part to be performed under this Leas...
	8.4. Landlord’s Default.  Landlord shall not be in default under this Lease unless Landlord fails to perform obligations required of Landlord within a reasonable time after written notice is delivered by Tenant to Landlord specifying the obligation wh...
	8.5. Limitation on Recourse.  Liability with respect to the entry and performance of this Lease by or on behalf of Landlord or any other obligation of Landlord, however it may arise, shall be asserted and enforced only against Landlord’s estate and eq...

	SECTION 9:  MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
	9.1. Notices.  All notices, demands, consents, approvals, statements and communications required or permitted under this Lease shall be in writing and shall be addressed to a party at the addresses set forth opposite that party’s signature, or to such...
	9.2. Attorney’s Fees and Expenses.  In the event that (a) either party requires the services of an attorney in connection with enforcing the terms of this Lease, (b) suit is brought for the enforcement of this Lease or the exercise of rights and remed...
	9.3. Successors; Joint and Several Liability.  All of the covenants and conditions contained in this Lease shall apply to and be binding upon Landlord and Tenant and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, permitted successors and permitted...
	9.4. Choice of Law.  This Lease shall be construed and governed by the laws of the state in which the Land is located.
	9.5. Offer to Lease.  The submission of this Lease in a draft form to Tenant or its broker or other agent does not constitute an offer to Tenant to lease the Premises.  This Lease shall have no force or effect until it is executed and delivered by bot...
	9.6. Interpretation.  Headings or captions shall in no way define, limit or otherwise affect the construction or interpretation of this Lease.  Whenever a provision of this Lease uses the terms “include” or “including”, that term shall not be limiting...
	9.7. Prior Agreement and Amendments.  This Lease contains all of the agreements of the parties to this Lease with respect to any matter covered or mentioned in this Lease.  No prior agreement, understanding or statement pertaining to any such matter s...
	9.8. Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of this Lease.
	9.9. Survival of Obligations.  Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary or the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, any and all obligations of either party accruing prior to the expiration or termination of this Lea...
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